
National Park Authority  - 27 November 2020 1

BRECON BEACONS NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY

Dear Member

A meeting of the NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY will be held via Lifesize ON 
FRIDAY, 27TH NOVEMBER, 2020 AT 10.00 AM when your attendance is 
requested.

Member and Officer Link  -https://call.lifesizecloud.com/2288154 

Yours sincerely

Julian Atkins

Chief Executive

PLEASE NOTE THAT THE NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY FILMS AND
WEBCASTS ALL ITS PUBLIC MEETINGS LIVE  - 

http://www.breconbeacons.public-i.tv/core/ 

Fire Evacuation Advice

In the event of a fire, please exit the building via the main staircase,

and assemble in the car park at Assembly Point 3

1 CORRESPONDENCE 

To receive and consider the attached Schedule of Correspondence and any 
recommendations thereon (below).

2 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Public Document Pack

https://call.lifesizecloud.com/2288154
http://www.breconbeacons.public-i.tv/core/


National Park Authority  - 27 November 2020 2

To receive any declarations of interest from Members relating to items on the 
agenda.  Members’ attention is drawn to the sheet attached to the attendance 
sheet and the need to record their declarations verbally and in writing, 
specifying the nature of the interest.

 
If Members have declared an interest in an item please ensure that you 
inform the Chair when you are leaving the room, so that this can be 
recorded in the minutes.
 

3 MINUTES (Pages 5 - 28)

1. To approve the following minutes and authorise the Chair to sign them
as a correct record:
 

a)     NPA – 22nd October 2020

b)    NPA – 30th October 2020
 
2. To receive the following minutes:

Audit and Scrutiny Committee – 24th July 2020

4 PUBLIC SPEAKING 

To give opportunity for members of the public to address the meeting in 
accordance with the Authority’s Public Speaking Scheme.

 

5 CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 

To receive a verbal report on meetings and events attended by the Chairman 
since the last meeting of the Authority.
 

6 CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 

To receive a report from the Chief Executive on meetings attended and 
progress made on Authority business since the last meeting of the Authority.
 

A: DECISION ITEMS



National Park Authority  - 27 November 2020 3

7 APPROVAL OF THE AUTHORITY'S STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 
2019/20 (Pages 29 - 118)

8 CORPORATE PLAN 2021/22 (Pages 119 - 140)

9 REVISED SCOPING REPORT INTEGRATED SUSTAINABILITY 
APPRAISAL LDP/NPMP FOR CONSULTATION (Pages 141 - 180)

10 LLANSPYDDID VILLAGE PLAN (Pages 181 - 200)

B: ITEMS FOR INFORMATION

11 MEMBER REPORTS 

To receive any reports from members.

12 GIFTS & HOSPITALITY 

13 ANY OTHER BUSINESS 

Any other business that the Chair considers of sufficient urgency and has been
notified to him in advance.

SCHEDULE OF CORRESPONDENCE

1. To receive apologies for absence

2. Such other correspondence as, in the opinion of the Chairman, is of such urgency 
as to warrant consideration.

Any enquiries about this agenda should be addressed to Julia Gruffydd or Angharad 
Hawkes 01874624337



This page is intentionally left blank



Brecon Beacons National Park
National Park Authority 1 22 October 2020

MINUTES OF BRECON BEACONS NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY NATIONAL 
PARK AUTHORITY HELD VIA LIFESIZE ON THURSDAY, 22ND OCTOBER, 2020

PRESENT:

Powys

Cllr Ratcliffe (Chair), Cllr M Jones, Cllr E Roderick and Cllr McNicholas

Monmouthshire

Cllr A Webb

Carmarthenshire

Cllr A James

Merthyr Tydfil

Cllr M Colbran

Rhondda Cynon Taff

Cllr G Thomas

Torfaen

Cllr S Evans

Blaenau Gwent

Members appointed by the Welsh Government

Mr Christopher Coppock, Mr James Marsden, Ms Liz Davis, Canon Aled Edwards, Mrs Sue Holden 
and Mr Julian Stedman

In Attendance

Sean O'Connor, Monitoring Officer
Mr Julian Atkins, Chief Executive
Mr Sean O’Connor, Monitoring Officer
Mrs J Gruffydd, Democratic Services Manager

Apologies

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



Brecon Beacons National Park
National Park Authority 2 22 October 2020

Cllr Phil Pritchard, Cllr James Evans and Cllr J Hill

94/20 Correspondence 

The Chair welcomed all to the meeting and noted apologies. 

95/20 Declarations of Interest 

There were no declarations of interest.
 

96/20 Minutes 

Members noted that there were errors on the layout of minutes due to the cyber attack 
and Modern.gov templates still being restored.  A member raised a number of points of 
clarification including stating the fact that meetings were held virtually, the need to amend 
the text under Declarations of Interest to reflect the fact that members could not sign a 
sheet, and some corrections on attendance.  The Democratic Services Manager confirmed 
that all these points would be corrected before publication.  
 

RESOLVED:  

a)To approve the minutes of the Annual General 
meeting held on 29 July 2020 and authorise the 
Chair to sign  them as a true record;

b) To approve the minutes of the National Park 
Authority held on 7th of August 2020 and 
authorise the Chair to sign  them as a true record;

c) To approve the minutes of the Extraordinary 
General Meeting (Public) held on 11th of 
September 2020 and authorise the Chair to sign 
them as a true record;

 
Members asked for an updated list of member contact details. The Monitoring Officer 
advised that all members should have at least one publicly available method of 
communication.    

97/20 Public Speaking 

There were no requests to speak.
 

98/20 Chair's Announcements 

The Chair thanked officers for their continued hard work in challenging circumstances.  
He paid tribute to Deputy Minister Hannah Blythyn for her support for National Parks, 

Page 6



Brecon Beacons National Park
National Park Authority 3 22 October 2020

and looked forward to working with the Minister for Environment, Energy and Rural 
Affairs, Lesley Griffiths.  He had attended several meetings with the Chief Executive.
 
He thanked members for attending the excellent equalities training recently and referred 
to the Strategic Equality Plan later on the agenda.    
 

99/20 Chief Executive's Announcements 

The CEO had circulated his announcements to members and updated them on meetings 
attended.  There was some discussion about the Gunpowder Works and also the level of 
attendance at the Penderyn Quarry Community Liaison meeting that evening.
 

100/20 Changes to Appointments Committee and changes to redundancy policy 

Members considered some changes to the remit and membership of the Appointments 
Committee recommended in order to progress the Change Programme and update 
procedures in relation to the appeals process to ensure segregation between recruitment 
and appeals.  Members sought clarification on a number of points.  It was noted that these 
recommendations should be recorded in the Appointments Committee minutes.
 
The Monitoring Officer advised that changes recommended would enable the 
Appointments Committee to set up sub-committees to discharge business in line with 
Authority policy and avoid the need to come back to the Authority for decisions each 
time. He confirmed that while members dealing with recruitment must continue to do 
this for a particular recruitment process, there was flexibility to swap to the appeals side 
and vice versa in any future recruitment.
 
The Chief Executive clarified that the new Heads of Service were being dealt with as Chief 
Officers for the purposes of recruitment to facilitate member involvement, they were not 
Chief Officers in terms of responsibilities and remuneration.
 
The HR Officer advised that while some proposed changes to the Redundancy Policy 
related to the Change Programme, she had taken the opportunity to update the policy.  A 
member cautioned against considering additional responsibilities to job descriptions when 
posts were being reviewed for potential matches and felt that this could lead to 
confusion.  She also queried the percentage awarded to the slotting and matching 
exercise.  The officer advised that the 80% figure was accepted in local government. With 
regard to the suitable alternative exercise, the Member queried why the percentage 
awarded was only 50%.  The HR Officer was happy to review the 50% and increase it to 
70%.  She also said that staff had often taken on additional responsibilities when colleagues 
left which might not have been evaluated which would need to be considered.  The 
Monitoring Officer advised putting ‘agreed responsibilities’ as opposed to ‘informal 
responsibilities’.  A member noted that if objectives were set and signed off each year 
during the PMR process then this should be an opportunity to review the job description.

Members also queried the reference to a ‘suitable manager’ . The HR Officer advised that 
there might be the need for managers other than the line manager to assess the suitability 
of an officer to move to another role in a redundancy situation, and officers advised that it 

Page 7



Brecon Beacons National Park
National Park Authority 4 22 October 2020

would be amended to add to the reference ‘a suitable manager’, by specifically stating that 
it would usually be the Line Manager or another Manager if required to maintain flexibility 
in cases where another manager might be better suited to assessing suitability.

Officers confirmed that those in a redundancy situation were given advice on retraining 
and future careers.

RESOLVED:

a) To agree changes to the terms of reference of the 
Appointments Committee including the power to 
appoint subcommittees to discharge any role as 
specified in any Authority employment process and 
procedure;

b) To appoint the following three members to the 
Appointments Committee:  Cllr M Colbran, Cllr A 
Webb and Ms S Holden;

c) To agree changes to the Redundancy Policy as laid 
out in Enclosure 1.

 

Strategic Equality Plan

The HR Officer presented the draft plan, the deadline for which had been delayed due to 
Covid-19.  It was noted that the Equal Opportunities Commission were reviewing their 
plans in light of the pandemic and also the Socio-economic Duty which had recently taken 
effect.  She welcomed the input from the Member Champion, whose professional advice 
had been very helpful.  The Member Champion supported the document and referred to 
the societal changes which made this document so important.  He hoped that it would 
encompass the values of the organisation and encourage communication with harder to 
reach groups.  It was also important to consider how environmental issues impacted on 
people.

A member questioned the vision in the document which had not been agreed with 
members, as he felt the Authority could only have one vision, as outlined in the Change 
Programme.  He did not see where the document sat in the context of other strategic 
plans and felt that it should have come to the Policy Officers Group.  The officer 
confirmed she had sought input from the group and also the Corporate Governance 
Team and Strategic Leadership Group.  She took the point about the vision which would 
need amendment as required. Se also stated that is was important that document is 
recognised as an  important an Authority document and as such the input from the Policy 
officer Group is important moving forward.

The Chief Executive advised that they needed to balance the statutory requirement to 
produce this plan under the Equality Act and demonstrate compliance with the need to 
embed it within the Change Programme; they could align the vision to this end.

A member referred to comments about bullying and harassment from the last staff 
survey.  The officer said that another staff survey would be carried out which would be 

Page 8



Brecon Beacons National Park
National Park Authority 5 22 October 2020

reflected in the next equality plan report.  The Audit Wales Resilience survey would also 
provide some feedback.

  
The HR Officer advised that while some proposed changes to the Redundancy Policy 
related to the Change Programme, she had taken the opportunity to update the policy.  A 
member cautioned against considering additional responsibilities to job descriptions when 
posts were being reviewed for potential matches and felt that this could lead to 
confusion.  She also queried the percentage figures.  The officer advised that the 80% 
figure was accepted in local government but was happy to review the 50% and increase it 
to 70%.  She also said that staff had often taken on additional responsibilities when 
colleagues left which might not have been evaluated.  The Monitoring Officer advised 
putting ‘agreed responsibilities’ as opposed to ‘informal responsibilities’.  A member noted 
that if objectives were set and signed off each year then this should be an opportunity to 
review the job description.

Members also queried the need for managers other than the line manager to assess the 
suitability of an officer to move to another role in a redundancy situation, and officers 
advised that it would be amended to ‘a suitable manager’ to maintain flexibility in cases 
where another manager might be better suited to assessing suitability.
 
Officers confirmed that those in a redundancy situation were given advice on retraining 
and future careers.
 

RESOLVED:
 
a) To agree changes to the terms of reference of the 

Appointments Committee including the power to 
appoint subcommittees to discharge any role as 
specified in any Authority employment process and 
procedure;

b) To appoint the following three members to the 
Appointments Committee:  Cllr M Colbran, Cllr A 
Webb and Ms S Holden;

c) To agree changes to the Redundancy Policy as laid 
out in Enclosure 1.

 
 

101/20 Changes to SDF Committee 

RESOLVED:  That Mr A Edwards replace Liz Davis on the 
Sustainable Development Committee until the next 
Annual General Meeting of the Authority, with immediate 
effect.

 

102/20 "Landscapes for Everyone" NPW Approach to Social Inclusion and Child 
Poverty 

Page 9



Brecon Beacons National Park
National Park Authority 6 22 October 2020

Members received the three Park position statement on social inclusion and child poverty 
which had been delayed because of Covid-19.  The officer advised that traditionally this 
work had been grant funded and she asked members to be aware of this in the context of 
the Change Programme.
 
A member was grateful for the work on this but felt that the Authority had failed in its 
obligations, as he did not see the three Parks committing to the climate change and 
biodiversity emergency; they needed to commit to actions not words.
A member acknowledged it was too late to change but commented that there could be 
more on the barriers that needed to be removed, and also that work was needed outside 
Park boundaries.  She said that the photos were beautiful but there were no people in 
them. Another member commented that the graphics were misleading, as it was not the 
people who were the challenge, rather the obstacles.  She queried who the document was 
for: Welsh Government or a public facing marketing opportunity.
 
It was noted that projects funded through the Sustainable Development Fund were very 
relevant as they teased out social injustice issues.  It was also felt that there was limited 
evidence on how Valued and Resilient had changed social inclusion and child poverty.  A 
member queried why this was the remit of National Parks given the work of local 
authorities.  He cited drug addiction as the main cause of child poverty.  The Chief 
Executive advised that the remit for social inclusion and child poverty came out of the 
remit letter from Welsh Government with a requirement to demonstrate how we were 
addressing this.  He acknowledged the need for more discussion between the three Parks 
to demonstrate differences and similarities. 
The officer welcomed all comments.  She stressed that in her 12 years with the Authority 
the team had been in touch with all hard to reach groups and suggested that members did 
not always see how much work was done on the ground.  Child poverty was not limited 
to drug addiction but she referred to the groups brought into the park from outside with 
the aim of introducing environmental issues.  The organisation had been waiting for the 
Change Programme for two years with no clear message on resourcing – more people 
were needed on the ground and alignment between this document and the Strategic 
Equality Plan.  Officers would be revisiting the document in the next six months in light of 
the socio-economic duty.

 
RESOLVED:  To support and adopt ‘National Parks 
Wales: Landscapes for Everyone’ and approve a review in 
the spring of 2021.

 

103/20 Strategic Equality Plan 2020-2024 

The HR Officer presented the draft plan, the deadline for which had been delayed due to 
Covid-19.  It was noted that the Equal Opportunities Commission were reviewing their 
plans in light of the pandemic and also the Socio-economic Duty which had recently taken 
effect.  She welcomed the input from the Member Champion, whose professional advice 
had been very helpful.  
 
The Member Champion supported the document and referred to the societal changes 
which made this document so important.  He hoped that it would encompass the values 

Page 10



Brecon Beacons National Park
National Park Authority 7 22 October 2020

of the organisation and encourage communication with harder to reach groups.  It was 
also important to consider how environmental issues impacted on people.
 
A member questioned the vision in the document which had not been agreed with 
members, as he felt the Authority could only have one vision, as outlined in the Change 
Programme.  He did not see where the document sat in the context of other strategic 
plans and felt that it should have come to the Policy Officers Group.  The officer 
confirmed she had sought input from the group and also the Corporate Governance 
Team and Strategic Leadership Group.  She took the point about the vision which would 
need amendment as required. She also stated that is was important that document is 
recognised as an  important an Authority document and as such the input from the Policy 
officer Group is important moving forward.
The Chief Executive advised that they needed to balance the statutory requirement to 
produce this plan under the Equality Act and demonstrate compliance with the need to 
embed it within the Change Programme; they could align the vision to this end.
 
A member referred to comments about bullying and harassment from the last staff 
survey.  The officer said that another staff survey would be carried out which would be 
reflected in the next equality plan report.  The Audit Wales Resilience survey would also 
provide some feedback.
 
A member summarised two areas of concern: the most recent staff survey dealt mainly 
with the response to Covid-19 and members had not seen the results of an earlier survey; 
and also how values were claimed: all members and officers brought values to the 
organisation.  
 
The mature debate was welcomed by one member and the organisation must ensure it 
changed; social justice was one of the values driving its work but he also acknowledged 
the importance of how land is used and the effects of climate change.
A member summarised the changes he wished to recommend: the whole of section one 
to be rewritten and discussed with the Policy Officers Group to align language and tone; 
ensure consistency with the Change Programme in terms of vision; rewrite the section on 
page 103 and take out the reference to values.  There was a lot to approve in the 
appendix but he suggested they limit the scope to protected characteristics and objective, 
which should be set out in the front of the plan, with a paragraph setting out intent.
 
The Chair suggested that the report be withdrawn and brought back to the next meeting 
on 30 October 2020.
 

104/20 Sustainable Development Fund Report - 2019/20 

Members received the annual report which covered last year.  They noted the funding 
ratio of 4:1 and the huge amount of volunteer time. Officers would like to be more 
proactive with but had been constrained by covering the former Sustainable Development 
Manager role since Christmas.  An additional £42,000 had been received from Welsh 
Government recently for capital projects and also some funding for heritage projects 
which would be administered through the SDF.
 

Page 11



Brecon Beacons National Park
National Park Authority 8 22 October 2020

Members congratulated both officers on the achievements. One member would like to 
see in the next report how the fund supports the themes and focus areas of the Change 
Programme.  There was clearly a trade off between many relatively small projects and 
fewer projects with a potentially larger impact and he hoped the SDF Committee would 
have this discussion.  The Chair of the SDF Committee agreed, and thanked officers and 
current and previous members of the committee for their work during the year.
 
The Chief Executive advised that there had been a higher percentage of environmental 
projects than previously. He also highlighted the Nutcracker project as a departure but 
which had resulted in huge community support and benefit and which would be repeated 
this year.
 

RESOLVED:  That the Sustainable Development Fund 
report is accepted and the executive summary added to 
the Authority website.

 
Cllr A James left the meeting.
 

105/20 Member Reports 

The Landscape and Biodiversity Champion reported on two virtual events he had 
attended but noted the limited input from Authority officers and members.  These were 
events at which the Authority should have been prominent.
 
Together with the Chief Executive and Chair he had attended a meeting with Powys and 
Herefordshire County Councils’ Directors of Environment to discuss the effects of water 
pollution in the Wye and its tributaries.
 

106/20 Gifts & Hospitality 

No declarations were made.

107/20 Access to Information 

RESOLVED:  To exclude the press and public from the 
meeting during consideration of the following item in 
accordance with section 100A of the Local Government 
Act 1972, as amended, on the grounds that it involves the 
likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in 
paragraphs 12, 13 and 14 of Schedule 12A to the Local 
Government Act 1972.

 

108/20 EGM Minutes (exempt) - 11 September 2020 

Members reviewed the exempt minutes of the meeting held on 11 September 2020 and 
agreed that a public summary needed to be issued to include the resolutions and the 
bullet points on the first page.  A statement also needed to be prepared on how the 

Page 12



Brecon Beacons National Park
National Park Authority 9 22 October 2020

Change Programme is progressing.  The Chair and the Deputy Chair would work with the 
Chief Executive and Democratic Services Manager on this.   
 

RESOLVED:  That the exempt minutes of the 
Extraordinary General Meeting held on 11 
September 2020 be approved and the Chair 
authorised to sign them as a true record.

 

109/20 Members Email Accounts 

Welsh Government members asked about progress with setting up new email accounts 
following the cyber incident.  The Democratic Services Manager reported that licences 
had now been received and members would shortly receive advice on new accounts.  
With reference to retrieval of archive email accounts she advised that she could give no 
assurance on this and that the IT Team was under considerable pressure.  The Deputy 
Chair asked the Chief Executive to confirm that he was doing everything possible on staff 
welfare.  The Chief Executive advised that wellbeing measures were in place and 
discussions were ongoing about putting additional resource into planning and IT.  IT staff 
had been advised to take leave but were conscientious in their work to restore all 
systems.
 
 

110/20 Any Other Business 

There was no further business.

Signed as a correct record
Chairman of the National Park Authority

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



Brecon Beacons National Park
National Park Authority 1 30 October 2020

MINUTES OF BRECON BEACONS NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY NATIONAL 
PARK AUTHORITY HELD AT CONFERENCE ROOM, PLAS Y FFYNNON, 
CAMBRIAN WAY, BRECON LD3 7HP ON FRIDAY, 30TH OCTOBER, 2020

PRESENT:

Powys

Cllr Ratcliffe (Chair), Cllr M Jones, Cllr E Roderick and Cllr McNicholas

Monmouthshire

Cllr A Webb

Carmarthenshire

Cllr A James

Merthyr Tydfil

Cllr M Colbran

Rhondda Cynon Taff

Cllr G Thomas

Torfaen

Cllr S Evans

Blaenau Gwent

Cllr J Hill

Members appointed by the Welsh Government

Mr Christopher Coppock, Mr James Marsden, Ms Liz Davis, Canon Aled Edwards, Mrs Sue Holden 
and Mr Julian Stedman

In Attendance

Sean O'Connor, Monitoring Officer
Mr Julian Atkins, Chief Executive
Elaine Standen, Finance Manager

Apologies
Cllr Phil Pritchard and Cllr James Evans

Page 15



Brecon Beacons National Park
National Park Authority 2 30 October 2020

111/20 Correspondence 

The Chair welcomed all to the meeting and noted apologies.
 

112/20 Declarations of Interest 

No declarations of interest were made.
 

113/20 Public Speaking 

There were no requests to speak.
 

114/20 Chairman's Announcements 

The Chair had nothing further to report since the last meeting the previous week.  He 
thanked officers for the amount of hard work over the weekend to ensure reports could 
be considered at this meeting.
 

115/20 Chief Executive's Announcements 

The Chief Executive had circulated an update report to members.  He was asked to co-
ordinate a three Welsh Park approach to pollution on the Usk and Wye, peatland 
restoration and forestry, with metrics to be agreed with Natural Resources Wales and a 
joint bid prepared to Welsh Government and NRW.
 

116/20 Revised Estimates 2020-21 

The Finance Manager presented the revised estimates which took account of Covid-19.  
She advised that the situation could change again before the end of the financial year and 
that budgets would need to be prepared for next year based on both a standstill option 
and a potential 5% cut. While the Authority needed to deliver its ambitions these would 
been to be financed.  Members welcomed the report and commented on the alignment to 
new heads of service areas.  The Chief Executive said that the challenge was to allocate 
resources to project management, including staff resources, as capacity was a limiting 
factor.
 
Responding to questions about the high level of reserves and the need to use these for 
delivery the Chief Executive said that a proportion of those reserves not earmarked 
would be incorporated in the Corporate Plan 2021-22.  It was noted that expenditure on 
the Local Development Plan and National Park Management Plan would reduce the level 
of reserves next year. A member supported the use of reserves to enable grant 
applications to be made and a greater return on investment.
 

Page 16



Brecon Beacons National Park
National Park Authority 3 30 October 2020

Given that remote working was likely to continue for some time a member asked if 
sufficient resources had been allocated for IT systems.  The Chief Executive confirmed 
that this would be addressed.  In response to questions about the resourcing of 
information offices he offered to take the discussion offline.
 

RESOLVED:  To approve the revised estimates for 
2020-21.

 

117/20 Strategic Equality Plan 

Members received the Strategic Equality Plan which had been revised in line with 
comments made at the Authority meeting on 22 October 2020.  The HR Officer thanked 
her policy colleagues for applying an improved design and format.
 
A member pointed out the irony of having three white men featured in the foreword.
 
The Equality and Diversity Champion spoke in support of the plan which should shape 
discussions in future on our values and distinctiveness, as well as social justice and delivery 
beyond the statutory requirement.
 
Members welcomed the revised plan and it was suggested that it should be highlighted in a 
press release, but the champion suggested that we wait for the official response from the 
Equal Opportunities Commission.
 

RESOLVED:  To approve the Strategic Equality Plan 
for 2020-24

 

118/20 Draft Committee Timetable 2021 

Members considered the draft timetable which had been prepared on the premise that 
the Authority might be able to move to hybrid meetings if Covid restrictions eased next 
year.  They noted that working groups would need to prepare their own work 
programmes and schedule of meetings.
 

RESOLVED:  To approve the Committee 
Timetable for 2021-22 as a basis for further 
scheduling of working groups and other member 
officer meetings in consultation with relevant 
members and officers based on delivery of 
objectives and operational need.

 

119/20 Revised Delivery Agreement LDP2 for Consultation 

Members considered an amended Delivery Agreement taking account of lockdown 
restrictions and which included the project timetable for the National Park Management 
Plan.
 

Page 17



Brecon Beacons National Park
National Park Authority 4 30 October 2020

A member suggested that the severity of water pollution should be highlighted as a risk.  
The officer responded that this might be a policy risk but was unlikely to rerail the Plan, 
but she would reflect on this.
 
The officer advised that while every effort would be taken to align the LDP and 
Management Plan timelines it might not be possible.  The Chief Executive advised that he 
would be discussing a revised project plan for the Management Plan with the Systems and 
Performance Officer before his departure from the organisation.
 
A member accepted that much of the consultation would need to be online but there 
were opportunities for engagement.  The Chair commented that local authority appointed 
members would have a role in promoting the consultation.  The office advised that in the 
current climate statutory consultation methods might not be enough and the Policy 
Officers Group was reviewing this.
 

RESOLVED:  To agree the Amended Delivery 
Agreement for the Local Development Plan and 
that it be placed on public consultation for a period 
of eight weeks.

 
 
 

120/20 Green Growth Funding 

Members considered proposals for allocating Welsh Government Green Growth funding 
to a wide range of schemes.  If approved more detailed cases would be prepared to be 
approved by the Welsh Government.
 
Members welcomed the proposals but the point was made that this did not constitute an 
integrated approach to decarbonisation, and more work was needed on entering into 
rapid charge networks.  The Chief Executive advised that discussions had taken place with 
one provider but this could provide to be costly and there were some technical 
limitations.
 
A member commented that not all the money was being committed and expressed 
caution about micro-hydro projects, some of which had run into problems. Disposal of 
batteries also needed to be considered.  He was also sceptical about the use of wood 
pellets, as this was burning fossil fuels. A comment was also made that there was a 
perception by the public that the Authority was spending a lot of money on electric 
vehicles.  The Chief Executive referred to efficient tendering processes and the use of trial 
periods for vehicles.
 
There was potential for the Authority to promote this work in a holistic way. The officer 
would review all the comments made, and felt that the projects had good education 
potential to demonstrate green credentials to young people.
 

RESOLVED:  That members:
 

Page 18



Brecon Beacons National Park
National Park Authority 5 30 October 2020

a)        Endorse the programme of Green Growth 
Projects outlined in the report;

b)        Authorise officers to implement the necessary 
tendering exercises and commission the 
projects specified subject to a requirement to 
report back to the Authority should the 
tendering exercise differ substantially from the 
forecast costs for the programme as a whole

 

121/20 Draft Sustainable Economy Position Paper 

Members considered a draft position statement which had been revised to take account 
of comments made at the Policy Forum on 2 October 2020.
 
A member referred to Natural Resources Wales’ imminent report on green recovery and 
suggested that the position statement should be aligned or justified if not.  The Chief 
Executive confirmed that the Authority was one of many consultees on that report but 
felt that the Authority was aiming to be more ambitious on green recovery, although they 
could ensure some joined up thinking.
 
It was highlighted that this document included another vision whereas the Authority 
should have one agreed visions across all its strategic documents.  Some typographical 
errors were also highlighted, and advice that in relation to organics some nuance might be 
required.
 
A member suggested that we should focus on clearn green high technology production of 
good and services, and welcomed the reference to connectivity and digital 
communication.  He questioned the use of the word ‘locality’, and the officer advised that 
this was based on a standing set of radii at a Park level.
 
It was also suggested that the statement of intent and ambition should be made clearer, to 
set out what the Authority wanted.
 
In response to a member the officer gave examples of eco-tourism.
 

RESOLVED:  That the Sustainable Economy 
Position Paper be approved.

 

122/20 Change Programme Update 

The Chief Executive reported that in addition to this report he had included an update on 
the Change Programme in his recent E-bulletin to staff and members.
 

RESOLVED:  To note progress made on the 
Change Programme since 11 September 2020.

 

123/20 Member Reports 

Page 19



Brecon Beacons National Park
National Park Authority 6 30 October 2020

No reports were given.
 

124/20 Gifts & Hospitality 

No gifts and hospitality were registered.
 

125/20 Access to Information 

RESOLVED:  That the press and public be excluded 
from the meeting during consideration of the 
following item in accordance with section 100A of 
the Local Government Act 1972, as amended, on 
the grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of 
exempt information as defined in paragraphs 12, 13 
and 14 of Schedule 12A to the Local Government 
Act 1972.

 

126/20 Foel Deg Update 

The Chief Executive gave a quarterly update report on this matter.
 
In relation to this and other landholding and property matters a member highlighted the 
need to address the Cooke and Arkwright report and asked the Chief Executive to bring 
forward a plan on how this work would be scheduled.  The Chief Executive advised that 
the Change Programme included the appointment of an officer who would deal with 
property matters.
 

127/20 Any Other Business 

There was no further business.
 

Signed as a correct record
Chairman of the National Park Authority

Page 20



Brecon Beacons National Park
Audit and Scrutiny Committee 1 24 July 2020

MINUTES OF BRECON BEACONS NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY AUDIT AND 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE HELD AT CONFERENCE ROOM, PLAS Y FFYNNON, 

CAMBRIAN WAY, BRECON LD3 7HP ON FRIDAY, 24TH JULY, 2020

PRESENT:

Carmarthenshire

Cllr A James

Monmouthshire

Cllr A Webb (Chair)

Merthyr Tydfil

Cllr M Colbran

Rhondda Cynon Taff

Cllr G Thomas

Torfaen

Cllr S Evans

Members appointed by the Welsh Government

Mrs Sue Holden, Mr James Marsden and Mr Christopher Coppock

In Attendance

Mr Julian Atkins, Chief Executive
Elaine Standen, Finance Manager
Mr Paul Funnell, IT and Systems Manager
Angharad Hawkes, Democratic Services Officer

Apologies

15/20 Correspondence 

Page 21



Brecon Beacons National Park
Audit and Scrutiny Committee 2 24 July 2020

The Chair welcomed all to the first virtual meeting of the Audit and Scrutiny Committee, 
including Deryck Evans and Nick Selwyn from Audit Wales and Jonathan Maddock from 
internal auditors TIAA.
 
She also welcomed members appointed to the committee to fill vacancies arising from the 
reduction in size of the Authority from 24 to 18 members:  Cllr Steve Evans, Cllr Malcolm 
Colbran and Mr Chris Coppock.
 
She referred to the item of correspondence, a letter from the Auditor General with his 
report ‘So, What’s Different?’ – Findings from the Auditor General’s Sustainable 
Development Principle Examination of all public bodies in Wales, which the Chief 
Executive introduced.  He drew attention to Exhibit 5 which outlined the defining 
challenges for public services for the next five years.  The holistic approach of the 
principles was welcomed, although a comment was made that they also created an 
additional layer of complexity to the delivery of the Authority’s purposes and duty, which 
was further compounded by the Authority having too many objectives for a small 
organisation.  In response to a question the Chief Executive said that no progress had yet 
been made with the Welsh Government on the potential for a five-year budget cycle but 
that this was an issue he would continue to raise with officials.  Mr Selwyn advised that 
Audit Wales recognised the challenge of delivering long-term objectives and programmes 
with short-term funding settlements.  One member felt that the Authority was a leader in 
the public sector and should consider how to highlight this more effectively.
 

16/20 Declarations of Interest 

No declarations of interest were made.
 

17/20 Minutes 

RESOLVED:  That the minutes of the Audit and Scrutiny 
Committee held on 31 January 2020 be approved and the 
Chair authorised to sign them as a true record.

 

18/20 Public Speaking Scheme 

There were no requests to speak.
 

19/20 Draft Statement of Accounts 2019/20 

Members received the draft Statement of Accounts for 2019/20 and noted that while the 
deadline for approval had been extended until the autumn the authorised draft provided 
an opportunity for members to consider this before publication on the website.  
 
There was some discussion about the balance of core grant against other funding sources 
and the Chief Executive advised that the core grant had been gradually reducing in recent 
years while the Authority was increasingly asked to bid for capital funding against Welsh 

Page 22



Brecon Beacons National Park
Audit and Scrutiny Committee 3 24 July 2020

Government priorities.  It was suggested that the Authority needed to do a comparison 
with other UK National Parks of its income generation and external funding.
 
In response to a question about community assets the officer advised that more detail 
could be provided on capital projects such as the Gunpowder Works.  She also advised 
that while she noted the comment about putting a positive narrative in the accounts about 
the Authority’s achievements, the alignment of publication with the Annual Report in the 
Autumn would address this.
 
In answer to a question Mr Evans advised that the next pension fund review was due in 
2022 at which time the impact of COVID-19 on the markets might result in increased 
employer contributions.
 

RESOLVED:  That Members note the contents of the 
report and Draft Statement of Accounts as published.

 

20/20 2019/20 Outturn, Reserves and Project Finances 

Members considered the final outturn for the 2019/20 financial year and noted the small 
underspend and the reasons for this. Asked whether the Authority had requested 
additional funding from Welsh Government to implement the Change Programme the 
Chief Executive advised that he had not but would be bringing a report on the Change 
Programme to the Authority on 7 August.
 
Asked about lockdown being given as a reason for reduced income in quarter 4 the 
officer advised that this related to Easter income.  A member commented that this had 
also followed the period of serious flooding in the Park in February.
 
A member commented that the budget for 2020/21 had been set to address the levy 
deadline and the Corporate Plan had been six months later, which was the wrong way 
round.  He also felt the Authority needed a ‘quarter zero’ and a more agile budget and 
objective setting cycle that started each September.  The Chief Executive confirmed his 
commitment to a more effective process with an indicative budget even if this needed to 
be amended if budget settlements changed.  The member welcomed this and suggested 
that it would be helpful to have a long-term capital programme aligned to evidence from 
the State of the Park Report and major challenges such as inequality, climate change, 
biodiversity and COVID-19.  The Authority had tended to do the ‘easy’ things but needed 
to tackle issues such as peatland and woodlands.
 

RESOLVED:  To note the report and enclosures.
 

21/20 Budget Monitoring Summary and Projects Financial Scorecard Q1 2020/21 

Members considered the budget monitoring report for Q1 and noted the likelihood that 
some funding would be secured from Welsh Government during this period to 
compensate for loss of income and increased expenditure in relation to COVID-19.  
There was less clarity over this for the remainder of the year and the Authority might 

Page 23



Brecon Beacons National Park
Audit and Scrutiny Committee 4 24 July 2020

need to use some of its reserves.  They noted the impact of the delay in implementing the 
Change Programme.
 
A member sought clarification on a number of issues in relation to income generation and 
the need to have a targeted discussion on this, but also highlighted of high expenditure 
such as Democratic Representation and IT which might benefit from review.  The Systems 
and Performance Manager advised that he would welcome a discussion about IT with 
members.
 
A member highlighted the difficulty for members in receiving three different ways of 
reporting but commended officers on achieving a higher spend in Q1 than last year.  He 
queried the report on project spend which was not clear in its use of red and green 
indicators.  Officers would be working on a replacement for Ffynnon in the next few 
weeks, which it was hoped would be more interactive for members, and all comments 
would be taken on board.
 
Asked about dilapidations costs in respect of vacating the current headquarters the Chief 
Executive advised that this would be built into the 2021/22 budget as the Authority had 
not received notice to vacate yet, although all options for the future were being 
addressed.  In response to a question about the need to deploy resources to the 
countryside given the large numbers now accessing the Park he advised that final checks 
were taking place to enable volunteers to resume working from 3 August.
 
Members suggested a total spend column for project reporting would be useful in future.  
The Finance Manager noted this and in response to a query about the meaning of 
‘reporting to Welsh Government Projects Review’ advised that this was a reporting 
request from Welsh Government where progress, obstacles and any requests to redeploy 
funding were addressed.
 

RESOLVED: To note the report.
 

22/20 Internal Audit Update Q1 2020/21 

Jonathan Maddock from TIAA took members through the Internal Audit Plan which had 
been amended slightly to take account of COVID-19.
 
A member felt that in light of delays with the budget and the Corporate Plan the Block 1 
of audits should already have started.  He asked that the outcomes from these should be 
reported to the next Audit and Scrutiny Committee in October, and that they should be 
used to inform the next Corporate Plan cycle.  The Chief Executive advised that officers 
would discuss this with TIAA.
 

RESOLVED:  That the contents of the report and the 
audit plan be noted.

 

23/20 Wales Audit Plan 2020 

Page 24



Brecon Beacons National Park
Audit and Scrutiny Committee 5 24 July 2020

Deryck Evans presented the Audit Wales plan for the year and apologised that this was 
the draft version; the final version was now available.  He highlighted the key risks, 
including the McCloud judgement in respect of public sector pension schemes, and hoped 
the Authority had taken account of that.  He advised that CIPFA had reviewed the 
complexity of its accounting framework but had felt it not appropriate to make changes.
 
He also advised that the audit fee was unchanged from last year but that there would be 
additional cost to carrying out work remotely given that accessibility to staff was more 
challenging at present, but they would be absorbing costs as much as possible.  He 
outlined how fees were set and made proportionate to the size of the organisation. The 
audit timetable had been pushed back to late July/early August.
 
Nick Selwyn gave some background to the performance work, including the Resilience 
Audit (the project brief was included in the agenda pack), which was being done across all 
public bodies in Wales to show how they were addressing the crisis and recovery work.  
The agenda today had highlighted the importance of such an audit.  The Chief Executive 
confirmed that the Corporate Governance Team had had input into the proposed 
methodology of the audit.
 
Referring to page 191 of the report a member stressed that the Authority’s reporting and 
audit system must allow members to assess delivered outcomes against objectives.  Mr 
Selwyn responded that that page was in reference to the Local Government Measure and 
that Audit Wales were required to do an audit of the Authority’s compliance with this.  
As this did not add value they welcomed the Welsh Government’s intention to repeal this 
legislation from 1st April 2021.
 

RESOLVED:  That the contents of the report and the 
audit plan be noted.

 
 

24/20 Audit Wales Resilience Audit 2020 

Members noted the Project Brief for this.
 

25/20 Integrated assurance framework Q4 2019/20 

Members considered progress on delivery of the Corporate Plan.  The Systems and 
Performance Manager had added additional columns in response to suggestions from 
members.
 
There was some discussion about whether information on staffing such as turnover and 
health would be useful to include, although it was noted that an annual report was 
brought to members and that this could be a short narrative report rather than data. The 
Chief Executive advised that a staff survey had been carried out in relation to Covid-19 
recovery and another one had been proposed in the near future, the results of which 
would be reported to the next committee.
 

Page 25



Brecon Beacons National Park
Audit and Scrutiny Committee 6 24 July 2020

Comments made earlier in the meeting about different reporting methods were 
reiterated and would be considered during the development of successor system to 
Ffynnon.  A comment was also made about the difficulty in reviewing this information on a 
screen.  The officer advised that he had omitted to resend the report in landscape format 
as it was missing some columns on screen and committed to sending an update after the 
meeting.
 

RESOLVED:  That the contents of the report be noted.
 
 

26/20 Risk Register 

Members considered the risk register which now included specific COVID-19 risks.
 
A member queried the risk on built heritage whereas there was no risk included on 
degradation of biodiversity.  This was noted and would be added.  Another omission was 
the carbon budget of the Authority and the legal duty to achieve net zero.
 
Asked about the use of dark red as well as red officers advised that this was due to the 
move to a 5X5 matrix for assessing risk on the advice of the Authority’s health and safety 
advisors which would give a more nuanced approach in line with good practice for risk 
assessments.
 
In response to a question the Chief Executive agreed that the risk relating to property 
assets should be red and that officers were now taking steps to address this area of risk.
 

RESOLVED:  That the contents of the report be noted.
 
 

27/20 Freedom of Information/Complaints/Compliments 

Members received year end and quarter 1 reports, and welcomed the amount of 
compliments in light of the current situation. The Chief Executive advised that the Senior 
Leadership were currently reviewing lessons learned about lockdown.
 
Officers advised that the low level of complaints was in no small way due to the efforts of 
the Corporate Services Officer who worked closely with the public to address concerns 
without the need to invoke the complaints procedure.
 
A member wondered whether the Authority could do anything to support authorities 
who were leaving verges uncut to increase biodiversity.
 

RESOLVED:  That the contents of the report be noted.
 
 

28/20 Action Tracking 

Page 26



Brecon Beacons National Park
Audit and Scrutiny Committee 7 24 July 2020

Members queried how the action tracking worked and its relative value to members.  
Officers acknowledged this was a matter of corporate discipline and would be discussed 
further.
 
 
 

29/20 Other Business 

There was no further business. The Chair thanked all for their contributions and thanked 
Cllr James who had stepped in to chair the meeting for one item when her connection 
failed.
 

Signed as a correct record
Chairman of the Audit and Scrutiny Committee

Page 27



This page is intentionally left blank



Approval of the Authority’s Statement of Accounts 2019/20 

 

1.0  Introduction 
The 2019/20 draft Statement of Accounts, produced in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards as interpreted by CIPFA and the Accounts and Audit (Wales) Regulations, 
was published on the website on 3 June.  The statutory deadline for accounts approval would 
normally be 31 July 2020.  In recognition of the impact of Covid19, this has been deferred until 
the Autumn, to allow authorities and Wales Audit additional time to complete the accounts and 
audit process.  As a result of the Audit, a number of changes and corrections have been made 
to the statement.  These are set out in an appendix to Enclosure 2.  An unqualified opinion has 
been issued by the Auditor General but members’ attention is drawn to the findings and 
reference to material uncertainty arising from the valuation of financial property assets as a 
result of the continuing impact of the pandemic as set out on page 6 of the Auditor’s Report.  

CIPFA Accounting Standards - impact on the presentation of the Authority’s draft 
income and expenditure and balance sheet.

The Accounting Standards are applied across all private and public sector bodies with the aim 
of increasing the comparability and consistency of accounts internationally and between sectors.  
The body which sets the standards for local authority accounting in the UK (The Chartered 
Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy, CIPFA) effectively prescribes the format in which 

Report to: Audit and Scrutiny Committee

Date of meeting: 27 November 2020
Report Author: Elaine Standen

Finance Manager
Elaine.standen@beacons-npa.gov.uk

Purpose of Report: To present the draft Statement of Accounts for 2019/20 published 
on the Authority’s website and consider the report of the Auditor 
General for Wales on the statement.

Enclosures (a) 1) Audited Statement of Accounts 2019/20 

(b) 2) Report of the Auditor General for Wales (ISA260 Report)

(c) 3) Letter of Representation from S151 Officer and Chair of the 
Authority

Background Papers None 

Recommendation a) That the Authority’s Statement of Accounts for the financial 
year 2019/20 is approved and signed by the Chair.

b) That the content of the ISA260 Report is received.

Page 29

Agenda Item 7

mailto:Elaine.standen@beacons-npa.gov.uk


authorities must produce the accounts and, although National Park Authorities are much 
smaller bodies, they are required to follow the same format and timetable for production and 
audit.    In some instances the Regulations require a different accounting treatment from that 
specified in the Standards and, where this is the case, adjustments have been made and 
explained in the Statement as required by CIPFA.  

Statement of Accounts Approval Process
The timeline for the production, audit, public inspection and approval by Members of the 
Accounting Statement is below 

23/6/20 The draft Statement of Accounts was signed off by the Chief Financial Officer 
(Section 151 Officer).  A copy was submitted to Wales Audit (WA).  Draft 
Statement sent for translation before a copy can be placed on the Authority’s 
website.

3/8/20 Members of the public are entitled to examine the accounts and supporting 
information on request.  They can make an appointment to discuss any aspect of 
the Statement with the Auditor.  

25/6/20 Wales Audit review content and presentation of the Accounts and identify any 
material changes which need to be made to the draft statement.   This work is being 
carried out remotely in 2020 due to the requirements of social distancing.

24/7/20 Original draft Statement presented to Audit and Scrutiny Committee.

1/9/20 Date on which Wales Audit will meet members of the public, if required, to discuss 
any aspect of the Statement of Accounts.  No requests for a meeting were received.

October
2020 Audit team meet the Finance Manager to discuss the outcome of the audit and any 

accounting adjustments required.  The Finance Manager/S151 Officer makes any 
changes needed and these are reviewed by the Audit Team.  This process normally 
takes 1-2 weeks.

13/11/20 The revised Statement is approved by the Auditor General for Wales and an audit 
certificate is issued

27/11/20 the Authority receives and approves the final Statement, which has been re-signed 
by the Chief Financial Officer (Section 151 Officer).  A representative of the 
Auditor General for Wales will attend the meeting and present the audit report.  A 
copy of the letter of representation from the S151 Officer and the Chair of the 
Authority to the Auditor General will also be provided.  A copy of the approved 
Statement is then normally signed by the Chair at the meeting.

TBA: The Statement of Accounts is published, with the Audit Certificate on the 
Authority’s website as soon as possible after approval and translation.

Page 30



1.2 Main Feature of the Statement
The Statement of Accounts comprises: 

The Narrative Report – an introduction to the Statement and comparison of actual and 
budgeted performance during the year.  The Report is not audited but must be included to 
provide the reader with some background information and analysis of financial performance in 
the year.

The Statement of Responsibilities for the Statement of Accounts – which sets out the 
role of Management and Members in the production of the Statement.
The Comprehensive income and Expenditure Statement - the income and expenditure 
during the financial year, accompanied by notes which explain the figures in greater detail as 
required by the CIPFA code of practice.  This is supplemented by the Expenditure and 
Funding Analysis which explains the adjustments between the management and financial 
accounts on a departmental basis.  
The Balance Sheet - the assets and liabilities, cash held and amounts set aside in reserves at 
the financial year-end. Notes are provided to give further details of specific balances where 
required by the CIPFA code of practice.  
The Statement of Movements in Reserves – shows the total gains and losses to the 
Authority during the year, including the effect of actuarial gains and losses on the pension fund 
and valuation gains and losses on fixed assets.  It distinguishes between usable reserves which 
represent cash funds held by the Authority and unusable reserves, which are created for 
accounting purposes only (an example being the negative Pensions Reserve, which balances to 
the Pensions Liability)
The Cash Flow Statement - expenditure and income for the financial year, excluding all 
amounts owed or receivable. Further explanation is provided in the notes to the statement.
Notes to the Statements – further details explaining, for example the purposes of reserves, 
changes in asset values and the basis used to calculate the Authority’s pension fund liability as 
well as providing further information on other material elements of the Statement.  The 
principles behind the methodologies used to produce the Statements are described in the 
Accounting Policies which constitute Note 1.  

The format of the Statement of Accounts is as laid down by the CIPFA Code of Practice and 
there is very limited scope for simplification.  There has been a joint drive to reduce the cost of 
audit both in terms of Authority staff time required to support the process and the financial 
cost of auditor time borne by the Authority.  This has led to a simplified audit process and a 
more focused audit visit, as well as an increased materiality threshold (set at 2% of gross 
expenditure, or approximately £130,000 for the current year) below which individual errors or 
omissions are not reported to the Authority unless they relate to specific items with a lower 
threshold such as officer remuneration.

The Statements are produced in round £000’s.  This leads to some rounding differences in 
casting across the statements arising from the complexity of the presentation required and the 
interrelationships between the various statements and notes.

Page 31



1.3 Accounting differences between the Statement of Accounts and Management 
Reports
A report on the 2019/20 financial outturn for management purposes is provided in a separate 
report.  The actual cost of running the Authority as represented in the management accounts is 
prepared on a different basis to that of the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 
as included in the Statement of Accounts.  The most significant differences between 
management reports prepared for Members and the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement are:

 The treatment of the year’s pension costs; actual pension costs paid in the year are 
replaced by accounting entries based on an actuarial review of the Authority’s share of future 
earnings and liabilities of the Powys Pension Fund.   The pension cost figures for accounting 
purposes are also subject to very large fluctuations between years.  Impacting both the 
Authority’s accounting surplus and net assets/(liabilities).

 The treatment of the Authority’s net share of Powys Pension Fund assets and 
future obligations; on the Balance Sheet, the largest single item is the net liability relating to 
the Pension Fund – this is a recurring item which is calculated by the funds actuary and balanced 
in the accounts by a notional negative reserve of the same amount.  The substantial increase in 
the liability (the net difference between the long term asset values and long term liabilities of 
the pension fund is due to an increase in the present value of the Authority’s obligations under 
the Pension Scheme.

 Capital charges associated with the Authority’s Property, Plant and Equipment of 
some appear in the Statement but not in management accounts, as they are not chargeable to 
the taxpayer.

 Expenditure and income.  Internal recharges from one department to another, eg for room 
hire or stock supplied are excluded from total income figures and instead reduce the 
expenditure of the department providing the service.

 Unusable Reserves are notional amounts built up on the Balance Sheet to balance 
revaluations of property plant and equipment, pension fund liabilities, etc. they do not represent 
actual funds and can be negative.

1.5 Conclusion
The Statement of Accounts is one of the ways in which the Authority demonstrates good 
financial management and provides accountability for the way in which it has used the public 
funds entrusted to it.  The audit process is designed to ensure that the public can have 
confidence in the quality of the Statement of Accounts and to minimize the risk that the 
financial position of the Authority has been materially miss-stated.  

RECOMMENDATION:  

a) That the Authority’s Statement of Accounts for the financial year 2019/20 is approved 
and signed by the Chair.

b) That the content of the ISA260 Report is received.

Page 32



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                        Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020

1

 

BRECON BEACONS NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY

Statement of Accounts

for the year ended

31st March 2020

Page 33



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                        Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020

2

BRECON BEACONS NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY
STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 2019/20

 
Page

Narrative Report 3
Statement of Responsibilities for the Statement of Accounts 10
Audit Opinion and Certificate 11
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 13
Expenditure and Funding Analysis 14
Balance Sheet 16
Movements in Reserves Statement 17
Cash Flow Statement 19
Notes to the Accounts 20

Page 34



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                        Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020

3

NARRATIVE REPORT   
 
1. INTRODUCTION

The Authority is required by law to produce an annual Statement of Accounts in accordance with 
proper accounting practices as laid down by the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 
Accountancy (CIPFA) in its 2019/20 ‘Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United 
Kingdom: A Statement of Recommended Practice’ and approved by the Accounting Standards Board. 

This foreword provides a brief explanation of the more significant matters reported in the accounts. 
Accounting statements are set out on later pages and consist of:-

A Statement of Accounting Policies - the basis upon which amounts have been included in the 
accounts using accepted accounting principles.

The Core Financial Statements

o The Comprehensive income and Expenditure Statement - the income and expenditure 
during the financial year, accompanied by notes which explain the figures in greater detail as 
required by the CIPFA code of practice.  The CIPFA Code requires that the Statement structure 
is in line with the objective breakdown of income and expenditure reported to management.  
For Brecon Beacons National Park Authority this entails an analysis of expenditure and income 
by Directorate.  The CIES is supplemented by the Expenditure and Funding Analysis – an 
explanation of the differences between the net surplus or deficit as calculated in accordance 
with the CIPFA Code of Practice and the net surplus or deficit calculated in accordance with 
statute and required to be funded from revenue reserves.

o The Balance Sheet - the assets and liabilities, cash held and amounts set aside in reserves at 
the financial year-end. Notes are provided to give further details of specific balances where 
required by the CIPFA code of practice.

o The Statement of Movements in Reserves – shows the total gains and losses to the 
Authority during the year, including the effect of actuarial gains and losses on the pension fund 
and valuation gains and losses on fixed assets. 

o The Cash Flow Statement - expenditure and income for the financial year, excluding all 
amounts owed or receivable. Further explanation is provided in the notes to the statement.

The authorisation date of the Statement is 23 June 2020.  Significant events after the Balance Sheet 
date and up to 27 November 2020 have been taken into account in preparing the Statement.  The 
Statement is audited by the Auditor General for Wales and a copy of the auditor’s report is published 
with the Statement when this becomes available on completion of the audit.  The Authority is also 
required to publish a Governance Statement at the same time.  For further information and 
explanation of items in this document, please contact the Finance Manager on 07854997516 or email 
elaine.standen@beacons-npa.gov.uk

2. ABOUT BRECON BEACONS NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY
The Authority covers 520 square miles and is one of three National Parks in Wales. The Authority 
became an independent Special Purpose Local Authority with effect from 1st April 1996 and has two 
statutory purposes and one duty:

Purposes:
o To conserve and enhance the natural beauty, wildlife and cultural heritage of the National Park.

Page 35

mailto:elaine.standen@beacons-npa.gov.uk


Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                        Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020

4

o To promote opportunities for public enjoyment and understanding of the special qualities of 
the National Park.

Duty:
o To foster the economic and social well-being of communities living within the National Park.

The Authority is the statutory Local Planning Authority for the area and is responsible for preparation 
of the Local Development Plan and determining planning applications. 

Each year the Authority is required to publish a Corporate Plan setting out how it intends to 
employ its resources for the coming year to fulfil the purposes and duty in line with its current 
National Park Management Plan 2010-2020.  A review of the Authority’s performance against 
the Corporate Plan is carried out annually.  These documents are published on the Authority’s 
website www.beacons-npa.gov.uk

3. INCOME AND EXPENDITURE
The gross cost to the Authority of delivering services, as reported to Members during the year for 
management purposes was £5,920,000. The table below sets out the sources of funding and shows 
that £62,000 was transferred to General Reserves at the year-end. In addition, £77,000 net was 
transferred from Earmarked Reserves to fund revenue expenditure.   £431,000 net was transferred 
to Capital Grants reserves for planned capital expenditure.

The Welsh Government sets the Authority’s approved level of net revenue expenditure for the year 
and pays 75% of this in National Park Grant.  The remaining 25% can then be raised by the Authority 
by issuing a levy on the constituent Unitary Authorities.   These are: Powys County Council, 
Carmarthenshire County Council, Monmouthshire County Council, Rhondda Cynon Taff County 
Borough Council, Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council, Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council, 
and Torfaen County Borough Council.   In 2018/19 a late change in the National Park Grant was not 
applied to the levy which therefore made up just under 24% of total core revenue funding.

Locally 
genera
ted 
incom
e and 
specifi
c 
grants 
are 
allocat
ed to 
individ
ual 
servic
es and 
are 
offset 
against 
the 
expen
diture 
on 

those headings to arrive at the total net budgets and costs as reported to those responsible for 

COMPARISON OF ACTUAL INCOME AND EXPENDITURE: CURRENT AND PREVIOUS 
FINANCIAL YEARS 

2018/19
£000

2018/19
%

2019/20
£000

2019/20
%

National Park Grant 2,827 47 2,827 47
National Park Levy 892 15 941 16
National Park Project Grant 594 10 444 7
Government Grants and Contributions 375 6 595 10
Fees, Charges and other Service income 1,317 22 1,146 19
Interest Receivable 25 0 29 1
Gross Revenue Funding 6,030 100 5,982 100

Employee Expenses 3,735 70 3,775 68
Other Service Expenses 1,612 30 1,791 32
Total Expenditure 5,347 100 5,566 100
Net Receipts from Asset Sales 0 0
Transfers to/from Earmarked Reserves 585 354
Total Expenditure after net transfers 
to/from Reserves

5,932 5,920

Net (cost)/income of Services 
(Contribn to/from General Fund) 98 62

Page 36

http://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/


Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                        Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020

5

management of the Authority.  The table below shows how the net cost of services is derived from 
gross income and expenditure (see also the Expenditure and Funding Analysis for a reconciliation of 
amounts reported to management on a departmental basis to the totals reported on the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.

The net costs for each service in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement include 
depreciation (the cost of wear and tear on buildings, equipment, etc.).

Adjustments are also made for pension costs in accordance with the International Accounting Standard 
19: Retirement Benefits (IAS19). These technical adjustments are intended to bring the Authority’s 
accounts into line with UK Generally Accepted Accounting Policies.  They indicate the full cost to the 
Authority in the relevant financial year of meeting all future commitments to its current and former 
employees under the Local Government Pension Scheme.  

These adjustments do not affect the net revenue spend of the Authority paid for by the Welsh 
Assembly Government and local taxpayers.  For a full explanation of the basis for the charges under 
IAS 19, see Note 31.  The adjustments are not included in the budgeted figures as they have no impact 
on the cost of the Authority’s operations for management purposes.

The IAS19 adjustments have a substantial impact on the assets of the Authority as recorded in the 
Balance Sheet, reducing the Authority’s overall net assets to £942,000.  Excluding the Pension Fund 
liability, the Authority’s net assets would be £11,604,000. In the Expenditure and Income Statement, 
the actuarial assessment of the Authority’s assets and liabilities in the Fund has produced a net 
actuarial loss of £685,000 which has generated an accounting deficit of £1,149,000 for the year.  Last 
year an actuarial gain of £620,000 was advised; a negative variation between financial years of 
£1,305,000.  

Significant developments affecting the financial position of the Authority 

The triennial re-valuation of the Powys Pension Fund took place during 2019/20 and identified an 
improved position for the Authority as an admitted body in the Fund.  As a result, employer 
contributions to the fund will drop slightly for the next three years from 22.7% to 20.9% as a 
percentage of salary costs.  However, this review took place before the impact of Covid-19 which 
has had a significant effect on investment values and potentially also actuarial calculations for future 
pension fund liabilities.  Different criteria are used for the calculation of pensions accounting 
disclosures in accordance with International Accounting Standards for the Statement of Accounts 
and, as noted above, the disclosed liabilities have increased under this methodology.

In 2019/20 the Authority’s core funding from the Welsh Government remained at a cash standstill 
level.  It sought to deploy this to meet its statutory purposes and governmental priorities, 
supplemented by locally generated income and a range of grant funding.  The prospect of continuing 
real-terms core budget reductions in the medium term has necessitated a range of cost-saving 
measures.

The Authority is carrying out a review of its senior management structure, affecting second and third 
tier posts.  A full re-assessment of priorities has taken place during the year and a process of re-
orientating the structure of the Authority improve the fit between priorities and organisation is in 
train, which it is hoped will enable the Authority to focus its reducing resources while operating as 
effectively as possible. 

The severe impact of Covid19 on the restructure process, staff, management, income streams and 
service delivery of the Authority, which began to be felt in March 2020, could reduce the financial 
resilience of the organisation and is likely to result in pressure on discretionary reserves during 
2020/21.  The organisation has been able to adapt in a matter of weeks to a new environment and 
novel ways of working and decision-making which will affect its priorities and operation for months 
and possibly years to come.  Assumptions about future income levels and the financial environment 
are subject to change and budget planning will need to accommodate greater levels of uncertainty and 
risk going forward.  Current values of land and buildings in the Balance Sheet as well as the value of 

Page 37



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                        Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020

6

assets held by the Powys Pension Fund, of which the Authority is a member employer, are subject to 
significant and continuing levels of uncertainty arising from the impacts of both Covid19 and the UK’s 
departure from the European Union.

An increasing proportion of the Welsh Government funding for the Authority takes the form of 
grants for specific revenue and capital projects.  A significant amount of funding; £611,000, was 
received in October 2019 for a range of capital projects to be delivered in 2019/20 and 2020/21.  
These include operational improvements such as updated IT systems and electric pool vehicles, as 
well as peatland restoration and nature recovery initiatives, which are priorities across Wales.  

Collaborative multi-partner projects which require significant officer time to launch and sustain are 
increasingly used to deliver long-term approaches visitor management, biodiversity action and 
engagement with the farming community.  Where funding for such projects is received in advance, 
substantial earmarked capital and revenue reserves may be accrued until the delivery phase can begin.

Earmarked reserves also allow the Authority to set aside contingency funds to meet future 
commitments, such as the costs of the Local Development Plan Enquiry and Sustainable Development 
Fund grant commitments.  They are used where the timing of funding receipts does not match the 
financial year of the related expenditure.  

The Authority’s total usable reserves increased slightly between 31 March 2019 and 31 March 2020 
from £4.02 to £4.19m.  The majority of these are ring-fenced for specific project work and other 
commitments.  Draw-down has been partly affected by delays in project delivery and further impacted 
by the Covid19 lockdown.

A simplified comparison between the budgeted and actual income and expenditure account by service 
for 2019/20 is produced below and shows that the Authority planned to transfer some £163,000 from 
its General Reserve at the year-end whereas in fact £62,000 was transferred to the Reserve; an net 
under-spend of £225,000.    

The table below is in line with CIPFA’s current code of practice which requires authorities to account 
for expenditure and income in the same objective structure as is used for reporting to management.

To enable comparisons between the revised budget and the outturn, year-end, recharges for capital 
charges (depreciation) and actuarially assessed pension scheme costs (in accordance with 
international accounting standards) have been used to adjust the budget figures to give a comparable 
total.  

Page 38



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                        Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020

7

Summary of principal variances between 2019/20 budget as adjusted and the Statement of 
Accounts.

Si
gnificant 
Varianc
es 
Reporte
d to 
Manage
ment

C
hi
ef 
E
xe
cu
ti
ve
s 
D
e
p
ar
t
m
e
nt
.
St
aff vacancies for part of the year, and an extended timetable for the production of the National Park 
Management Plan as a consequence have caused an underspend in staff costs, and Management Plan 
production costs.  Member salaries and expenses were below the estimate.  Overall support and 
corporate management costs were under-spent by some £127,000.

Countryside Land Management and Community 
Core Services
Increased staff costs for Wardens, Access and the Education team have been recharged to project 
(funded) work, reflecting the increased time spent by staff on such activity.  Some planned 
improvements on authority land could not progress as planned pending negotiations with third parties; 
this spend has been deferred to 2020/21.  A poor winter season at the Visitor Centres, as visitor 
numbers were impacted by poor weather and flooding (and latterly the Covid19 crisis) reduced 
receipts and net income.  Conversely, visitor pressure at the Waterfalls area required increased 
expenditure and other site improvements at the Car Parks, reducing net income.   Staff vacancies in 
the public engagement team plus increased demand from schools and colleges for education services 
reduced spend against budget and increased income.  The impact on these services of Covid 19 will be 
particularly severe in 2020/21.

Projects

Net Service Costs 2019/20 
Adjusted 
Budget*

2019/20 
Out-
turn*

 2019/20 
Variance 
against 

adjusted 
Budget

£000 £000 £000

Planning and Development Control 939 854 (85)
Countryside Land Management and Communities 2,367 2,155 (212)
Chief Executive’s Department 1,472 1,345 (127)
Other Operating Expenditure 574 500 (74)
Adjusted net cost 5,352 4,854 (498)

Interest received (5) (29) (24)
National Park Grant (Welsh Assembly Government) (2,827) (2,827) 0
National Park Levy (Constituent Authorities) (941) (941) 0
National Park Capital Grant (Welsh Assembly Government) 0 (444) (444)
Transfer to/(from) Earmarked Reserves (355) 15 370
Transfer to Capital Receipts Reserve 0 0 0
Transfer to Capital Grants Unapplied Account 0 431 431

(4,128) (3,795) 333

Accounting Adjustments reversed (1,061) (1,121) (60)

Net Deficit /(Surplus) 163 (62) (225)

*including notional depreciation, accounting standards adjustments for pension costs and other elements required by 
CIPFA for accounts preparation.

Page 39



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                        Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020

8

The Black Mountains Land Use Partnership has been successfully progressing, involving upland 
ecological improvements, landowner engagement, community projects, tourism and education delivery 
and a short extension was approved by the funder to allow some of objectives of the project to be 
delivered in summer 2020/21.  Work is continuing on a successor partnership supported by the 
current project board.

Close to £0.25m was spent on providing Sustainable Development Fund grants to a wide range of 
community projects during 2019/20 and the funding committed but not claimed at the year end has 
been reserved for disbursement in 2020/21.  Developing projects in biodiversity and nature recovery 
were interrupted by the lockdown as partner organisations were temporarily shut down; resulting in 
some work and expenditure being carried over to 2020/21.  Significant Welsh Government funding 
was received for community and visitor management projects in the Waterfalls Country area of the 
Park, where multiple partners and a range of differing interests have required complex engagement and 
negotiation; the bulk of physical works and non-staff expenditure have been re-profiled to 2020/21 and 
beyond.  Again, there will be impacts from the lockdown in the coming year.  

Overall the Countryside Land Management and Communities services underspent by £212,000.

Planning and Development Control
The Local Development Plan, a major workstream for both 2019/20 and the 2020/21 financial years 
involving a range of staff but principally the Planning Policy team, has been funded both from in-year 
core grant and earmarked reserves, built up over the interval between iterations of the Plan.  Like 
many other services, it has been impacted by Covid 19 and further changes to the consultation and 
inspection phase are likely to be needed in response to the virus.  Elements of the project have been 
re-phased into 2020/21 and 2021/22.

In addition to budgeted income, Section 106 receipts of £87,000, were received in the year;  These are 
held in a reserve pending transfer to third parties for affordable housing projects within the Park.  This 
contributed to an under spend of £85,000 for the departments as whole.

4) CAPITAL EXPENDITURE 
  

2019/20
Actual

2019/20 
Actual

£000 £000

Gunpowder Works conservation and interpretation project year 3 
(capital element)

86

Completion of Mountain Centre Health and Safety Improvements 4

Rights of Way improvements 32

Upland Access and Peatland Habitat restoration 116

Inclusive easy access improvements to Rights of Way 21

Photovoltaic Solar Panel Installations on Authority Buildings 71

Electric Fleet Vehicle Purchase and EV Charging Point installations on 
Authority sites

132

Wales Way tourism project infrastructure - enhancing the visitor 
experience

86

Page 40



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                        Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020

9

Investment in IT infrastructure, remote sensing and training, reproductive 
equipment for digital records

46

Geopark Centre Interpretation installation at Craig y nos Country Park 31

Total grant-funded project spend classified as capital under accounting 
rules*

 625

Less: Grants & Contributions (338)

 Transfers from earmarked reserves (251)

Use of Capital Receipts Reserve (4)

Revenue Financing (32)

Net Expenditure (625)

*Expenditure which meets the accounting definition of capital has been classified as capital and funded by grants, use of capital receipts, a 
legacy receipt and an appropriation from the Revenue Account.  Expenditure meets the relevant accounting de minimis criteria (as 
outlined in the Authority’s accounting policies).   When projects are completed, the resulting asset is included in the Authority’s Balance 
Sheet.  

Page 41



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                        Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020

10

STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS

THE AUTHORITY’S RESPONSIBILITIES
The Authority is required to:-
o Make arrangements for the proper administration of its financial affairs and to secure that one of its 

officers has the responsibility for the administration of those affairs.  In this Authority that officer is 
the Chief Financial Officer (Section 151 Officer).

o Manage its affairs to secure economic, efficient and effective use of resources and safeguard its 
assets.

o Approve the Statement of Accounts.

THE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER’S RESPONSIBILITIES
The Chief Financial Officer/S151 Officer is responsible for the preparation of the Authority’s Statement of 
Accounts in accordance with proper practices as set out in the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local 
Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom.  

In preparing the Statement of Accounts, the Chief Financial Officer has:-
o Selected suitable accounting policies and then applied them consistently;
o Made judgements and estimates that were reasonable and prudent;
o Complied with the Code of Practice.
The Chief Financial Officer has also:
o Kept proper accounting records which were up to date;
o Taken reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The Statement of Accounts gives a true and fair view of the financial position of the Authority at the 
accounting date and its income and expenditure for the year ended 31 March 2020. To comply with the 
Accounts and Audit (Wales) Regulations 2014, the Chief Financial Officer is required to re-certify the 
Statement immediately before their adoption by the Authority and after the completion of the audit, while the 
Chairman certifies approval of the audited Statement by the Authority.

E Standen ACMA         Date:   23/6/20
Section 151 Officer
Brecon Beacons National Park Authority

E Standen ACMA           Date: 27/9/200
Section 151 Officer
Brecon Beacons National Park Authority

Cllr Gareth Ratcliffe
Chairman
Brecon Beacons National Park Authority       Date: 27/9/20

Page 42



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                        Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020

11

The independent auditor’s report of the Auditor General for Wales to the Members of Brecon 
Beacons National Park Authority

Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion

I have audited the financial statements of the Brecon Beacons National Park Authority for the year ended 31 
March 2020 under the Public Audit (Wales) Act 2004. 
Brecon Beacons National Park Authority’s financial statements comprise the Movement in Reserves 
Statement, the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, the Balance Sheet, the Cash Flow 
Statement and the related notes, including a summary of significant accounting policies. 
The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and the Code of 
Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2019-20 based on International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRSs).
In my opinion the financial statements: 

 give a true and fair view of the financial position of Brecon Beacons National Park Authority as at 31 
March 2020 and of its income and expenditure for the year then ended; and



 have been properly prepared in accordance with legislative requirements and the Code of Practice on 
Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2019-20.

Basis for opinion

I conducted my audit in accordance with applicable law and International Standards on Auditing in the UK 
(ISAs (UK)). My responsibilities under those standards are further described in the auditor’s responsibilities 
for the audit of the financial statements section of my report. I am independent of the Authority in accordance 
with the ethical requirements that are relevant to my audit of the financial statements in the UK including the 
Financial Reporting Council’s Ethical Standard, and I have fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with these requirements. I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion.

Emphasis of matter - effects of COVID-19 on pension fund property fund asset valuations

I draw attention to Note 31 of the financial statements, which describes the impact of a material uncertainty 
disclosed in a pension fund manager report in their year-end valuation report for the UK property fund they 
manage on behalf of the Powys Pension Fund. The Authority has disclosed this material uncertainty and my 
audit opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.
Conclusions relating to going concern
I have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the ISAs (UK) require me to 
report to you where:

 the use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is not 
appropriate; or



 the responsible financial officer has not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material 
uncertainties that may cast significant doubt about the Authority’s ability to continue to adopt the going 
concern basis of accounting for a period of at least 12 months from the date when the financial 
statements are authorised for issue.

Page 43



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                        Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020

12

Other information
The responsible financial officer is responsible for the other information in the statement of accounts. The 
other information comprises the Narrative Report and the Annual Governance Statement. My opinion on the 
financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly 
stated later in my report, I do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with my audit of the financial statements, my responsibility is to read the other information to 
identify material inconsistencies with the audited financial statements and to identify any information that is 
apparently materially incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with, the knowledge acquired by me in the 
course of performing the audit. If I become aware of any apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies, I 
consider the implications for my report.

Report on other requirements

Opinion on other matters
In my opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of my audit:

 the information contained in the Narrative Report for the financial year for which the financial 
statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements and the Narrative Report has been 
prepared in accordance with the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United 
Kingdom 2019-20; and

Page 44



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                        Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020

13

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AND EXPENDITURE STATEMENT

This statement shows the accounting cost in the year of providing services in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting practices, rather than the amount to be funded from taxation.  The Authority’s 
expenditure is funded from taxation, in accordance with regulations, via the National Park Grant and Levy on 
Constituent Authorities.  This may differ from the accounting calculation of operating expenditure.  Further 
information on the adjustments made to the management accounts to comply with the CIPFA Code of 
Practice are provided in the Expenditure and Funding Analysis on the following pages. The adjustments to the 
accounting calculation to arrive at the taxation-funded position are further detailed in the Movement in 
Reserves Statement.  

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 

2018/19 2019/20
Expend-
iture

Income Net Expend-
iture

Income Net

£000 £000 £000

N
O

T
E

S £000 £000 £000

1,157 (406) 751
Planning and Development Control

1,139 (285) 854

3,543 (1,258) 2,285
Countryside, Land Management and 

Communities 3,549 (1,394) 2,155

1,008 (28) 980
Chief Executive’s Department

1,407 (62) 1,345
405 0 405 Other – Past Service Cost 1.6 260 0 260

6,113 (1,692) 4,421 COST OF SERVICES 6,355 (1,741) 4,614

20 Other Operating Expenditure
8

30

81 Loss on Revaluation of Fixed assets 11 189

195 Financing and Investment Income and 
Expenditure 9

181

(4,768) Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income
10

(4,550)

(51) DEFICIT/(SURPLUS) ON PROVISION 
OF    SERVICES

464

(620) Actuarial (Gains)/Losses on Pension Assets and 
Liabilities 31

   685

(671) TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
AND EXPENDITURE

1,149

Page 45



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                        Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020

14

EXPENDITURE AND FUNDING ANALYSIS 
The analysis below details the adjustments that have been made to the Authority’s management accounts to 
present them in the CIES in accordance with the requirements of the current CIPFA Code which requires 
them to include the cost of holding assets and the actuarial assessment of the full cost of the pension scheme 
for the current year.  It reconciles the Income and Expenditure Statement’s net deficit/surplus with the net 
transfer to revenue reserves.  Note 21 provides a further subjective analysis of expenditure and income.

Expenditure and Funding Analysis 2019/20
Net 

Expend-
iture 

Chargeable 
to General 

Fund

Adjustments 
between 

funding and 
accounting 

basis - 
capital 
charges

Adjustments 
between 

funding and 
accounting 

basis - 
pensions

Adjustments 
between 

funding and 
accounting 

basis - other

TOTAL 
ADJUST-
MENTS

Net 
expend-
iture in 
CIES

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Planning and Development Control 755 0 99 0 99 854
Countryside, Land Management 
and Communities

1,785 163 207 0 370 2,155

CEO and Support 1,253 3 89 0 92 1,345
Other 0 0 260 0 260 260
Net Cost of Services 3,793 166 655 0 821 4,614

Pension Fund Administration Costs 0 0 30 0 30 30
 Bank interest received (29) 0 0 0 0 (29)
National Park Grant  see NOTE 10 (2,827) 0 0 0 0 (2,827)
Specific Grants Received - Welsh 
Government  SEE NOTE 10

(444) 0 0 0 0 (444)

Capital Grant applied 0 0 0 (338) (338) (338)
Levies on Constituent Local 
Authorities  SEE NOTE 10

(941) 0 0 0 0 (941)

Interest on Defined Benefit Liability 0 0 210 0 210 210

Revenue funding of Capital 
expenditure 

32 0 0 (32) (32) 0

Other Income and 
Expenditure

(4,209) 0 240 (370) (130) (4,339)

Loss on Revaluation of Assets 0 189 0 0 189 189
Actuarial (Gains)/Losses on 
Pension Assets/ Liabilities

0 0 685 0 685 685

Deficit/(Surplus) before 
transfers to /from Revenue 
Reserves

(416) 1,149

Appropns to Capital Reserves
Transfers to Capital Receipts 
unapplied

0

Transfer to Capital Grants 
Unapplied (net)

431

15

Movements on Revenue 
Reserves
Opening Balance 2,650
Revenue Surplus/(deficit) (15)
Closing Balance on Revenue 
Reserve

2,635

Page 46



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                        Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020

15

Expenditure and Funding Analysis 2018/19
Net 

Expend-
iture 

Chargeable 
to General 

Fund

Adjustments 
between 

funding and 
accounting 

basis - 
capital 
charges

Adjustments 
between 

funding and 
accounting 

basis - 
pensions

Adjustments 
between 

funding and 
accounting 

basis - other

TOTAL 
ADJUST-
MENTS

Net 
expend-
iture in 
CIES

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Planning and Development Control 680 10 61 0 71 751
Countryside, Land Management 
and Communities

2,034 142 109 0 251 2,285

CEO and Support 938 13 29 0 42 980
Other 0 0 405 0 405 405
Net Cost of Services 3,652 165 604 0 769 4,421

Pension Fund Administration Costs 0 0 20 0 20 20
 Bank interest received (25) 0 0 0 0 (25)
National Park Grant  see NOTE 10 (2,827) 0 0 0 0 (2,827)
Specific Grants Received - Welsh 
Government  SEE NOTE 10

(594) 0 0 0 0 (594)

Capital Grant applied 0 0 0 (455) (455) (455)
Levies on Constituent Local 
Authorities  SEE NOTE 10

(892) 0 0 0 0 (892)

Interest on Defined Benefit Liability 0 0 220 0 220 220
Asset sale less cost of sales,  0 0 0 0 0 0
Revenue funding of Capital 
expenditure 

3 0 0 (3) (3) 0

Other Income and 
Expenditure

(4,335) 0 240 (458) (218) (4,553)

Loss on Revaluation of Assets 0 81 0 0 81 81
Actuarial (Gains)/Losses on 
Pension Assets/ Liabilities

0 0 (620) 0 (620) (620)

Deficit/(Surplus) before 
transfers to /from Revenue 
Reserves

(683) (671)

Appropns to Capital Reserves
Transfers to Capital Receipts 
unapplied

0

Transfer to Capital Grants 
Unapplied (net)

117

(566)

Movements on Revenue 
Reserves
Opening Balance 2,085
Revenue Surplus/(deficit) 566
Closing Balance on Revenue 
Reserve

2,651

Page 47



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                        Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020

16

BALANCE SHEET

The Balance Sheet shows the value as at the balance sheet date of the assets and liabilities recognised by the 
Authority.  The net assets of the Authority (assets less liabilities) are matched by the reserves held by the 
Authority.  Reserves are reported in two categories.  The first category of reserves are usable reserves, ie 
those that the Authority may use to provide services, subject to the need to maintain a prudent level of 
reserves and any statutory limitations on their use.  The second category includes those that the Authority is 
not able to use to provide services.  This includes reserves holding unrealised gains and losses, such as the 
Revaluation Reserve, where amounts would only become available to provide services if the assets were sold, 
and also record timing differences shown in the Movement in Reserves Statement line ‘Adjustments between 
accounting basis and funding basis under regulations’.

Balance Sheet 

2018/19
(£000)

N
O

T
E

S

2019/20
(£000)

7,228 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 11 7,452
34 INTANGIBLE ASSETS 12 45

7,262 TOTAL LONG-TERM ASSETS 7,497

34 Inventories 38
58 Long-term Debtors 13 0

818 Short-term Debtors 14 745
3,862 Cash and Cash Equivalents 15 4,112
4,772 CURRENT ASSETS 4,895

825 Short-Term Creditors 17 788
825 CURRENT LIABILITIES 788

9,081 Liability Related to Defined Benefit Pension Schemes 31 10,662
9,081 LONG TERM LIABILITIES 10,662

2,128 NET ASSETS 942

1,205 Capital Grants Unapplied Account 1,385
2,819 Other Usable Reserves 6 2,800
4,024 Total Usable Reserves 4,185

(1,896) Unusable Reserves 18 (3,243)

2,128 TOTAL RESERVES 942

Page 48



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                        Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020

17

MOVEMENTS IN RESERVES STATEMENT

This statement shows the movement in the year on the different reserves held by the Authority, analysed into 
‘usable reserves’ (i.e. those that can be applied to fund expenditure or reduce local taxation) and other 
reserves.  The Surplus or (Deficit) on the Provision of Services line shows the true economic cost of 
providing the Authority’s services, more details of which are shown in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement.  These are different from the statutory amounts required to be charged to the 
General Fund Balance.  The Net Increase/(Decrease) before Transfers to Earmarked Reserves line shows the 
statutory General Fund Balance before any discretionary transfers to or from earmarked reserves undertaken 
by the Authority.  Further details of these transfers are shown in Note 7.

Movements in Reserves 2019/20 (£000)

G
en

er
al

 R
es

er
ve

A
ffo

rd
ab

le
 H

ou
si

ng
/S

10
6 

Ba
la

nc
es

 
he

ld
 

W
el

sh
 G

ov
er

nm
en

t 
R

ev
en

ue
 G

ra
nt

s 
re

ce
iv

ed
 b

ut
 u

na
pp

lie
d

Ea
rm

ak
ed

 r
es

ve
s 

- 
O

th
er

T
O

T
A

L 
R

E
V

E
N

U
E

 R
E

SE
R

V
E

S

C
A

PI
T

A
L 

G
R

A
N

T
S 

U
N

A
PP

LI
ED

 
A

C
O

O
U

N
T

C
A

PI
T

A
L 

R
EC

EI
PT

S 
R

ES
ER

V
E

T
O

T
A

L 
U

SA
B

LE
 R

E
SE

R
V

E
S

T
O

T
A

L 
U

N
U

SA
B

LE
 R

E
SE

R
V

E
S

T
O

T
A

L 
R

E
SE

R
V

E
S

     
Balance at 31 
March 2019 
Carried Forward

1,046 210 751 643 2,650 1,205 169 4,024 (1,896) 2,128

Total 
Comprehensive 
Income and 
Expenditure

(464) 0 0 0 (464) 0 0 (464) (685) (1,149)

Surplus or deficit on 
revaluation of 
property plant and 
equipment assets

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (36) (36)

Adjustments 
between accounting 
basis and funding 
basis under 
regulations (NOTE 
6)

526 87 (153) (11) 449 431 0 880 (881) (1)

Transfers between 
the Capital Grants 
Unapplied Acct and 
the Capital 
Adjustment Acct

0 0 0 0 0 (251) 0 (251) 251 0

Transfers between 
the Capital Receipts 
Reserve and the 
Capital Adjustment 
Account

0 0 0 0 0 0 (4) (4) 4 0

Increase/(Decrease) 
in 2019/20

62 87 (153) (11) (15) 180 (4) 161 (1347) (1,186)

Balance at 31 
March 2020 
Carried Forward

1,108 297 598 632 2,635 1,385 165 4,185 (3,243) 942

Page 49



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                        Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020

18

   

Movements in Reserves 2018/19 (£000)

   

G
en

er
al

 R
es

er
ve

A
ffo

rd
ab

le
 H

ou
si

ng
/S

10
6 

Ba
la

nc
es

 
he

ld
 

W
el

sh
 G

ov
er

nm
en

t 
R

ev
en

ue
 G

ra
nt

s 
re

ce
iv

ed
 b

ut
 u

na
pp

lie
d

Ea
rm

ak
ed

 r
es

ve
s 

- 
O

th
er

T
O

T
A

L 
R

E
V

E
N

U
E

 R
E

SE
R

V
E

S

C
A

PI
T

A
L 

G
R

A
N

T
S 

U
N

A
PP

LI
ED

 
A

C
O

O
U

N
T

C
A

PI
T

A
L 

R
EC

EI
PT

S 
R

ES
ER

V
E

T
O

T
A

L 
U

SA
B

LE
 R

E
SE

R
V

E
S

T
O

T
A

L 
U

N
U

SA
B

LE
 R

E
SE

R
V

E
S

T
O

T
A

L 
R

E
SE

R
V

E
S

     
Balance at 31 
March 2018 
Carried Forward

948 31 427 679 2,085 1,258 224 3,567 (3,181) 386

Total Comprehensive 
Income and 
Expenditure

51 0 0 0 51 0 0 51 620 671

Surplus or deficit on 
revaluation of 
property plant and 
equipment assets

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,071 1,071

Adjustments between 
accounting basis and 
funding basis under 
regulations (NOTE 6)

47 179 324 (36) 514 117 0 631 (631) 0

Transfers between 
the Capital Grants 
Unapplied Acct and 
the Capital 
Adjustment Acct

0 0 0 0 0 (170) 0 (170) 170 0

Transfers between 
the Capital Receipts 
Reserve and the 
Capital Adjustment 
Account

0 0 0 0 0 0 (55) (55) 55 0

Increase/(Decrease) 
in 2018/19

98 179 324 (36) 565 (53) (55) 457 1,285 1,742

Balance at 31 
March 2019 
Carried Forward

1,046 210 751 643 2,650 1,205 169 4,024 (1,896) 2,128

Page 50



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                        Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020

19

CASH FLOW STATEMENT

The Cash Flow Statement shows the changes in cash and cash equivalents of the Authority during the 
reporting period.  The statement show how the Authority generates and uses cash and cash equivalents by 
classifying cash flows as operating, investing or financing activities.  The amount of net cash flows arising from 
operating activities is a key indicator of the extent to which the operations of the Authority are funded by 
way of taxation and grant income or from the recipients of services provided by the Authority.   

Cash Flow Statement

2018/19
£000

2019/20
£000

2019/20
£000

2019/20
£000

(51) (Surplus)/Deficit on the provision of services
N

O
T

E
464

(142) Depreciation and impairment (163)
(23) Amortisation of intangible assets (3)
(81) Loss on revaluation of Land and Buildings (189)

(5) Increase/(Decrease)  in Stocks 4
342 Increase/(Decrease) in Debtors (129)
89 (Increase)/Decrease  in Creditors (2)

0 (Increase )/Decrease in Creditor re Accrued Employee 
Benefits

0

426 (127)

(1,435) Reversal of Current Service Cost, Pension Interest 
Cost and Expected Return on Pension Assets

(1,460)

592 Cash payment to Pension Fund in year 564

(843) (896)

455 Capital Grants taken to Revenue Account 338
(208) Total Adjustments to net surplus or deficit on the 

provision of services for non-cash movements
(1,040)

(259) (576)

117
Adjustments for items included in the net surplus or 
deficit on the provision of services that are Investing 
and Financing activities

444

(142) Net Cash Flows from Operating Activities 19 (132)

41 Investing Activities 20 (118)
0 Financing Activities 0

(101) Net (increase)/ or decrease in cash and cash 
equivalents

(250)

(3,761) Cash and Cash Equivalents at the beginning of the 
reporting period

(3,862)

(3,862) Cash and Cash Equivalents at the end of the 
reporting period 15

(4,112)

Page 51



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                        Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020

20

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

NOTE 1:  Accounting Policies:  

1.1 GENERAL PRINCIPLES

The purpose of the Statement of Accounting Policies is to explain the calculation bases of the figures 
in the accounts.

The accounts have been prepared in accordance with:

 The current year’s Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom (the 
Code) and the Service Reporting Code of Practice as it applies to National Parks.

 The guidance notes issued by CIPFA on the application of International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS’s); International Accounting Standards (IAS’s); Statements of Recommended Practice (SORP)

 The Local Government Finance Act 1982

 The Accounting principles of relevance, reliability, comparability and comprehensibility.

 The basic accounting concepts of materiality, going concern, matching, consistency, primacy of 
legislative requirements, prudence and substance over form.  The concept of the primacy of 
legislative requirements is given precedence over other concepts where there is a conflict.

 1.2 ACCRUALS OF INCOME AND EXPENDITURE

Activity is accounted for in the year in which it occurs, not simply when cash payments are made or 
received.  In particular:

 Revenue from the sales of goods is recognised when the Authority transfers the significant 
risks and rewards of ownership to the purchaser and it is probable that economic benefits or 
service potential associated with the transaction will flow to the Authority.

 Revenue from the provision of services is recognised when the Authority can measure reliably 
the percentage of completion of the transaction and it is probable that economic benefits or 
service potential associated with the transaction will flow to the Authority.

 Supplies are recorded as expenditure when they are consumed – where there is a gap between 
the date supplies are received and their consumption, they are carried as inventories on the 
Balance Sheet.

 Where revenue and expenditure have been recognised but cash has not been received or 
paid, a debtor or creditor for the relevant amount is recorded in the Balance Sheet.  Where 
debts may not be settled, the balance of debtors is reduced and a charge is made to the 
expenditure and income account for the income that might not be collected.

1.3 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash is represented by cash in hand and deposits with financial institutions repayable without penalty on 
notice of not more than 24 hours. Cash equivalents are investments that mature within 3 months or less 
from the date of acquisition and that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with insignificant 
risk of change in value.

In the Cash Flow Statement, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that are 
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Authority’s cash management.

Page 52



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                        Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020

21

1.4 PRIOR PERIOD ADJUSTMENTS, CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND 
ESTIMATES AND ERRORS

Prior period adjustments may arise as a result of a change in accounting policies or to correct a material 
error. Changes in accounting estimates are accounted for prospectively, i.e. in the current and future 
years affected by the change and do not give rise to a prior period adjustment.  

Changes in accounting policies are only made when required by proper accounting practices or the 
change provides more reliable or relevant information about the effect of transactions, other events and 
conditions on the Authority’s financial position or financial performance.

Where a change is made, it is applied retrospectively (unless stated otherwise) by adjusting opening 
balances and comparative amounts for the prior period as if the new policy had always been applied.

Material errors discovered in prior period figures are corrected retrospectively by amending opening 
balances and comparative amounts for the prior period.

1.5   CHARGES TO REVENUE FOR NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Services, and support services are debited with the following amounts to record the cost of holding 
fixed assets during the year:

 Depreciation attributable to the assets used by the relevant service
 Revaluation and impairment losses on assets used by the service where there are no 

accumulated gains in the revaluation reserve against which the losses can be written off
 Amortisation of intangible fixed assets attributable to the service

The Authority is not required to fund depreciation, revaluations and impairment losses or amortisations 
from the revenue grant or levies.  As the Authority is debt-free it is not required to make an annual 
contribution from revenue to reduce its overall borrowing requirement as would otherwise be the case.

1.6   EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
Short-term employee benefits are those due to be settled within 12 months of the year-end.  They 
include such benefits as wages and salaries, paid annual leave and paid sick leave for current employees 
and are recognised as an expense for services in the year in which employees render service to the 
Authority. An accrual is made for the cost of holiday entitlements (or any form of leave, eg time off in 
lieu) earned by employees but not taken before the year-end which employees can carry forward into 
the next financial year. The accrual is made on an estimated basis at the rates of pay applicable in the 
following accounting year, being the period in which the employee takes the benefit. The accrual is 
charged to Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services, but then reversed out through the Movement 
in Reserves Statement so that holiday benefits are charged to revenue in the financial year in which the 
holiday absence occurs.

Termination benefits are amounts payable as a result of a decision by the Authority to terminate an 
officer’s employment before the normal retirement date or an officer’s decision to accept voluntary 
redundancy and are charged on an accruals basis to relevant service line in the Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Statement at the earlier of when the authority can no longer withdraw the offer of those 
benefits or when the authority recognises the costs of a restructuring.

Where termination benefits involve the enhancement of pensions, statutory provisions require the 
Income and Expenditure Account to be charged with the amount payable to the pension fund or 
pensioner in the year, not the amount calculated according to the relevant accounting standards.  In the 
Movement in Reserves Statement, appropriations are required to and from the Pensions Reserve to 
remove the notional debits and credits for pension enhancement termination benefits and replace them 

Page 53



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                        Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020

22

with debits for cash paid to the pension fund and pensioners and any such amounts payable but unpaid 
at the year end.

Post-employment benefits are earned by employees during their working life in return for services 
to their employer.  Employees of the Authority are members of the Local Government Pension Scheme, 
administered by Powys County Council.  The scheme provides defined benefits to members (retirement 
lump sums and pensions) earned as employees work for the Authority and is accounted for as a defined 
benefits scheme.  

The liabilities of the Powys Pension Fund attributable to the Authority are included in the Balance Sheet 
on an actuarial basis using the projected unit method – ie an assessment of the future payments that will 
be made in relation to retirements benefits earned to date by employees, based on assumptions about 
mortality rates, employee turnover rates, etc, and projections of earnings for current employees.
Liabilities used for accounting purposes are calculated using a discount rate set with reference to 
corporate bond yields.  The assets of the Powys pension fund attributable to the Authority are included 
in the Balance Sheet at their fair value. 

 quoted securities – current bid price
 unquoted securities – professional estimate
 unitised securities – current bid price
 property – market value

The change in the net pensions liability is analysed into the following components:

 Service cost comprising:
o current service cost – the99 increase in liabilities as a result of years of service earned this year 

– allocated in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement to the services for which 
the employees worked 

o past service cost – the increase in liabilities as a result of a scheme amendment or curtailment 
whose effect relates to years of service earned in earlier years – debited to the Surplus or 
Deficit on the Provision of Services in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 
as part of Non Distributed Costs 

o net interest on the net defined benefit liability (asset), ie net interest expense for the authority 
– the change during the period in the net defined benefit liability (asset) that arises from the 
passage of time charged to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line of the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement – this is calculated by applying the discount 
rate used to measure the defined benefit obligation at the beginning of the period to the net 
defined benefit liability (asset) at the beginning of the period – taking into account any changes 
in the net defined benefit liability (asset) during the period as a result of contribution and 
benefit payments.  

 Re-measurements comprising:
  the return on plan assets – excluding amounts included in net interest on the net defined 

benefit liability (asset) – charged to the Pensions Reserve as Other Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure

 actuarial gains and losses – changes in the net pensions liability that arise because events have 
not coincided with assumptions made at the last actuarial valuation or because the actuaries 
have updated their assumptions – charged to the Pensions Reserve as Other Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure 

 Contributions paid to the Powys Pension Fund – cash paid as employer’s contributions to the 
pension fund in settlement of liabilities; not accounted for as an expense.

Page 54



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                        Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020

23

In relation to retirement benefits, statutory provisions require the General Fund balance to be charged 
with the amount payable by the Authority to the pension fund or directly to pensioners in the year, not 
the amount calculated according to the relevant accounting standards.  In the Movement in Reserves 
Statement, this means that there are appropriations to and from the Pensions Reserve to remove the 
notional debits and credits for retirement benefits and replace them with debits for the cash paid to the 
pension fund and pensioners and any such amounts payable but unpaid at the year-end. The negative 
balance that arises on the Pensions Reserve thereby measures the beneficial impact to the General 
Reserve of being required to account for retirement benefits on the basis of cash flows rather than as 
benefits are earned by employees.

The Authority also has restricted powers to make discretionary awards of retirement benefits in the 
event of early retirements. Any liabilities estimated to arise as a result of an award to any member of 
staff are accrued in the year of the decision to make the award and accounted for using the same 
policies as are applied to the Local Government Pension Scheme.

1.7   EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
Events after the Balance Sheet date are those events, both favourable and unfavourable, that occur 
between the end of the reporting period and the date when the Statement of Accounts is authorised for 
issue. Two types of events can be identified:

 Those that provide evidence of conditions that existed at the end of the reporting period – the 
Statement of Accounts is adjusted to reflect such events

 Those that are indicative of conditions that arose after the reporting period – the Statement of 
Accounts is not adjusted to reflect such events, but where a category of events would have a material 
effect, disclosure is made in the notes of the nature of the events and their estimated financial effect.

Due to the impact of Covid19 on public authorities and increased economic uncertainty, and the 
national delays in publication, audit and approval of the 2019/20 Statement of Accounts, there is an 
increased risk that adjusting events occur between the publication of the draft Statement and the 
approval of the Audited Statement.

Events taking place after the date of authorisation for issue are not reflected in the Statement of 
Accounts.

1.8  FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION
Where the Authority has entered into a transaction denominated in a foreign currency, the transaction 
is converted into sterling at the exchange rate applicable on the date the transaction was effective. 
Where amounts in foreign currency are outstanding at the year-end, they are reconverted at the spot 
exchange rate at 31 March. Resulting material gains or losses are recognised in the Financing and 
Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 

1.9   GOVERNMENT GRANTS AND CONTRIBUTIONS
Whether paid on account, by instalments or in arrears, government grants and third party contributions 
and donations are recognised as due to the Authority when there is reasonable assurance that the 
Authority will comply with the conditions attached to the payments, and the grants or contributions will 
be received.

Amounts recognised as due to the Authority are not credited to the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement until there is reasonable certainty that conditions attached to the grant or 
contribution have been satisfied. Conditions are stipulations that specify that the future economic 
benefits or service potential embodied in the asset acquired using the grant or contribution are required 
to be consumed by the recipient as specified, or future economic benefits or service potential must be 
returned to the transferor.

Page 55



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                        Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020

24

Monies advanced as grants and contributions for which conditions have not been satisfied are carried in 
the Balance Sheet as Receipts in Advance. When conditions are satisfied, the grant or contribution is 
credited to the relevant service line (attributable revenue grants and contributions) or Taxation and 
Non-Specific Grant Income (non-ringfenced revenue grants and all capital grants) in the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement. 

Where capital grants are credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, they are 
reversed out of the General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement.   Where the grant 
has yet to be used to finance capital expenditure, it is posted to Capital Grants Received in Advance. 
Where it has been applied, it is posted to the Capital Adjustment Account. 

1.10   INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Expenditure on non-monetary assets that do not have physical substance but are controlled by the 
Authority as a result of past events (eg software licences) is capitalised when it is expected that future 
economic benefits or service potential will flow from the intangible asset to the Authority.

Intangible assets are measured initially at cost and carried at amortised cost.  The depreciable amount of 
an intangible asset is amortised over its useful life to the relevant service line(s) in the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement.  An asset is tested for impairment whenever there is an indication 
that the asset might be impaired – any losses recognised are posted to the relevant service line(s) in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or 
abandonment of an intangible asset is posted to the Other Operating Expenditure line in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.

Where expenditure on intangible assets qualifies as capital expenditure for statutory purposes, 
amortisation, impairment losses and disposal gains and losses are not permitted to have an impact on 
the General Reserve. The gains and losses are therefore reversed out of the General Reserve in the 
Movement in Reserves Statement and posted to the Capital Adjustment Account and (for any sale 
proceeds greater than £10,000) the Capital Receipts Reserve.

1.11   INVENTORIES 
These have been included in the accounts at cost. This is a departure from the requirements of the 
CIFPA Code of Practice, which require stocks to be shown at the lower of actual cost or net realisable 
value, whichever is the lower. The difference is not considered to be material.

1.12   LEASES
Leases are classified as finance leases where the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and 
rewards incidental to ownership of the property, plant or equipment from the lessor to the lessee and 
the value of the item of property, plant or equipment leased exceeds the de minimis threshold of 
£10,000 – see item 1.14 below.   All other leases are classed as operating leases.  

Rentals paid under operating leases are charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement as an expense of the services benefitting from use of the leased property, plant or equipment. 
Charges are made on a straight-line basis over the life of the lease, even if this does not match the 
pattern of payments (eg there is a rent-free period at the commencement of the lease).

Where the Authority grants an operating lease over a property or an item of plant or equipment, the 
asset is retained in the Balance Sheet. Rental income is credited to the Other Operating Expenditure 
line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.  Credits are made on a straight-line basis 
over the life of the lease, even if this does not match the pattern of payments (eg there is a premium 
paid at the commencement of the lease). Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging the 
lease are added to the carrying amount of the relevant asset and charged as an expense over the lease 
term on the same basis as rental income.

Page 56



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                        Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020

25

1.13   OVERHEADS AND SUPPORT SERVICES
In accordance with the current CIPFA Code of Practice, the cost of support services is accounted for in 
the same format as presented to Authority Members in the management accounts.  Support services 
and departmental management costs are shown in the department under which they are managed. 

1.14   PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Assets that have physical substance and are held for use in the production or supply of goods or 
services, for rental to others, or for administrative purposes and that are expected to be used during 
more than one financial year are classified as Property, Plant and Equipment.

Recognition
Expenditure on the acquisition, creation or enhancement of Property, Plant and Equipment is 
capitalised on an accruals basis, provided that it is probable that the future economic benefits or 
service potential associated with the item will flow to the Authority and the cost of the item can be 
measured reliably. Expenditure that maintains but does not add to an asset’s potential to deliver future 
economic benefits or service potential (ie repairs and maintenance) is charged as an expense when it 
is incurred.  The Authority has set a minimum level of £10,000 for capitalising expenditure, with the 
exception of land and buildings which are always capitalised. Expenditure below the minimum level is 
treated as revenue. 

Measurement
Assets are initially measured at cost, comprising the purchase price and any costs attributable to 
bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner 
intended by management.  

Assets are then carried in the Balance Sheet using the following measurement bases:

 Infrastructure, community assets and assets under construction: depreciated historical cost.
 All other assets: fair value, determined as the amount that would be paid for the asset in its 

existing use (existing use value).

Where there is no market-based evidence of fair value because of the specialist nature of an asset, 
depreciated replacement cost is used as an estimate of fair value.  Where non-property assets that have 
short useful lives or low values (or both), depreciated historical cost basis is used as a proxy for fair 
value.  Assets included in the Balance Sheet at fair value are revalued sufficiently regularly to ensure that 
their carrying amount is not materially different from their fair value at the year-end, but as a minimum 
every five years.  Increases in valuations are matched by credits to the Revaluation Reserve to recognise 
unrealised gains. 

Where decreases in value are identified, they are accounted for by: 

 where there is a balance of revaluation gains for the asset in the Revaluation Reserve, the carrying 
amount of the asset is written down against that balance (up to the amount of the accumulated 
gains)

 where there is no balance in the Revaluation Reserve or an insufficient balance, the carrying 
amount of the asset is written down against the relevant service line(s) in the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement.

Page 57



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                        Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020

26

The Revaluation Reserve contains revaluation gains recognised since 1 April 2007 only, the date of its 
formal implementation. Gains arising before that date have been consolidated into the Capital 
Adjustment Account.

Impairment
Assets are assessed at each year-end as to whether there is any indication that an asset may be 
impaired. Where indications exist and any possible differences are estimated to be material, the 
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated and, where this is less than the carrying amount of the 
asset, an impairment loss is recognised for the shortfall.
Where impairment losses are identified, they are accounted for by:

 where there is a balance of revaluation gains for the asset in the Revaluation Reserve, the carrying 
amount of the asset is written down against that balance (up to the amount of the accumulated 
gains)

 where there is no balance in the Revaluation Reserve or an insufficient balance, the carrying 
amount of the asset is written down against the relevant service line(s) in the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement.

 where an impairment loss is reversed subsequently, the reversal is credited to the relevant service 
line(s) in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, up to the amount of the original 
loss, adjusted for depreciation that would have been charged if the loss had not been recognised.

Depreciation
Depreciation is provided for on all Property, Plant and Equipment assets by the systematic allocation of 
their depreciable amounts over their useful lives. An exception is made for assets without a 
determinable finite useful life (ie freehold land and certain Community Assets) and assets that are not 
yet available for use (ie assets under construction).  Deprecation is calculated on the following bases:

 dwellings and other buildings – straight-line allocation over the useful life of the property as 
estimated by the valuer

 vehicles, plant, furniture and equipment – straight-line allocation over the useful life of the asset as 
advised by a suitably qualified officer

 infrastructure (rights of way, trails and associated structures – straight-line allocation over the 
useful life of the asset as advised by a suitably qualified officer

In the absence of specific advice, the estimated asset lives used are as follows:

Vehicles and other equipment 5 years
IT equipment 3 years
Community and Infrastructure 
assets

20 years

Intangible Assets 3 years

Where an item of Property, Plant and Equipment asset has major components whose cost is significant 
in relation to the total cost of the item, the components are depreciated separately.

Revaluation gains are also depreciated, with an amount equal to the difference between current value 
depreciation charged on assets and the depreciation that would have been chargeable based on their 
historical cost being transferred each year from the Revaluation Reserve to the Capital Adjustment 
Account.

Disposals and Non-current Assets Held for Sale
When it becomes probable that the carrying amount of an asset will be recovered principally through a 
sale transaction rather than through its continuing use, it is reclassified as an Asset Held for Sale. The 

Page 58



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                        Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020

27

asset is re-valued immediately before reclassification and then carried at the lower of this amount and 
fair value less costs to sell. Where there is a subsequent decrease to fair value less costs to sell, the loss 
is posted to the Other Operating Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement. Gains in fair value are recognised only up to the amount of any previously losses recognised 
in the Surplus or Deficit on Provision of Services. Depreciation is not charged on Assets Held for Sale.

If assets no longer meet the criteria to be classified as Assets Held for Sale, they are reclassified back to 
non-current assets and valued at the lower of their carrying amount before they were classified as held 
for sale; adjusted for depreciation, amortisation or revaluations that would have been recognised had 
they not been classified as Held for Sale, and their recoverable amount at the date of the decision not to 
sell.

Assets that are to be abandoned or scrapped are not reclassified as Assets Held for Sale.  When an 
asset is disposed of or decommissioned, the carrying amount of the asset in the Balance Sheet (whether 
Property, Plant and Equipment or Assets Held for Sale) is written off to the Other Operating 
Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement as part of the gain or loss on 
disposal.  Receipts from disposals (if any) are credited to the same line in the Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Statement also as part of the gain or loss on disposal (ie netted off against the carrying 
value of the asset at the time of disposal). Any revaluation gains accumulated for the asset in the 
Revaluation Reserve are transferred to the Capital Adjustment Account.

Amounts received for a disposal in excess of £10,000 are categorised as capital receipts.   Receipts are 
appropriated to the Reserve from the General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement.  
As the Authority is debt free, 100% of any such receipts can be used to finance new capital expenditure

The written-off value of disposals is not a charge against taxation, as the cost of fixed assets is fully 
provided for under separate arrangements for capital financing. Amounts are appropriated to the Capital 
Adjustment Account from the General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement.

Surplus Assets
Where an asset is no longer being used for operational purposes but is not being actively marketed, 
abandoned or scrapped, it is classified as a surplus asset.  Surplus assets are valued at fair value (ie the 
price which would be received in an orderly transaction between market participants at the 
measurement date.

1.15  CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND CONTINGENT 
ASSETS

Contingent Liabilities
A contingent liability arises where an event has taken place that gives the authority a possible obligation 
whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or otherwise of uncertain future events not 
wholly within the control of the authority. Contingent liabilities also arise in circumstances where a 
provision would otherwise be made but either it is not probable that an outflow of resources will be 
required or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured reliably.

Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the Balance Sheet but disclosed in a note to the accounts 
where they are material.

Contingent Assets
A contingent asset arises where an event has taken place that gives the authority a possible asset whose 
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or otherwise of uncertain future events not wholly 
within the control of the authority.

Page 59



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                        Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020

28

Contingent assets are not recognised in the Balance Sheet but disclosed in a note to the accounts where 
it is probable that there will be an inflow of economic benefits or service potential and they are material.

1.16 RESERVES
The Authority sets aside specific amounts as reserves for future policy purposes or to cover 
contingencies.  Reserves are created by appropriating amounts out of the General Fund Balance in the 
Movement in Reserves Statement. When expenditure to be financed from a reserve is incurred, it is 
charged to the appropriate service in that year to score against the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision 
of Services in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. The reserve is then appropriated 
back into the General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement so that there is no net 
charge against taxation for the expenditure.

Certain reserves are kept to manage the accounting processes for non-current assets, retirement and 
employee benefits and do not represent usable resources for the Authority – these reserves are 
explained in the relevant policies.

1.17 VALUE ADDED TAX
The accounts have been prepared on a VAT exclusive basis, to the extent that it is recoverable.  

NOTE 2:  Accounting Standards Issued and Not Adopted
IAS (International Accounting Standard) 16 relating to the accounting treatment of leases would, if 
implemented, have a material impact on the value of Property, Plant and Equipment recorded on the Balance 
Sheet, as well as the value of Liabilities recorded.  CIPFA has taken the decision to delay implementation of 
the Standard until 1 April 2021.  

Accounting Standards issued and not adopted are:
 Amendments to IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures: Long-term Interests in 

Associates and Joint Ventures
 Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2015-2017 Cycle
 Amendments to IAS19 Employee Benefits: Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement


NOTE 3:  Critical Judgements In Applying Accounting Policies
In applying the Authority’s Accounting Policies, certain judgements have been made involving uncertainty 
about future events.  The critical judgements made in the Statement of Accounts are:

 There is uncertainty about future levels of funding for National Park Authorities in Wales beyond the 
2020/21 financial year.  However, the assumption has been made that the Authority’s principal functions 
will continue and that the Authority will continue to exist as a ‘going concern’.  The most significant 
implication of this is that the Authority’s future liabilities to the Powys Pension Fund will not crystallise in 
the short term and are being met by contribution levels set by the Fund’s actuary.

 
NOTE 4:  Assumptions Made About the Future and Other Major Sources of Estimation 
Uncertainty

The Statement of Accounts contains estimated figures which are based on assumptions made by the Authority 
about the future or are otherwise uncertain.  Estimates are made taking into account historical experience, 
current trends and other relevant factors.  However, because balances cannot be determined with certainty, 
actual results could be materially different from the assumptions and estimates.  The valuation of the 
Authority’s land and buildings took place before the Covid19 pandemic, which may impact on both property 
values and income generation potential at visitor centres.  It is possible that material changes may need to be 
made to the values of both land and operational buildings in the light of experience during 2020/21. 

Page 60



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                        Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020

29Page 61



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                        Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020

30

NO
TE 
5:  

Events after the Balance Sheet date
The Statement of Accounts was authorised for issue by Chief Financial Officer on 31 May 2020. Events 
taking place after this date are not reflected in the Statements or notes. Where events taking place before 
this date provided information about conditions existing at 31 March 2020, the figures in the Statements 
and notes have been adjusted in all material respects to reflect the impact of this information.

NOTE 6:  Adjustments between accounting basis and funding basis under 
Regulations

Item Uncertainties Effect If Actual Results Differ 
From Assumptions

Pensions liability/Asset Estimation of the net liability to pay 
pensions depends on a number of 
complex judgements relating to 
corporate bond yields, the discount 
rate used, projected rates of salary 
increase, changes to the Local 
Government Pension Scheme itself, 
future retirement ages, mortality 
rates and expected returns on 
pension fund assets.  AON Hewitt 
provides the Authority with actuarial 
advice on the assumptions to be 
applied and their effect – see Note 
31.

Changes in assumptions may 
interact in a number of ways but 
may have a large impact on the 
Financial Statement.  The 
accounting standard governing the 
accounting basis for Pension 
Scheme costs is known to cause 
volatility in estimates of assets and 
liabilities between years and hence 
large swings in both the CIES total 
and net assets.  The Powys Pension 
Fund holds a significant proportion 
of growth asset which while 
expected to outperform corporate 
bonds in the long term creates 
volatility and risk in the short term 
in relation to the accounting figures. 
The actual cost of pension benefits 
accrued by current Authority 
employees will not be known for 
many years.

Property, Plant and 
Equipment

Assets are depreciated over useful 
lives that are dependent on 
assumptions about the level of 
repairs and maintenance that will be 
carried out on individual assets.  The 
current economic climate makes it 
uncertain that the Authority will be 
able to sustain its current spending 
on repairs and maintenance, bringing 
into doubt the useful lives assigned 
to assets.  Valuations ascribed to 
Property by the Authority’s valuers 
are affected by market values which 
are substantially dependent on 
economic factors outside the 
Authority’s control.

A reduction in useful life or 
identification of impairment 
increases the charge on the Cost of 
Services and reduces the value of 
assets in the Balance Sheet.  See 
Note 11 for details of depreciation 
and impairment in the year.

Changes in the market value of 
assets may result in the Authority’s 
land and buildings being under- or 
over-valued.  As a result of both the 
economic impact of Covid19 and 
the departure of the UK from the 
European Union, there is 
significantly more uncertainty in 
2019/20 in relation to property 
values, including agricultural land.  
These impacts are potentially 
material but not yet quantifiable.

Page 62



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                        Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020

31

This note details the adjustments that are made to the total comprehensive income and expenditure 
recognised by the Authority in the year in accordance with proper accounting practice to the resources 
that are specified by statutory provisions as being available to the Authority to meet future capital and 
revenue expenditure.  Below is a description of the General Reserve, against which the adjustments are 
made.

General Reserve
The General Reserve is the statutory fund into which all the receipts of an authority are required to be 
paid and out of which all liabilities are to be met, except to the extent that statutory rules might provide 
otherwise.  These rules can also specify the financial year in which liabilities and payments should impact 
on the General Reserve, which is not necessarily in accordance with proper accounting practice.  The 
General Reserve therefore summarises the resources that the Authority is statutorily empowered to 
spend on its services or on capital investment.  Details of the adjustments are provided below.

Page 63



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                        Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020

32

Adjustments between accounting basis and funding basis under Regulations in the year

NOTE 7: TRANSFERS BETWEEN EARMARKED RESERVES AND THE GENERAL FUND

2018/19 2019/20
General 
Reserve

£000

Move- 
ments in 

Unusable 
Reserves

£000

Move-
ments in 

Capital 
Reserves 

£000 

General 
Reserve

£000

Move- 
ments in 

Unusable 
Reserves

£000

Move-
ments in 

Capital 
Reserves 

£000 
Adjustments primarily involving the 
Capital Adjustment Account

(165) 165 Charges for depreciation and impairment 
of non-current assets

(166) 166

0 0 Amounts of non-current assets written off 
on disposal as part of gain/loss on disposal 
shown in CIES

0 0

(81) 81 Revaluation losses on Property, Plant and 
Equipment

(189) 189

455 (455) Capital grants and contributions applied 338 (338)

Insertion of items not debited or 
credited to the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement

3 (3) Capital expenditure charged against the 
General Fund

32 (32)

Adjustments primarily involving the 
Capital Receipts Reserve

0 0 Transfer of cash sale net proceeds credited 
as part of the gain/loss on disposal to the 
CIES and financing of disposal costs and 
financing cost of disposal from Cap Receipt

0 0

Adjustments primarily involving the 
Capital Grants Unappd account

117 (117) Grants received but unapplied in year 
transferred to Capital Grants Unapplied 
Account

431 (431)

Adjustments primarily involving the 
Pensions Reserve

(1,435) 1,435 Reversal of items relating to retirement 
benefits debited or credited to the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement (see NOTE 31) 

(1,460) 1,460

592 (592) Employers’ pension contributions and 
direct payments to pensioners payable in 
the year

564 (564)

Adjustments Primarily involving the 
Accumulated Absences Account

0 0 Amount by which officer remuneration 
charged to the Comprehensive income and 
Expenditure Statement on an accruals basis 
is different from that chargeable in the year 
in accordance with statutory requirements

0 0

514 (631) (117) TOTAL ADJUSTMENTS (450) 881 (431)

Page 64



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                        Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020

33

These reserves are amounts set aside by the Authority out of its revenue resources to meet future costs 
whose timing and extent are uncertain.  They are held until required or until the Authority decides that 
the anticipated costs will not arise, when they can be transferred, via the appropriations account, into the 
General Reserve.  The purposes of the principal earmarked reserves and year-end balances to the nearest 
£1000 are described below.

S106 Affordable Housing Reserve (£297,000)
This reserve has been established to retain S106 sums payable to the Authority in relation 
to property development pending their allocation to applicants for the provision of 
affordable housing.  Affordable Housing receipts which have conditions attached and are 
potentially repayable to the developer have been treated as Receipts in Advance.

National Grid Staffing Reserve (£32,000)
This reserve was set up to receive funding for additional posts in relation to a one-off 
payment from Transco to help mitigate the impact of the construction of a gas pipeline 
across the National Park.  The grant was intended to cover payroll and other associated 
costs for a number of years for a Warden and an Ecologist.  The reserve continues to be 
used to support the work of the Ecology team.  Amounts are transferred into the 
revenue account as required.

Welsh Government Specific Revenue Funding 2017 (£123,000)
This reserve holds the unspent portion of revenue funding for a range of specific projects, 
provided to the Authority in addition to its core grant in 2016/17.  This will facilitate 
reporting on the use of the funding.

Welsh Government Specific Revenue Funding 2018 (£44,000)
This reserve holds the unspent portion of revenue funding for a range of specific projects, 
provided to the Authority in addition to its core grant in 2017/18.  

Welsh Government Specific Revenue Funding 2019 (431,000)
This reserve holds the unspent portion of revenue funding for a range of specific projects, 
provided to the Authority in addition to its core grant in 2018/19.  

Conservation Fund Reserve (£88,000)
Fees received by the Authority from organisations using Authority land for filming, net of 
any related costs, are set aside for use on environmental improvement projects and other 
expenditure to benefit the National Park.

Local Development Plan Enquiry Reserve (£150,000)
The Authority is legally required to publish a Local Development Plan periodically.  This 
involves extensive consultation and data collection, a public enquiry held by an external 
Planning Inspector, and publication costs at intervals of 3-5 years.  Funds were set aside 
each year to help fund these recurring costs.  The current Plan was adopted in 2014 and 
is currently being reviewed.

Tourism and Information Publications Reserve (£23,000)
This fund provides for the cost of refreshing and reprinting Authority information 
publications and is credited with the net income generated by sales of the publications.

Tourism Projects Reserve (£27,000)
The Reserve has been set aside for
 contingencies and exchange rate losses arising from the projects has been reserved for 
use to support future grant bids and tourism initiatives.  

Page 65



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                        Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020

34

Tourism Destination Partnership Reserve (£23,000)
This reserve holds funds received from members of the Sustainable Destination 
Partnership until they are applied on tourism projects for the Partnership.

Legacy receipts Reserve (£134,000)
This new reserve was set up to earmark funding received in the form of bequests until it 
can be appropriately used to benefit the National Park.

Dwr Cymru-Welsh Water Reserve (£15,000)
Funds received from DCWW for agreed programmes of work in water catchment areas 
such as peatland restoration and environmental study and data collection but not yet 
applied have been reserved for use in future years.

Sustainable Development Fund Earmarked Sums (£40,000)
This reserve represents funding commitments agreed by the Grant Allocation Panel but not claimed 
by the grantee at the financial year end.

Black Mountains Land Use Partnership Project Reserve (£31,000)
This reserve is to cover project financial risks in years 3 and 4 arising from the grant claims process 
and the grant scheme’s hypothecation of administrative costs.

Reserve provision for termination costs of temporary project officer posts (£50,000)
Established in recognition of the increasing proportion of employees who are temporarily employed 
for specific projects, to cover potential unfunded expenses incurred at termination of contracts.

Details of the adjustments for the last two financial years are provided below.

B
alance at 

31 M
arch 

2018

T
ransfers 

out

T
ransfers in

B
alance at 

31 M
arch 

2019

T
ransfers 

out

T
ransfers in

B
alance at 

31 M
arch 

2020

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Welsh Government Specific 
revenue grants committed to 

projects 427 (131) 455 751 (153) 0 598

S106/Affordable Housing sums 
received by the Authority but 

not yet applied 31 (2) 181 210 0 87 297

Other Earmarked Reserves 679 (148) 112 643 (157) 146 632
Total 1,137 (281) 748 1,604 (310) 233 1,527

NOTE 8:  Other Operating Expenditure

2018/19
£000

2019/20
£000

Page 66



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                        Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020

35

0 (Gains)/losses on the disposal of non-current assets 0

20 Pension Fund Administration Costs 30

20 Total 30

NOTE 9:  Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure

2018/19
£000

2019/20
£000

220 Interest on Pension Scheme net defined benefit liability 210

(25) Interest receivable and similar income (29)

195 Total 181

NOTE 10:  Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income (see also Note 25 - Total Grant Income)

2018/19
£000

2018/19
£000

2019/20
£000

2019/20
£000

Levies on Constituent Local Authorities

525 Powys County Council 554

131 Carmarthenshire County Council 138

100 Monmouthshire County Council 105

45 Rhondda Cynon Taff County Borough Council 48

36 Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 38

28 Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council 29

27 Torfaen County Borough Council 29

892 941
2,827 Non-Specific Grant Income – National Park Grant 2,827

455 Funding Pressures Grant Income – Welsh Government 0

455 Capital Grants and Contributions applied in year 338

139 Capital Grants and Contributions received 444

4,768 Total 4,550

Page 67



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                        Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020

36

NOTE 11:  Property, plant and equipment

Land and Buildings

V
ehicles, Plant, 

Furniture and 
Equipm

ent

Infrastructure 
A

ssets

C
om

m
unity A

ssets

Surplus A
ssets

A
ssets  under 

C
onstruction

T
otal Property, 

Plant and 
Equipm

ent

Movements in 2019/20 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Cost or Valuation:

At 1 April 2019 5,749 132 1,225 271 0 610 7,987
Rounding Adjustment 2 0 0 (2) 0 0 0
Additions 4 281 149 86 0 92 612

Valuation increases/(decreases) 
recognised in the Revaluation 
Reserve (effective revaluation 
date was 1/4/19)

(36) 0 0 0 0 0 (36)

Valuation increases/(decreases) 
recognised in the surplus/deficit 
on the provision of services*

(245) 0 0 0 0 0 (245)

De-recognition (disposals and 
write-offs)

0 (33) (181) (143) 0 0 (357)

Transfers (assets re-classified) 0 59 0 515 0 (574) 0
At 31 March 2020 5,474 439 1,193 727 0 128 7,961

Accumulated depreciation 
and Impairment
At 1 April 2019 56 56 490 157 0 0 759
Less accumulated depreciation 
written out on 
revaluation/disposals

(56) (33) (181) (143) 0 0 (413)

Depreciation written out to 
the revaluation reserve

10 0 0 0 0 0 10

Depreciation written out to 
the surplus/deficit on the 
provision of services

22 23 96 12 0 0 153

Total depreciation charge 
for the year

32 23 96 12 0 0 163

At 31 March 2020 32 46 405 26 0 0 509
Net Book Value
At 31 March 2019 5,693 76 736 113 0 610 7,228
At 31 March 2020   5,442 393 788 701 0 128 7,452

Page 68



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                        Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020

37

Asset Valuations as at 31 March 2020

Brecon Beacons National park Authority’s freehold and long leasehold properties were valued on 1st 
April 2019 by External Valuers, Chris Hyde MSc MRICS FAAV and Elizabeth Hill BSc MRICS of 
Cooke & Arkwright Chartered Surveyors.  The valuations were in accordance with the requirement 
of the RICS Valuation – Global Standards 2017 (The Red Book) and the International Valuation 
Standards 2017 (IVS) and the RICS Valuation, Globel Standards 2017 – UK national supplement.  
The valuation of each property was on the bases and assumptions:

1.  For Owner Occupied non specialist property plant and equipment: Valued to Existing Use Value 
assuming that the property would continue in existing use.

2. for Owner Occupied specialist property, plant and equipment: Valued to Existing Use Value using 
Depreciated Replacement Cost assuming that the properties would continue in existing use or

3. For investment Properties: Valued to Fair Value assuming that the properties would be sold subject to 
any existing leases.

Gross 
Value as at 
last 
valuation

Land 
and 

Buildings

Vehicles, 
Furniture, 
Plant and 

Equipment
Infrastructure 

Assets
Community 

Assets
Surplus 
Assets

Assets 
under 

Construction TOTAL

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Carried at 
historic cost 0 439 1,193 727 0 128 2,487 
Valued at 
fair value as 
at 1 April 
2019 5,474 0 0 0 0 0 5,474 
TOTAL   5,474 439 1,193 727 0 128 7,961 

Page 69



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                        Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020

38

Land and Buildings

V
ehicles, Plant, 

Furniture and 
Equipm

ent

Infrastructure A
ssets

C
om

m
unity A

ssets

Surplus A
ssets

A
ssets  under 

C
onstruction

T
otal Property, Plant 

and Equipm
ent

Movements in 2018/19 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Cost or Valuation:

At 1 April 2018 4,781 76 1,203 210 0 121 6,391
Rounding adjustment 1 0 0 1 0 0 2

Additions 55 56 22 60 0 489 682
Valuation increases/(decreases) 
recognised in the Revaluation 
Reserve (effective revaluation 
date was 1/4/18)

1,071 0 0 0 0 0 1,071

Accumulated depreciation 
adjustment on revalued assets

(78) 0 0 0 0 0 (78)

Valuation increases/(decreases) 
recognised in the surplus/deficit 
on the provision of services*

(81) 0 0 0 0 0 (81)

At 31 March 2019 5,749 132 1,225 271 0 610 7,987

Accumulated depreciation 
and Impairment
At 1 April 2018 78 48 415 153 0 0 694

Rounding adjustment 0 (1) 2 0 0 0 1

Accumulated depreciation 
written out on revaluation 

(78) 0 0 0 0 0 (78)

Depreciation written out to the 
revaluation reserve

28 0 0 0 0 0 28

Depreciation written out to the 
surplus/deficit on the provision of 
services

28 9 73 4 0 0 114

Total depreciation charge 
for the year

56 9 73 4 0 0 142

At 31 March 2019 56 56 490 157 0 0 759
Net Book Value
At 31 March 2018 4,703 28 788 57 0 121 5,697
At 31 March 2019 5,693 76 736 113 0 610 7,228

Page 70



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                        Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020

39

 ‘** The entries under ‘de-recognition- other’ relate to historic accumulated depreciation for assets which had reached the end of 
their useful lives and has therefore been written out of both the gross asset value and the accumulated depreciation total.  There is 
no impact on the net value of Property, Plant and Equipment shown in the balance sheet.

Depreciation:  All assets except land are depreciated, in line with the Authority’s Statement of 
Accounting Policies.

Capital Commitments:  As at 31 March 2020 the Authority had the following capital commitments.  

Land 
and 

Buildings

    £000

Vehicles, 
Furniture, 
Plant and 

Equipment
     £000

Infra-
structure 

Assets

     £000

Community 
Assets

     £000

TOTAL

    £000

Capital commitments at 
31/3/20

4 261 0 265

Capital commitments at 
31/3/19

0 128 9 36 173

NOTE 12:  Intangible Assets 
2018/19                             

£000
2019/20                             

£000
Intangible 

Assets
Intangible 

Assets 
under 

construction

Intangible 
Assets

Intangible 
Assets under 
construction

Balance at start of year

Gross Carrying amounts 93 0 93 0
Less carrying amount of de-recognised asset 0 0 0 0
Accumulated amortisation (36) 0 (59) 0
Less Accumulated  amortisation on de-
recognised asset

0 0 0 0

Net carrying amount at start of year 57 0 34 0

Additions – Purchases 0 0 0 0
New Intangible Assets under construction 0 0 0 14
Intangible Assets under construction 
transferred to Intangible Assets

0 0 0 0

Amortisation for the period (23) 0 (3) 0
Net carrying amount at end of year 34 0 31 14

NOTE 13: Long-Term Debtors
31 March 

2019
£000

31 March 
2020
£000

Debtors falling due in 3-5 years

Page 71



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                        Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020

40

Other 58 0

Total Debtors falling due in 3-5 years 58 0

Page 72



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                        Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020

41

NOTE 14:  Short-Term Debtors
31 March 2019

£000
31 March 2020

£000
Debtors falling due in less than one year
Central Government Bodies 536 466
Other Local Authorities 18 139

Other 264 140

Total Short-Term Debtors 818 745

NOTE 15:  Cash and Cash Equivalents
 

31March 2019
£000

31March 2020
£000

Cash held by the Authority 2 2

Bank Current Accounts 1,845 2,076

Notice Accounts 2,015 2,034

Total 3,862 4,112

NOTE 16:  Assets Held For Sale

There were no assets held for sale at 31 March 2020 nor at 31 March 2019.  

Note 17:  Creditors
31March 2019

Sundry 
Creditors

31March 2020
Sundry 

Creditors
£000 £000

Central Government Bodies 123 87
Other Local Authorities 111 125

Other Entities and Individuals 591 576

Total 825 788

 
NOTE 18:  Unusable Reserves

31 March 2019 
(£000)

31 March 2020 
(£000)

Revaluation Reserve 3,516 3,470
Capital Adjustment Account 3,732 4,012

Accumulated Absences Account* (63) (63)

Pensions Reserve* (9,081) (10,662)

Total (1,896) (3,243)

‘* negative reserves are established for accounting purposes to balance liabilities set up to comply with 
the CIPFA Accounting Code of Practice requirements relating to pensions and staff benefits.

Page 73



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                        Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020

42

18.1 Revaluation Reserve

The Revaluation Reserve contains the gains made by the Authority arising from increases in the value of its 
Property, Plant and Equipment and Intangible Assets.  The balance is reduced when assets with accumulated 
gains are:

 revalued downwards or impaired and the gains are lost
 used in the provision of service and the gains are consumed through depreciation, or 

disposed of and the gains are realised.

The Reserve contains only net revaluation gains accumulated since it was established on 1 April 2007. 
Accumulated gains arising before that date are consolidated into the balance on the Capital Adjustment 
Account.  

2018/19
£000

2019/20
£000

2019/20
£000

2,473 Balance at 1 April 3,516

1,076 Upward revaluation of assets 603
(5) Downward revaluation of assets and impairment losses not 

charged to the Surplus/Deficit on the Provision of Services
(639)

1,071 Surplus or deficit on revaluation of non-current assets not 
posted to the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services

(36)

(28) Difference between fair value depreciation and historical cost 
depreciation

(10)

0 Accumulated gains on assets sold or scrapped 0
(28) Amount written off to the Capital Adjustment Account (10)

3,516 Balance at 31 March 3,470

Page 74



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                        Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020

43

18.2  Capital Adjustment Account
The Capital Adjustment Account absorbs the timing differences arising from the different arrangements for 
accounting for the consumption of non-current assets and for financing the acquisition, construction or 
enhancement of those assets under statutory provisions.  The Account is debited with the cost of acquisition, 
construction or enhancement as depreciation, impairment losses and amortisations are charged to the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (with reconciling postings from the Revaluation Reserve 
to convert fair value figures to an historical cost basis).  The Account is credited with the amounts set aside 
by the Authority as finance for the costs of acquisition, construction and enhancement.

The Account contains accumulated gains on Property, Plant and Equipment before 1 April 2007, the date that 
the Revaluation Reserve was created to hold such gains.
Note 6 provides details of the source of all the transactions posted to the Account, apart from those involving 
the Revaluation Reserve.

2018/19
£000

2019/20
£000

2019/20
£000

3,267 Balance at 1 April 3,732

Reversal of items relating to capital expenditure debited or credited to 

the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.

(142)  Charges for depreciation and impairment of non-current assets (163)

(81)  Revaluation losses on Property, Plant and Equipment (189)

(23)  Amortisation of intangible assets (3)

0  Revenue Expenditure funded from capital under  statute 0

0
 Amounts of non-current assets written off on disposal or sale 

as part of the gain/loss on disposal to the Comprehensive 

Income and Expenditure Statement

0

(246) (355)

28 Adjusting amounts written out of the Revaluation Reserve 10

(218) Net amount written out of the cost of non-current assets consumed in 

the year.

(345)

Capital financing applied in the year

55  Capital Receipts applied to finance capital expenditure 4

170  Use of the Capital Grants Unapplied Account to finance Capital 

Expenditure

251

455  Capital grants and contributions credited to the 

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement that have 

been applied to capital financing

338

3  Capital expenditure charged against the General Fund 32

683 625
3,732 Balance at 31 March 4,012

Page 75



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                        Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020

44

18.3 Pensions Reserve

The Pensions Reserve absorbs the timing differences arising from the different arrangements for accounting 
for post-employment benefits and for funding benefits in accordance with statutory provisions.  The Authority 
accounts for post-employment benefits in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement as the 
benefits are earned by employees accruing years of service, updating the liabilities recognised to reflect 
inflation, changing assumptions and investment returns on any resources set aside to meet the costs.  
However, statutory arrangements require benefits earned to be financed as the Authority makes employer’s 
contributions to pension funds or eventually pays any pensions for which it is directly responsible.  The debit 
balance on the Pensions Reserve therefore shows a substantial shortfall in the benefits earned by past and 
current employees and in the resources the Authority has set aside to meet them.  The statutory 
arrangements will ensure that funding will have been set aside by the time the benefits come to be paid.  

2018/19 2019/20

(8,858) Balance at 1 April (9,081)
620 Actuarial gains/( losses) on pensions assets and liabilities (1,060)

0 Actuarial Gain reversing MclCloud judgement adjustment made 2018/19 375
(1,435) Reversal of items relating to retirement benefits debited or credited to the 

Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services in the Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Statement

(1,460)

592 Employer’s pension contributions and direct payments to pensioners payable 
in the year

564

(9,081) Balance at 31 March (10,662)

18.4 The Accumulated Absences Account

The Accumulated Absences Account absorbs the differences that would otherwise arise on the General Fund 
Balance from accruing for compensated absences earned but not taken in the year, eg annual leave entitlement 
due but untaken at 31 March.  Statutory arrangements require that the impact on the General Fund Balance is 
neutralised by transfers to or from the Account.  

2018/19
£000

2019/20
£000

(63) Balance at 1 April (63)
0 Net change in Accrual; amount by which officer remuneration charged to the 

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement on an accruals basis is 
different from remuneration chargeable in the year in accordance with 
statutory requirements

0

(63) Balance at 31 March (63)

Page 76



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                        Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020

45

NOTE 19:  Cash Flow Statement: Operating Activities

2018/19
£000

2019/20
£000

2019/20
£000

Cash Inflows from Operating Activities

3,287 Government grants 3,539
892 Levies on Constituent Authorities 941
819 Cash received for goods and services 720
25 Interest received 29

511 Other operating cash receipts 523
5,534 5,752

Cash Outflows on Operating Activities

(3,766) Cash paid to and on behalf of employees (3,786)
(1,626) Other operating cash payments (1,834)
(5,392) (5,620)

142 Net Cash flow on Operating Activities 132

NOTE 20:  Cash Flow Statement - Investing Activities

2018/19
£000

2019/20
£000

(710) Purchase of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets (603)
0 Proceeds from the sale of property, plant and equipment and intangible 

assets
0

669 Other receipts from investing activities (Capital Grants) 721
(41) Net cash flows from investing activities 118

Page 77



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                        Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020

46

NOTE 21:  Subjective Analysis of Authority Expenditure as reported to Management

This note provides further detail of the subjective breakdown of income and expenditure within the 
Authority’s principal departments as recorded the management accounts.   

Departmental Income 
and Expenditure 2019/20

Planning Countryside 
and 

Community

Chief 
Executive’s 

Office

Other* Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Fees, charges and other 
service income

(285) (817) (44) 0 (1,146)

Interest and Investment 
income

0 0 0 (29) (29)

Grants and Contributions 0 (577) (18) 0 (595)

Income from Non-Specific 
Grants and Levies

0 0 0 (3,768) (3,768)

Welsh Specific Grants 0 0 0 (444) (444)

Total Income (285) (1,394) (62) (4,241) (5,982)

Employee expenses 898 1,938 939 0 3,775
Other service expenses 142 1,241 376 32 1,791
Transfers to/(from) reserves 0 0 0 354 354
Net proceeds from asset 
sales

0 0 0 0 0

Total Expenditure 1,040 3,179 1,315 386 5,920

Net Expenditure 755 1,785 1,253 (3,855) (62)

Departmental Income 
and Expenditure 2018/19

Planning Countryside 
and 

Community

Chief 
Executive’s 

Office

Other* Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Fees, charges and other 
service income

(406) (883) (28) 0 (1,317)

Interest and Investment 
income

0 0 0 (25) (25)

Grants and Contributions 0 (375) 0 0 (375)

Income from Non-Specific 
Grants and Levies

0 0 0 (4,313) (4,313)

Total Income (406) (1,258) (28) (4,338) (6,030)

Employee expenses 987 2,095 653 0 3,735
Other service expenses 99 1,197 313 3 1,612
Transfers to/(from) reserves 0 0 0 585 585
Net proceeds from asset 
sales

0 0 0 0 0

Total Expenditure 1,086 3,292 966 588 5,932
Page 78



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                        Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020

47

* Other includes National Park Grant and Levies, Transfers to and from Earmarked reserves, and Interest

NOTE 22:  Members’ Allowances 
The Authority paid the following amounts to members of the Authority during the year.  

2018/19   
£000

2019/20   
£000

 Allowances 104 106
Expenses 14 14
Total 118 120

NOTE 23:  Officers’ Remuneration and termination benefits
The remuneration paid to the Authority’s senior employees who received remuneration (in total or pro-rata) 
of more than £60,000 per for the year is as follows:

Salary Expenses Employer’s 
Pension 

Contribution

Total

£000 £000 £000 £000

2019/20
Chief Executive 77 0 17 94
Delivery Director   
(to 31/12/19)

48 0 11 59

2018/19
Chief Executive 73 0 16 89
Delivery Director (from 
28/1/19)

9 0 2 11

There were no other senior employees receiving remuneration of more than £60,000 per annum (none in 
2018/19).

The annual salary of the Chief Executive Officer as a multiple of the median salary of an Authority employee 
(£26,317) is 3.   (3 in 2018/19 of the median salary of £24,657). 

Termination Benefits
The numbers of exit packages with total cost per band and total cost of the compulsory and other 
redundancies are set out in the table below.   Bands have been combined where required to ensure 
confidentiality.

Exit package cost 
band (including 
special payments)

Number of 
compulsory 
redundancies

Number of other 
departures agreed

Total number of 
exit packages by 
cost band

Total cost of exit 
packages in each 
band 

£ 2018/19 2019/20 2018/19 2019/20 2018/19 2019/20 2018/19
£000

2019/20 
£000

0-60,000 4 1 0 0 4 1 63 14

Net Expenditure 680 2,034 938 (3,750) 98

Page 79



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                        Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020

48

NOTE 24:  External Audit Costs
The Authority has incurred the following costs in relation to the audit of the Statement of Accounts, 
certification of grant claims and statutory inspections provided by the Authority’s external auditors.

Fees payable to external auditors for:
2018/19

£000
2019/20

£000
Financial Audit Fee 27 27
Adjustments and rebates re prior years (3) 0
Performance Audit fee (statutory inspections) 17 17
Total 41 44

NOTE 25:  Grant Income
The Authority credited the following grants, contributions and donations to the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement in the year.

2018/19
£000

2019/20
£000

Credited to Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income
National Park Grant 2,827 2,827

   National Park Capital Grant taken to Revenue 455 338
   National Park Specific Projects Grant 594 444
   Levies – Powys County Council 525 554

Carmarthenshire County Council 131 138
Monmouthshire County Council 100 105

               Rhondda Cynon Taff County Borough Council 45 48
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 36 38
Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council 28 29
Torfaen County Borough Council 27 29

   Total 4,768 4,550
   Credited to Services

EU–funded Grants 400 339
Other Government Grants 22 256
Other Local Authority Grants and Contributions 133 204
Heritage Lottery Fund Grant 115 27
Other Grants 37 129
Donations and Legacies 26 11
Total credited to services 733 966
Total Grants, Contributions and Donations 5,501 5,516

NOTE 26: Related Parties
The Authority is required to disclose material transactions with related parties – bodies or individuals that 
have the potential to control or influence the Authority or to be controlled or influenced by the Authority.  
Disclosure of these transactions allows readers to assess the extent to which the Authority might have been 

Page 80



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                        Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020

49

constrained in its ability to operate independently or might have secured the ability to limit another party’s 
ability to bargain freely with the Authority.

26.1 Central Government
The Welsh Assembly Government has effective control over the general operations of the Authority 
providing the majority of its funding in the form of grants and by determining the total Levy which the 
Authority may make on its Constituent Local Authorities.  It also sets objectives for the Authority by means 
of the Memorandum of Understanding and the annual Strategic Grant Letter.  The Authority’s operations and 
management are also controlled by a statutory framework encompassing a range of legislation which includes 
a definition of its statutory purposes and duty.  Government grant receipts in the years to 31 March 2020 and 
2019 are included in Note 25.

26.2 Members
The 24 Members of the Authority have direct control over the Authority’s financial and operating policies.  
The total of members’ allowances paid in 2018/19 and in 2019/20 is shown in Note 21.  Where members are 
personally affected by decisions made by the Authority they are required to declare an interest and refrain 
from taking part in those decisions and discussions relating to them.  Details of members’ interests are 
recorded in the Register of Members’ Interests, available on the Authority’s website, together with further 
details of expenses paid to Members for the year.   The following material transactions between the Authority 
and parties where Members were in a position of joint control or influence were:-

 Mr Ian Rowat was a member of the Brecon Beacons Park Society which provided contributions to 
Authority’s Gunpowder Works project of £78,000

 Cllr E Durrant held an office as Trustee of Black Mountains College which was in receipt of a 
Sustainable Development Fund Grant of £45,000.

 
26.3 Other Public Bodies
The Constituent Local Authorities, within whose boundaries the Authority’s own boundary runs, contribute 
to the finances of the Authority by means of a statutory levy, determined by the Welsh Assembly 
Government.  Each of these authorities provides a number of Councillors to serve as members of the 
National Park Authority, broadly in proportion to the size of the levy they contribute and their area within 
the National Park.  The authority represented by each member is shown in Appendix 1 of the Statement of 
Accounts.  Grants for specific purposes are also received from or via local authorities and the total of these is 
shown in Note 25.

26.4 Senior Management
The Chief Executive and Directors of the Authority are in a position to influence the Authority’s policies and 
allocation of its resources.  Payments to senior officers with a remuneration of greater than £60,000 per 
annum are identified in Note 23.  All staff are required to declare gifts and hospitality received. A member of 
the Senior Management Team is related to the Artistic Director of Brecon Festival Ballet which received a 
grant of £10,000 from the Authority’s Sustainable Development Fund in 2019/20.  Decisions on the allocation 
of the Fund are overseen by the Grants Panel, supported by the Sustainable Communities team and the 
manager concerned took no part in this process.

26.5 Entities Controlled or Significantly Influenced by the Authority
The Authority gives grants for specific purposes to organisations under the Sustainable Development Fund 
Grant Scheme but it is not considered that the Authority has control, joint control or significant influence 
over the entities assisted.  The Authority has historically given an annual subscription to the Welsh 
Association of National Park Authorities, which exists to promote the interests of the 3 Welsh National 
Parks.  This was £nil in 2018/19 and 2019/20 as contributions were waived.

Page 81



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                        Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020

50

The Authority also contributes to National Parks UK Ltd, a limited company set up to foster collective 
working and raise the profile of the 15 UK National Parks.  The Chairs of all National Park Authorities are 
Directors of the Company.   The company, through the National Parks Portal, provides a vehicle for National 
Park Authorities to jointly procure and fund common web-based resources and IT services such as the 
fileservers and to co-ordinate IT.   In 2018/19 the Authority contributed £2,535 to the Portal and £7,750 to 
National Parks UK Ltd.  In 2019/20 the Company was placed into liquidation and its functions distributed 
between member National Park Authorities.

The Authority made a payment of £10,000, towards the National Parks Partnership in 2018/19.  A further 
payment of £10,000 was made in 2019/20.  This is a Limited Liability Partnership formed by all 15 UK National 
Park Authorities to generate commercial sponsorship and other funding for the benefit of all the Authorities.  
The Chief Executive is one of 10 Board members of the Partnership.

NOTE 27: Capital Expenditure and Capital Financing
The total amount of capital expenditure incurred in the year is shown in the table below, together with the 
resources that have been used to finance it.  If capital expenditure were to be financed in future years by 
charges to revenue as assets were used by the Authority, the expenditure would require a calculation of the 
Capital Financing Requirement.  As the Authority is currently debt-free, this calculation is not required. 

2018/19
£000

2019/20
£000

Opening capital financing requirement 0 0
Capital investment

Property, Plant and Equipment 683 611
Intangible Assets 0 14

683 625
Less: Sources of finance  

Capital Grants Account Applied (170) (251)
 Government grants and other contributions (455) (338)
Capital Receipts Applied (55) (4)
Direct revenue contributions (3) (32)

Closing Capital Financing Requirement 0 0

NOTE 28: Leases

28.1 The Authority as Lessee
Finance Leases:  the Authority currently has no material leases which are classified as finance leases under the 
terms of the CIPFA Code of Practice.  

Operating Leases:  The Authority’s headquarters, some office equipment and its vehicle fleet have been 
acquired under operating leases.  The future minimum lease payments due under non-cancellable leases in 
future years are:

Total Commitments Under Operating 
Leases

31 March                 
2019
£000

31 March                 
2020
£000

Payments within 1 year
Buildings 22 22
Office Equipment 3 0

Page 82



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                        Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020

51

Vehicles 61 56
Total 86 78
Payments 2-5 years

Buildings 37 16
Office Equipment 0 0
Vehicles 160 122
Total 197 138

Payments after 5 years 0 0
Total Commitments 283 216

28.2 The Authority as Lessor
Finance Leases:  the Authority does not lease out property under terms which would be classified as finance 
leases under the terms of the current CIPFA Code of Practice. (There were none in 2018/19)

Operating Leases:  the Authority leases out parts of its premises at the Craig y nos Country Park and the 
National Park Visitor Centre to catering providers, craftspeople and a private tenant.   Due to the impact of 
Covid19, including closedown of the Centres from March, income receivable has been reduced.  In the 
absence of the Covid19 restrictions and closures, the minimum amount receivable would be £4,000 within 1 
year.
 

NOTE 29: Impairment Losses
The CIPFA Code of Practice requires the Authority to disclose any impairment losses or reversals charged to 
the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of services and to Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure.  
These disclosures are consolidated in Notes 11 and 12, reconciling the movement in the year in the Property, 
Plant and Equipment and Intangible Asset balances.

There were no impairments identified during 2019/20 (none in 2018/19).   Land and Buildings were revalued 
as at 1 April 2019 and their asset lives reassessed.  Any changes to asset lives have been taken into account 
when calculating depreciation.

NOTE 30: Termination Benefits
The Authority terminated the contract of 1employee in 2019/20 incurring liabilities of £14,344.  In 2018/19 it 
terminated the contracts of 4 employees incurring liabilities of £62,850.  See also note 23.  

NOTE 31:  Defined Benefit Pension Schemes
As part of the terms and conditions of employment of its officers, the Authority makes contributions towards 
the cost of post-employment benefits.  Although these benefits will not be payable until employees retire, the 
Authority has a commitment to make the payments that must be disclosed at the time when employees earn 
their future entitlement.  In accordance with International Accounting Standards, disclosure of certain 
information concerning assets, liabilities, income and expenditure relating to pension schemes is required.  

FUNDED SCHEMES
The disclosures below relate to the funded liabilities within the Powys County Council Pension Fund (“the 
Fund”) which is part of the Local Government Pension Scheme (the “LGPS”).  The LGPS is a funded defined 
benefit plan with benefits earned up to 31 March 2014 being linked to final salary.  Benefits after 31 March 2014 
are based on a career average revalued earnings scheme.  Details of the benefits to be paid for the period 
covered by this disclosure are set out in the ‘LGPS Regulations 2013’ and the ‘LGPS (Transitional Provisions, 
Savings and Amendment) Regulations 2014’.

Page 83



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                        Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020

52

The funded nature of the LGPS requires Brecon Beacons National Park Authority and its employees to pay 
contributions into the Fund, calculated at a level intended to balance the pension liabilities with investment 
assets.  Information on the framework for calculating contributions to be paid is set out in ‘LGPS Regulations 
2013’ and the Fund’s ‘Funding Strategy Statement’.  In order to calculate the level of contributions required to 
meet its share of the Fund’s liabilities and to obtain the disclosures and calculations required to complete the 
annual Statement of Accounts, the Authority uses the services of a qualified actuary: AON Hewitt Limited.  

The last actuarial valuation was at 31 March 2019 and the contributions to be paid until 31 March 2023 resulting 
from that valuation are set out in the Fund’s Rates and Adjustment Certificate.  The Fund Administering 
Authority, Powys County Council is responsible for the management of the Fund.

The Authority recognises gains and losses immediately in full through entries in ‘Other Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure. International Accounting Standards require disclosure of certain information concerning 
assets, liabilities, income and expenditure relating to pension schemes.  There have been significant changes in 
assets and liabilities as a result of the 2019 actuarial valuation.

The Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic has impacted global financial and property markets.  As a result of the 
volatility in market conditions, the year-end valuation reports provided to Powys Pension Fund include a 
statement that there is a material valuation uncertainty in respect of pooled property investments managed on 
behalf of the pension fund as at 31 March 2020.  The total value of these affected investments as at 31 March 
2020 is £61m, of which £2.074m (3.4%) is attributable to the Authority.

Contributions for the period ending 31 March 2020:  The Authority’s regular contributions to the Fund for the 
accounting period to 31st March 2020 are estimated to be £0.58m. Additional contributions may also become 
due in respect of any employer discretions to enhance members’ benefits in the Fund over the next accounting 
period.  The duration of funded liabilities is 20.6 years.

UNFUNDED PENSION ARRANGEMENTS
Unfunded arrangements arise from termination benefits paid on a discretionary basis upon early retirement in 
respect of member of the LGPS.  Brecon Beacons National Park Authority recognises gains and losses in full, 
immediately through Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure.  The date of the last full actuarial valuation 
of the employer’s LGPS unfunded benefits was 31st March 2019.  In accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards, disclosure of certain information concerning assets, liabilities, income and expenditure 
relating to pension schemes is required.  Contributions for the accounting period ended 31 March 2020: In this 
period, the Authority expects to pay £0.00m directly to beneficiaries.

PENSION FUND ASSETS
The assets allocated to the Employer in the fund are notional and are assumed to be invested in line with the 
investments of the Fund for the purposes of calculating the return to be applied to those notional assets over 
the accounting period.  The Fund is large and holds a significant proportion of its assets in liquid investments.  
As a consequence there will be no significant restriction on realising assets if a large payment is required to be 
paid from the fund in relation to an employer’s liabilities.  The assets are invested in a diversified spread of 
investments and the approximate split of assets for the Fund as a whole (based on data supplied by the 
Administering Authority) is shown in the disclosures split by quoted and unquoted investments.  

The Administering Authority may invest in a small proportion of the Fund’s investments in the assets of some 
of the employers participating in the fund if it forms part of their balanced investment strategy.

RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH THE FUND IN RELATION TO ACCOUNTING
Asset volatility
The liabilities used for accounting purposes are calculated using a discount rate set with reference to corporate 
bond yields.  If assets underperform, this yield will create a deficit in the accounts.  The Fund holds a significant 

Page 84



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                        Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020

53

proportion of growth assets which are expected to outperform corporate bonds in the long term creates 
volatility and risk in the short term in relation to the accounting figures.

Changes in bond yield
A decrease in corporate bond yields will increase the value placed on the liabilities for accounting purposes 
although this will be marginally offset by the increase in the assets as a result.

Inflation risk
The majority of the pension liabilities are linked to either pay or price inflation.  Higher inflation expectations 
will lead to a higher liability value.  The assets are either unaffected or loosely correlated with inflation meaning 
that an increase in inflation will increase the deficit.

Life Expectancy
The majority of the Fund’s obligations are to provide benefits for the life of the member following retirement, 
so increase in life expectancy will result in an increase in the liabilities.

Exiting employers
An employer who leaves the Fund (or their guarantor) may have to make an exit payment to meet any shortfall 
in assets against their pension liabilities.  If the employer (or guarantor) is not able to meet this exit payment, 
the liability may in certain circumstances fall on the other employers in the Fund.  Further, the assets at exit in 
respect of ‘orphan’ liabilities’ may in retrospect not be sufficient to meet the liabilities.  This risk may also fall 
on other employers in the Fund.  ‘Orphan liabilities’ are currently a small proportion of the overall liabilities in 
the Fund.

Key Financial assumptions for funded and unfunded arrangements (% per annum)

31 March 
2018

31 March 
2019

31 March 
2020

Discount rate 2.6 2.4 2.3
CPI Inflation 2.1 2.2 1.9
Pension Increases 2.1 2.2 1.9
Pension Accounts revaluation 
rate

2.1 2.2 1.9

Salary increases 3.6 3.7 3.4

Mortality  assumptions for funded and unfunded arrangements

The mortality assumptions are based on actual mortality experience of members within the Fund based on 
analysis carried out as part of the 2016 valuation and allow for expected future mortality improvements.  Sample 
life expectancies as at 65 resulting from these mortality assumptions are shown below.

Post-retirement mortality
(retirement in normal health)

31 March 
2019

31 March 
2020

Males
Member aged 65 at accounting date 22.4 21.8

Member aged 45 at accounting date 23.7 23.2

Females

Member aged 65 at accounting date 24.8 25.0

Member aged 45 at accounting date 26.2 26.4

Page 85



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                        Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020

54

Asset allocation for funded and unfunded arrangements

Value at 
31/3/2019

Value at 31/3/2020
%

Total Quoted Unquoted Total

Equities 52.5 37.5 6.2 43.7

Property 9.7 9.5 0.0 9.5
Government Bonds 14.7 16.3 0.0 16.3

Corporate Bonds 6.0 6.5 0.0 6.5

Cash 2.1 3.2 0.0 3.2
Other 15.0 18.7 2.1 20.8

Total 100 91.7 8.3 100.0

Reconciliation of funded status to Balance Sheet
Value as at 31 
March 2019

Value as at 31 
March 2020

Fair value of assets 23.03 21.94
Present value of funded defined benefit obligation 31.69 32.55
Pension asset/(liability) recognised on the Balance Sheet as per Actuary (8.66) (10.61)
Accrued payment into the Fund for pension fund strain not included in 
actuary calculation of fair value of assets for the year.

0.00 0.00

Accounting adjustment in relation to the McCloud judgement (see note 
1.6)

0.38 0

Pension asset/(liability) recognised on the Balance Sheet 
(funded liability)*

(9.08) (10.61)

The split of the defined benefit obligation at the last valuation date between the various categories of 
members was as follows:

Active Members 45%
Deferred Pensioners 27%
Pensioners 28%

Amounts recognised in profit and loss and other comprehensive income

Period ending 31 

March 2019
Period ending 31 

March 2020
£m £m

Operating Cost
Current service cost(1) 0.81 0.99
Past service costs 0.03 0.26
Adjustment relating to McCloud judgement to Past 
Service Cost 

0.38 0.00

Settlement cost 0.00 0.00
Financing Cost

Interest on net defined benefit liability 0.22 0.21

Page 86



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                        Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020

55

Pension expense recognised in profit and loss 1.44 1.46

Re-measurement in  Other Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure
Return on plan assets (in excess of)/below that 
recognised in net interest.

(1.30) 1.78

Actuarial (gains)/losses due to changes in financial 
assumptions (Funded Schemes).

1.90 (1.32)

Actuarial (gains)/losses due to changes in financial 
assumptions. (Unfunded Schemes)

0.0 (0.24)

Actuarial (gains)/losses due to changes in demographic 
assumptions.

(1.27) 0.84

Actuarial (gains)/losses due to changes in liability 
experience

0.05 0.00

Total Amount Recognised in Other 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure

(0.62) 1.06

Total Amount Recognised

‘(1) The current service cost includes an allowance for the 
administration expenses of £0.02m in 2019 and £0.03m in 
2020.

0.82 2.52

Page 87



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                        Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020

56

Changes to the present value of defined benefit obligation during the accounting period

Period ending 31 
March 2019

Period ending 31 
March 2020

£m £m
Opening defined benefit obligation 29.69 31.69
Current service cost 0.81 0.99
Interest expense on defined benefit obligation 0.77 0.76
Contributions by participants 0.16 0.17
Actuarial (gains)/losses on liabilities – financial 
assumptions.  Net of adjustment relating to Mc Cloud 
judgement.

2.28 (1.32)

Actuarial (gains)/losses on liabilities – demographic 
assumptions

(1.27) (0.24)

Actuarial (gains)/losses on liabilities – experience 0.05 0.84
Net benefits paid out (0.45) (0.60)
Past service costs including curtailments 0.03 0.26
Net increase in liabilities from disposals/acquisitions 0.00 0.00
Settlements 0.00 0.00
Closing defined benefit obligation 32.07 32.55

Changes to the fair value of assets

Actual return on assets
Period ending 

31 March 
2019
£m

Period ending 
31 March 

2020
£m

Interest Income on assets 0.55 0.55
Re-measurement gains/(losses) on assets 1.30 (1.78)
Actual return on assets 1.85 (1.23)

Reconciliation of unfunded scheme to balance sheet

Value as at 31 
March
2019
(£m)

Value as at 31 
March
2020
(£m)

Present value of defined benefit obligation 0.05 0.00
Asset(/Liability) recognised on the balance sheet (0.05) (0.00)

Period ending 
31 March 2019

£m

Period ending 
31 March 2020

£m

Opening fair value of assets 20.88 23.03
Interest Income on assets 0.55 0.55
Re-measurement gains/(losses) on assets 1.30 (1.78)
Contributions by the employer 0.59 0.57
Contributions by participants 0.16 0.17
Net benefits paid out (0.45) (0.60)
Net increase in liabilities from disposals/acquisitions 0.00 0.00
Settlements 0.00 0.00
Closing fair value of assets 23.03 21.94

Page 88



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                        Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020

57

Amounts recognised in profit and loss and other comprehensive income and expenditure for 
unfunded schemes

Period ending 31 
March 2019

Period ending 31 
March 2020

£m £m

Actuarial (gains)/losses due to liability experience 0.00 (0.05)
Total Amount Recognised 0.00 (0.05)

Changes to the present value of unfunded benefit obligations during the accounting period

Period ending 
31 March 2019

£m 

Period ending 
31 March 2020

£m

Opening unfunded defined benefit obligation 0.05 0.05
Actuarial (gains)/losses due to liability experience 0.00 (0.05)
Closing unfunded defined benefit obligation 0.05 0.00

Estimated pension expense in future periods

Period ending 31 

March 2020
Current service cost 0.96
Interest on net defined benefit liability/(asset) 0.24
Total estimated pension expense 1.20

Allowance for administration expenses included in Current Service Cost: £0.03m
Estimated pensionable payroll over the period: £2.58m

Sensitivity Analysis

The approximate impact of changing the key assumptions on the present value of the funded defined benefit 
obligation at 31 March 2020 and the projected service cost for the period ending 31 March 2021 is set out 
below.  

In each case only the assumption mentioned is altered; all other assumptions remain the same and are 
summarised in Section 1.   

There is no sensitivity analysis of unfunded benefits on materiality grounds.

+0.1% p.a. Base Figure -0.1% p.a.

Discount Rate Assumption
Adjustment to discount rate

Present value of total obligation (£m) 31.85 32.55 33.27
% change in present value of total obligation -2.2 2.2
Projected service cost (£m) 0.93 0.96 0.99
Approximate % change in projected service cost -3.4 3.5

Page 89



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                        Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020

58

Rate of general Increases in salaries 
Adjustment to salary increase rate

+0.1% p.a. Base Figure -0.1% p.a.

Present value of total obligation (£m) 32.64 32.55 32.46

% change in present value of total obligation 0.3 -0.3

Projected service cost (£m) 0.96 0.96 0.96

Approximate % change in projected service cost 0.0 0.0

Rate of increase to pensions in payment, 
deferred pensions assumption and rate of 
revaluation of pension accounts assumption         
Adjustment to pension increase rate

-1 year Base Figure + 1 year

Present value of total obligation (£m) 33.19 32.55 31.92

% change in present value of total obligation 2.0 -1.9

Projected service cost (£m) 0.99 0.96 0.93

Approximate % change in projected service cost 3.5 -3.4

Post retirement mortality assumption   
Adjustment to mortality age rating 
assumption*

-1 year Base Figure + 1 year

Present value of total obligation (£m) 33.59 32.55 31.52

% change in present value of total obligation 3.2 -3.2

Projected service cost (£m) 1 0.96 0.92

 3.8 -3.7

‘* a rating of + 1 year means that members are assumed to follow the mortality 
pattern of the base table for an individual that is 1 year older than they are.

NOTE 32: NATURE AND EXTENT OF RISKS ARISING FROM FINANCIAL 
INSTRUMENTS
The Authority has no financial instruments of its own but its activities expose it to three principal financial risks:

 Credit risk – the possibility that other parties might fail to pay amounts due to the Authority
 Liquidity risk – the possibility that the Authority might not have funds available to meet its commitments 

to make payments
 Market risk – the possibility that financial loss might arise for the Authority as a result of changes in 

such measures as interest rates and stock market movements.

The Authority, being debt-free and placing its surplus funds, in accordance with its Treasury Management 
Strategy, in instantly accessible accounts or on short-term deposit, with a bank which has a very high credit 
rating has minimised its exposure to the risk of failure by another party to repay funds deposited.  

The risk of losses from the failure of customers to pay the Authority is minimised through the Authority’s debt 
management procedures.  The majority by value of the Authority’s debtors are other public bodies which are 
considered to have good credit ratings.  (See Note 13: Debtor Balances and Note 14 Long-Term Debtor 
Balances).

As the Authority has funds in a mixture of immediately accessible bank accounts, short-term deposits and fixed 
notice accounts it has some limited exposure to liquidity risk.  Interest rates and cash balances are regularly 

Page 90



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority                        Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2020

59

reviewed and consideration given to placing further funds on deposit should interest rates become more 
favourable.

The Authority is not exposed to market risk except in relation to its share of the Powys Pension Fund.  See 
Note 31 for further details.  

NOTE 33: CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

None were identified in 2019/20

Page 91



This page is intentionally left blank



Audit of Accounts Report – Brecon 
Beacons National Park Authority 
Audit year: 2019-20

Date issued: September 2020

Document reference: 2128A2020-21

Page 93



This document has been prepared as part of work performed in accordance with statutory functions.

In the event of receiving a request for information to which this document may be relevant, attention 
is drawn to the Code of Practice issued under section 45 of the Freedom of Information Act 2000. 
The section 45 code sets out the practice in the handling of requests that is expected of public 
authorities, including consultation with relevant third parties. In relation to this document, the Auditor 
General for Wales and the Wales Audit Office are relevant third parties. Any enquiries regarding 
disclosure or re-use of this document should be sent to Audit Wales at infoofficer@audit.wales.

We welcome correspondence and telephone calls in Welsh and English. Corresponding in Welsh will 
not lead to delay. Rydym yn croesawu gohebiaeth a galwadau ffôn yn Gymraeg a Saesneg. Ni fydd 
gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi.

Page 94

mailto:infoofficer@audit.wales


Contents

Page 3 of 22 - Audit of Accounts Report – Brecon Beacons National Park Authority

We intend to issue an unqualified audit report on your Accounts. There are some issues 
to report to you prior to their approval.

Audit of accounts report

Introduction 4

Impact of COVID-19 on this year’s audit 4

Proposed audit opinion 6

Significant issues arising from the audit 6

Recommendations 8

Appendices

Appendix 1 – Final Letter of Representation 9

Appendix 2 – Proposed audit report 12

Appendix 3 – Summary of corrections made 16

Appendix 4 – Recommendations 19

Page 95



Audit of accounts report

Page 4 of 22 - Audit of Accounts Report – Brecon Beacons National Park Authority

Introduction
1 We summarise the main findings from our audit of your 2019-20 accounts in this 

report.
2 We have already discussed these issues with the Finance Manager.
3 Auditors can never give complete assurance that accounts are correctly stated. 

Instead, we work to a level of ‘materiality’. This level of materiality is set to try to 
identify and correct misstatements that might otherwise cause a user of the 
accounts into being misled.

4 We set this level at £130,700 for this year’s audit.
5 There are some areas of the accounts that may be of more importance to the 

reader and we have set a lower materiality level for these, as follows: 
 Senior Staff Remuneration - £1,000
 Related Party Transactions - £5,000

6 Although we have completed the majority of our audit work at the time of drafting 
this report, we have yet to complete:
 the final review of our audit file; and
 our final review of the revised 2019-20 financial statements. 

7 The Auditor General appointed 1 September 2020 as the date from which local 
government electors may exercise their rights under sections 30 and 31 of Public 
Audit (Wales) Act 2004 to question the Auditor General about or make objections 
to the accounts for the year ended 31 March 2020. Electors are able to ask 
questions and/or make objections until the Auditor General issues his certificate 
that the audit has been completed. To the date of issue of this report, we have not 
received any questions or objections. We will provide a verbal update on this 
correspondence and the items reported in paragraph 6 above, to the Authority at 
its meeting on 30 November 2020.  

8 In our professional view, we have complied with the ethical standards that apply to 
our work; remain independent of yourselves; and our objectivity has not been 
compromised in any way. There are no relationships between ourselves and 
yourselves that we believe could undermine our objectivity and independence. 

Impact of COVID-19 on this year’s audit 
9 The COVID-19 pandemic has had a significant impact on all aspects of our society 

and continues to do so. You are required by law to prepare accounts and it is of 
considerable testament to the commitment of your accounts team that you have 
succeeded in doing so this year in the face of the challenges posed by this 
pandemic. We are extremely grateful to the professionalism of the team in 
supporting us to complete our audit in such difficult circumstances. 

Page 96



age 5 of 22 - Audit of Accounts Report – Brecon Beacons National Park Authority

10 The pandemic has unsurprisingly affected our audit and we summarise in 
Exhibit 1 the main impacts. Other than where we specifically make 
recommendations, the detail in Exhibit 1 is provided for information purposes only 
to help you understand the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on this year’s audit 
process. 

Exhibit 1 – impact of COVID-19 on this year’s audit

Timetable  The deadline for completing your accounts was changed by 
the Welsh Government from 15 June 2020 to 31 August 2020.

 We received the draft accounts on 23 June 2020.
 Our deadline for completing our audit was changed from 

15 September 2020 to 30 November 2020.
 We expect your audit report to be signed on 30 November.

Electronic 
signatures

The Finance Manager provided an electronic signature, along with 
a supporting e-mail to confirm that she had certified the statement 
of accounts. We will continue to accept the use of electronic 
signatures and electronic transfer of files during the approval and 
signing process.

Audit 
evidence

As in previous years, we received the majority of audit evidence in 
electronic format. We have used various techniques to ensure its 
validity. Where we have been unable to obtain access to paper 
documents because of COVID-19 restrictions, we have devised 
alternative audit methodologies to obtain sufficient audit evidence. 
Specifically:
 officers provided audit evidence to the audit team via e-mail; 

and
 officers were available by video conferencing for discussions.

11 We will be reviewing what we have learned for our audit process from the 
COVID-19 pandemic and whether there are innovative practices that we might 
adopt in the future to enhance that process.  

Page 97



Page 6 of 22 - Audit of Accounts Report – Brecon Beacons National Park Authority

Proposed audit opinion
12 We intend to issue an unqualified audit opinion on this year’s accounts once you 

have provided us with a Letter of Representation based on that set out in 
Appendix 1. 

13 We issue a ‘qualified’ audit opinion where we have material concerns about some 
aspects of your accounts; otherwise we issue an unqualified opinion.

14 The Letter of Representation contains certain confirmations we are required to 
obtain from you under auditing standards.

15 Our proposed audit report is set out in Appendix 2. 
16 Whilst our audit opinion is unqualified, we have included an Emphasis of Matter 

paragraph as per ISA (UK) 706 within our Auditor’s Report. This is in relation to 
material valuation uncertainty disclosed in a pension fund manager’s year-end 
valuation report for the UK property fund they manage on behalf of the Powys 
Pension Fund. The total value of this fund as at 31 March 2020 is £61 million. 
Brecon Beacons National Park Authority’s share of this fund amounts to 
£2.074 million (3.4%). The audit opinion is not modified in respect of this 
matter.

Significant issues arising from the audit

Uncorrected misstatements 
17 There are no misstatements identified in the accounts, which remain uncorrected. 

Corrected misstatements
18 There were initially misstatements in the accounts that have now been corrected 

by management. However, we believe that these should be drawn to your attention 
and they are set out with explanations in Appendix 3.

Other significant Issues arising from the audit
19 In the course of the audit, we consider a number of matters relating to the accounts 

and report any significant issues arising to you. These issues are summarised in 
Exhibit 2:

Page 98



age 7 of 22 - Audit of Accounts Report – Brecon Beacons National Park Authority

Exhibit 2 – significant issues arising from the audit

Significant issues arising from the audit

Material uncertainty in 
relation to pension 
property assets 

I have requested that the Authority sets out in Note 31 
additional narrative to disclose the material uncertainty in 
relation to pension property assets.
The Authority has included the additional narrative disclosure.
I have also drawn the reader’s attention to this disclosure in an 
emphasis of matter paragraph in my audit report. 
My opinion is not modified in respect of this matter. 

Quality review of the 
financial statements and 
information available for 
audit

This year has been a particularly difficult year for the Authority 
and for the audit. The closure of the Authority’s offices has 
impacted on the financial statement preparation process 
meaning the accounts were understandably available for audit 
later than originally planned. 
Whilst the accounts were presented in accordance with an 
amended timetable agreed with the Finance Manager, we have 
concerns about the Authority’s arrangements for review of the 
draft accounts and of the information required for the audit.
The accounting statements are complex with many items cross 
referenced from one part of the accounts to another. It is 
important that the accounting statements presented for audit 
are subject to a proper quality review process to ensure they 
are internally consistent and all arithmetic and cross 
referencing is correct.
Unfortunately, this year, we identified that the draft accounts 
contained numerous minor errors that required additional audit 
input to address. While this is to some degree a consequence 
of the difficulties experienced due to COVID19, the Authority 
does not have an appropriate quality review arrangement in 
place. 
We also identified issues with information available to support 
the related party disclosures. We routinely request copies of 
members’ declarations of interests as part of the audit of 
related parties. In recent years, we have encountered 
difficulties in obtaining the evidence we require, often because 
members have not completed declaration of interests returns. 
This again results in additional audit input being required. 

Page 99



Page 8 of 22 - Audit of Accounts Report – Brecon Beacons National Park Authority

Recommendations 
20 The recommendations arising from our audit are set out in Appendix 4.

Page 100



Appendix 1

Page 9 of 22 - Audit of Accounts Report – Brecon Beacons National Park Authority

Final Letter of Representation
[Insert proposed Letter of Representation]

[Authority’s letterhead]
Auditor General for Wales
Audit Wales 
24 Cathedral Road
Cardiff
CF11 9LJ

   November 2020

Representations regarding the 2019-20 financial statements
This letter is provided in connection with your audit of the financial statements of the 
Brecon Beacons National Park Authority for the year ended 31 March 2020 for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on their truth and fairness and their proper preparation.
We confirm that to the best of our knowledge and belief, having made enquiries as we 
consider sufficient, we can make the following representations to you.

Management representations

Responsibilities
We have fulfilled our responsibilities for: 
 the preparation of the financial statements in accordance with legislative 

requirements and the CIPFA Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the 
UK 2019-20; in particular the financial statements give a true and fair view in 
accordance therewith; and

 the design, implementation, maintenance and review of internal control to prevent 
and detect fraud and error.

Information provided
We have provided you with:
 Full access to:

‒ all information of which we are aware that is relevant to the preparation of 
the financial statements such as books of account and supporting 
documentation, minutes of meetings and other matters;

Page 101



Page 10 of 22 - Audit of Accounts Report – Brecon Beacons National Park Authority

‒ additional information that you have requested from us for the purpose of the 
audit; and

‒ unrestricted access to staff from whom you determined it necessary to 
obtain audit evidence.

 The results of our assessment of the risk that the financial statements may be 
materially misstated as a result of fraud.

 Our knowledge of fraud or suspected fraud that we are aware of and that affects 
the Brecon Beacons National Park Authority and involves:
‒ management;
‒ employees who have significant roles in internal control; or
‒ others where the fraud could have a material effect on the financial 

statements.
 Our knowledge of any allegations of fraud, or suspected fraud, affecting the 

financial statements communicated by employees, former employees, regulators or 
others.

 Our knowledge of all known instances of non-compliance or suspected 
non-compliance with laws and regulations whose effects should be considered 
when preparing the financial statements.

 The identity of all related parties and all the related party relationships and 
transactions of which we are aware.

Financial statement representations
All transactions, assets and liabilities have been recorded in the accounting records and 
are reflected in the financial statements.
Significant assumptions used in making accounting estimates, including those measured 
at fair value, are reasonable.
Related party relationships and transactions have been appropriately accounted for and 
disclosed.
All events occurring subsequent to the reporting date which require adjustment or 
disclosure have been adjusted for or disclosed.
All known actual or possible litigation and claims whose effects should be considered 
when preparing the financial statements have been disclosed to the auditor and 
accounted for and disclosed in accordance with the applicable financial reporting 
framework.
The financial statements are free of material misstatements, including omissions. 
There are no uncorrected misstatements identified during the audit.  

Page 102



age 11 of 22 - Audit of Accounts Report – Brecon Beacons National Park Authority

Representations by the Authority
We acknowledge that the representations made by management, above, have been 
discussed with us.
We acknowledge our responsibility for the preparation of true and fair financial 
statements in accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework. The financial 
statements were approved by the Authority on 30 September 2020.
We confirm that we have taken all the steps that we ought to have taken in order to make 
ourselves aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that it has been 
communicated to you. We confirm that, as far as we are aware, there is no relevant audit 
information of which you are unaware.

Signed by: Signed by:

Elaine Standen
Section 151 Officer Chair of National Park Authority

Date: Date: 

Page 103



Appendix 2

Page 12 of 22 - Audit of Accounts Report – Brecon Beacons National Park Authority

Proposed audit report of the Auditor General to 
Brecon Beacons National Park Authority 

The independent auditor’s report of the Auditor General for 
Wales to the Members of Brecon Beacons National Park 
Authority

Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion
I have audited the financial statements of the Brecon Beacons National Park Authority for 
the year ended 31 March 2020 under the Public Audit (Wales) Act 2004. 
Brecon Beacons National Park Authority’s financial statements comprise the Movement 
in Reserves Statement, the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, the 
Balance Sheet, the Cash Flow Statement and the related notes, including a summary of 
significant accounting policies. 
The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable 
law and the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2019-
20 based on International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs).
In my opinion the financial statements: 
 give a true and fair view of the financial position of Brecon Beacons National Park 

Authority as at 31 March 2020 and of its income and expenditure for the year then 
ended; and

 have been properly prepared in accordance with legislative requirements and the 
Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2019-20.

Basis for opinion

I conducted my audit in accordance with applicable law and International Standards on 
Auditing in the UK (ISAs (UK)). My responsibilities under those standards are further 
described in the auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section 
of my report. I am independent of the Authority in accordance with the ethical 
requirements that are relevant to my audit of the financial statements in the UK including 
the Financial Reporting Council’s Ethical Standard, and I have fulfilled my other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. I believe that the audit evidence I 
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion.

Page 104



age 13 of 22 - Audit of Accounts Report – Brecon Beacons National Park Authority

Emphasis of matter - effects of COVID-19 on pension fund property fund 
asset valuations

I draw attention to Note 31 of the financial statements, which describes the impact of a 
material uncertainty disclosed in a pension fund manager report in their year-end 
valuation report for the UK property fund they manage on behalf of the Powys Pension 
Fund. The Authority has disclosed this material uncertainty and my audit opinion is not 
modified in respect of this matter.

Conclusions relating to going concern

I have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the ISAs 
(UK) require me to report to you where:
 the use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial 

statements is not appropriate; or
 the responsible financial officer has not disclosed in the financial statements any 

identified material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt about the 
Authority’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting for a 
period of at least 12 months from the date when the financial statements are 
authorised for issue.

Other information

The responsible financial officer is responsible for the other information in the statement 
of accounts. The other information comprises the Narrative Report and the Annual 
Governance Statement. My opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other 
information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated later in my report, I do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with my audit of the financial statements, my responsibility is to read the 
other information to identify material inconsistencies with the audited financial statements 
and to identify any information that is apparently materially incorrect based on, or 
materially inconsistent with, the knowledge acquired by me in the course of performing 
the audit. If I become aware of any apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies, I 
consider the implications for my report.

Report on other requirements

Opinion on other matters

In my opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of my audit:
 the information contained in the Narrative Report for the financial year for which the 

financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements and 
the Narrative Report has been prepared in accordance with the Code of Practice 
on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2019-20; and

Page 105



Page 14 of 22 - Audit of Accounts Report – Brecon Beacons National Park Authority

 the information given in the Governance Statement for the financial year for which 
the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements 
and the Governance Statement has been prepared in accordance with guidance. 

Matters on which I report by exception

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the Authority and its environment 
obtained in the course of the audit, I have not identified material misstatements in the 
Narrative Report or the Governance Statement.
I have nothing to report in respect of the following matters, which I report to you, if, in my 
opinion:
 proper accounting records have not been kept;
 the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and 

returns; or
 I have not received all the information and explanations I require for my audit.

Certificate of completion of audit

I certify that I have completed the audit of the accounts of the Brecon Beacons National 
Park Authority in accordance with the requirements of the Public Audit (Wales) Act 2004 
and the Auditor General for Wales’ Code of Audit Practice.

Responsibilities

Responsibilities of the responsible financial officer for the financial 
statements

As explained more fully in the Statement of Responsibilities for the Statement of 
Accounts, the responsible financial officer is responsible for the preparation of the 
statement of accounts, which give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the 
responsible financial officer determines is necessary to enable the preparation of 
statements of accounts that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error.
In preparing the statement of accounts, the responsible financial officer is responsible for 
assessing the Authority’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, 
matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless 
deemed inappropriate. 

Page 106



age 15 of 22 - Audit of Accounts Report – Brecon Beacons National Park Authority

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements 
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to 
issue an auditor’s report that includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level 
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs 
(UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise 
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they 
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 
basis of these financial statements.
A further description of the auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial 
statements is located on the Financial Reporting Council's website 
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of my auditor’s report.

Adrian Crompton 24 Cathedral Road
Auditor General for Wales Cardiff
30 November 2020  CF11 9LJ 

Page 107

https://www.frc.org.uk/auditors/audit-assurance/auditor-s-responsibilities-for-the-audit-of-the-fi/description-of-the-auditor%E2%80%99s-responsibilities-for


Appendix 3

Page 16 of 22 - Audit of Accounts Report – Brecon Beacons National Park Authority

Summary of corrections made
During our audit we identified the following misstatements that have been corrected by 
management, but which we consider should be drawn to your attention due to their 
relevance to your responsibilities over the financial reporting process.

Exhibit 3: summary of corrections made

Value of 
correction

Nature of correction Reason for correction

£338,000 Reclassification of Welsh 
Government related debtors as 
Central Government debtors.

Correction of 
misclassification as 
‘other’ debtors.

£87,034 Reclassification of s106 
agreement receipts as income 
received and set aside as an 
earmarked reserve rather than 
classified as a receipt in 
advance.

Correction of 
misclassification of s106 
agreement receipts.

£89,000 Reclassification of property, 
plant & equipment note 11  

Correction of 
presentation of 
revaluation figures 
within Note 11

£33,000 Depreciation adjustment Impact of correcting in 
year the 2018-19 audit 
uncorrected 
misstatements

£14,000 Reclassification of Assets 
Under Construction in Note 11 
& 12

Correction to move 
Intangible Asset Under 
Construction from Note 
11 Property, Plant & 
Equipment into Note 12 
Intangible Assets

Page 108



age 17 of 22 - Audit of Accounts Report – Brecon Beacons National Park Authority

Value of 
correction

Nature of correction Reason for correction

N/A Additional disclosures on 
related party transactions in 
note 26.2.

Inclusion of transactions 
with related parties 
linked to authority 
members

N/A Correction of stated accounting 
policy on write-off of assets 
with a net book value of less 
than £10,000,

To ensure the stated 
accounting policy 
reflects proper 
accounting practice and 
the practice adopted by 
the Authority.

N/A Inclusion of additional 
disclosures related to 
revaluation of property, plant 
and equipment.

To ensure disclosures 
comply with the 
requirements of the 
CIPFA accounting code.

N/A Reversal of entries in Note 27 
Capital expenditure and capital 
financing.

To correct 
misclassification of 
balances.

Various Amendment of cash flow 
statement entries.

Correction of 
calculations for 
movements in cash 
flows arising from other 
adjustments.

Various Correction of various 
comparative figures throughout 
the accounts.

To ensure that the 
comparative amounts 
disclosed agree with the 
audited 2018-19 
accounts.

N/A Minor adjustments to notes to 
address rounding and 
arithmetic errors. We have not 
listed these items as the 

To ensure consistency 
within the accounting 
statements and notes.

Page 109



Page 18 of 22 - Audit of Accounts Report – Brecon Beacons National Park Authority

Value of 
correction

Nature of correction Reason for correction

amounts involved have been 
classified as trivial.

N/A Minor narrative revisions and 
disclosure amendments. We 
have not listed these items as 
the amounts involved have 
been classified as trivial.

To improve clarity of the 
financial statements.

Page 110



Appendix 4

Page 19 of 22 - Audit of Accounts Report – Brecon Beacons National Park Authority

Recommendations
We set out all the recommendations arising from our audit with management’s response 
to them. We will follow up these next year and include any outstanding issues in next 
year’s audit report:

Exhibit 4: Matter arising 1

Matter arising 1 

Findings The Authority should establish a formal quality review 
process of the draft accounting statements to ensure 
that the accounts presented for audit are internally 
consistent and that all arithmetic and cross-
references are correct.

Priority [High/Medium/Low]

Recommendation [Where a recommendation contains more than one 
element and might be accepted by management in 
part only, consider creating separate 
recommendations for the accepted and non-accepted 
elements.]

Benefits of 
implementing the 
recommendation

[Briefly describe the benefits eg, improved controls; 
cash savings; efficiencies, etc.]

Accepted in full by 
management

[Yes/No]

Management response [This should explain what management plans to do.]

Implementation date

Page 111



Page 20 of 22 - Audit of Accounts Report – Brecon Beacons National Park Authority

Exhibit 5: Matter arising 

Matter arising 2 

Findings The Authority should ensure that all members 
complete the required annual declaration of interests 
returns issued by the Democratic Services team.

Priority [High/Medium/Low]

Recommendation [Where a recommendation contains more than one 
element and might be accepted by management in 
part only, consider creating separate 
recommendations for the accepted and non-accepted 
elements.]

Benefits of 
implementing the 
recommendation

[Briefly describe the benefits eg, improved controls; 
cash savings; efficiencies, etc.]

Accepted in full by 
management

[Yes/No]

Management response [This should explain what management plans to do.]

Implementation date

Page 112



Page 113



Audit Wales
24 Cathedral Road
Cardiff CF11 9LJ

Tel: 029 2032 0500
Fax: 029 2032 0600
Textphone: 029 2032 0660

E-mail: info@audit.wales
Website: www.audit.wales
We welcome correspondence and 
telephone calls in Welsh and English. 
Rydym yn croesawu gohebiaeth a 
galwadau ffôn yn Gymraeg a Saesneg.

Page 114

mailto:info@audit.wales
http://www.audit.wales/


Auditor General for Wales
Audit Wales 
24 Cathedral Road
Cardiff
CF11 9LJ

27 November 2020

Representations regarding the 2019-20 financial statements

This letter is provided in connection with your audit of the financial statements of the 
Brecon Beacons National Park Authority for the year ended 31 March 2020 for the purpose 
of expressing an opinion on their truth and fairness and their proper preparation.
We confirm that to the best of our knowledge and belief, having made enquiries as we 
consider sufficient, we can make the following representations to you.

Management representations
Responsibilities
We have fulfilled our responsibilities for: 
 the preparation of the financial statements in accordance with legislative requirements 

and the CIPFA Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the UK 2019-20; in 
particular the financial statements give a true and fair view in accordance therewith; 
and

 the design, implementation, maintenance and review of internal control to prevent and 
detect fraud and error.

Information provided
We have provided you with:
 Full access to:

‒ all information of which we are aware that is relevant to the preparation of the 
financial statements such as books of account and supporting documentation, 
minutes of meetings and other matters;

Page 115



‒ additional information that you have requested from us for the purpose of the 
audit; and

‒ unrestricted access to staff from whom you determined it necessary to obtain 
audit evidence.

 The results of our assessment of the risk that the financial statements may be 
materially misstated as a result of fraud.

 Our knowledge of fraud or suspected fraud that we are aware of and that affects the 
Brecon Beacons National Park Authority and involves:
‒ management;
‒ employees who have significant roles in internal control; or
‒ others where the fraud could have a material effect on the financial statements.

 Our knowledge of any allegations of fraud, or suspected fraud, affecting the financial 
statements communicated by employees, former employees, regulators or others.

 Our knowledge of all known instances of non-compliance or suspected 
non-compliance with laws and regulations whose effects should be considered when 
preparing the financial statements.

 The identity of all related parties and all the related party relationships and 
transactions of which we are aware.

Financial statement representations

 All transactions, assets and liabilities have been recorded in the accounting records 
and are reflected in the financial statements.

 Significant assumptions used in making accounting estimates, including those 
measured at fair value, are reasonable.

 Related party relationships and transactions have been appropriately accounted for 
and disclosed.

 All events occurring subsequent to the reporting date which require adjustment or 
disclosure have been adjusted for or disclosed.

 All known actual or possible litigation and claims whose effects should be considered 
when preparing the financial statements have been disclosed to the auditor and 
accounted for and disclosed in accordance with the applicable financial reporting 
framework.

 The financial statements are free of material misstatements, including omissions. 

 There are no uncorrected misstatements identified during the audit.  

Page 116



Representations by the Authority
We acknowledge that the representations made by management, above, have been discussed 
with us.
We acknowledge our responsibility for the preparation of true and fair financial statements 
in accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework. The financial statements 
were approved by the Authority on 30 September 2020.
We confirm that we have taken all the steps that we ought to have taken in order to make 
ourselves aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that it has been 
communicated to you. We confirm that, as far as we are aware, there is no relevant audit 
information of which you are unaware.

Signed by: Signed by:

Elaine Standen
Section 151 Officer 

Cllr Gareth Ratcliffe
Chair of National Park Authority

Date: 27 November 2020 Date: 27 November 2020

Page 117



This page is intentionally left blank



Draft Corporate Plan 2021-22

Name of 
Committee

Brecon Beacons National Park Authority

Date 27 November 2020

Report Author Julian Atkins

Job title Chief Executive

Contact Details Julian.Atkins@beacons-npa.gov.uk

Purpose of Report To seek Members’ feedback on the content and new format 
of the Authority’s Corporate Plan.

Why the report is 
before you

The Corporate Plan is a key document for the Authority as it 
sets out how we intend to deliver against our purposes and 
our duty each year.  Having taken on board comments from 
Members in relation to previous versions of the Corporate 
Plan, officers have developed the Plan to a new format which 
sets out our ambition and the work we intend to pursue in 
2021-22 both as in internal document but as one which we 
can share with partners and stakeholders. Member’s views 
on the content and format are sought so that the plan can be 
refined and a final version brought back for consideration at 
the NPA meeting on February 12th

Single Integrated 
Assessment

An SIA will be completed as part of the final report to 
Members.

List of Enclosures Enclosure 1 – Draft Corporate Plan 2021-22

Public Interest Test Not applicable.

Recommendation(s) Members are asked to:

a) Note progress with the Draft Corporate Plan and to 
suggest any improvements to the format and content,

b) Comment on any obvious omissions or gaps in the draft 
plan.

Page 119

Agenda Item 8



1.1 Introduction

1.1.1 The Financial Year 2021-22 will mark the first time in recent years that the Authority is 
not required to produce a Corporate Plan which conforms to the requirements of the 
Local Government Measure as Welsh Government are moving to repeal the measure in 
so far as National Park Authorities are concerned by March 31st, 2021. 

1.1.2 In the absence of any replacement guidance from either Welsh Government or Audit 
Wales, the Authority has a much greater degree of latitude in relation to the Corporate 
Plan for 2021-22 and officers have taken the opportunity to overhaul the content, 
format and appearance of the Plan to make it shorter, more appealing, more engaging 
and more readable.  In doing so we have reviewed some of the Corporate Plans 
produced by colleague National Park Authorities to identify examples of good practice.

1.2 Proposals

1.2.1 Corporate Plan 2021-22 marks a significant departure from the Plans which have 
preceded it for the reasons set out above and officers would welcome Members input 
to the new format and approach to content.

1.2.2 The Plan is not without its challenges.  It falls at a transition point between NPMP15-20 
and NPMP21-26 and as such is having to bridge the gap between the two, with the latter 
not yet sketched out sufficiently to help inform the focus for Corporate Plan 2021-22 as 
an Annual Plan which is delivering the objectives of NPMP21-26.

1.2.3 For this reason, Officers have constructed Corporate Plan 2021-22 as Year 0 to the 
cycle of Corporate Plans which will run successively from Year 1 to Year 4 within the 
overall framework set by NPMP21-26.

1.2.4 Officers have also sought to make the Corporate Plan relevant and place it in the social 
and political context of today while at the same time reconnecting the plan to our roots 
as a National Park in a UK context.

1.2.5 The Corporate Plan has been aligned to the 3 Work Programmes established under the 
Change Programme plus a fourth strand to incorporate organisational activity aligned to 
the change programme itself. And the content in terms of priorities, projects and 
actions has been kept short in order to retain our clarity of purpose. Further work is 
required to ensure that progress against the priorities, projects and actions can be 
reported with confidence and this will be incorporated into the monitoring framework 
for the final Plan.

1.2.6 Members will note that the vision has been further refined so that it defines where the 
Authority is seeking to get to more clearly and more succinctly, rather than how we 
intend to get there, and Members’ views are sought on this as a refinement.

Page 120



1.3 Implications

1.3.1 The intention behind Corporate Plan 2021-22 is that it is a document for use both 
internally with Members and staff, but also as a vehicle for engaging with stakeholders 
and prospective partners/funders.

1.3.2 The Plan includes a forward investment plan for the first time, details of which will be 
finalized once the budget settlement is known.  In this first year the priority is to create 
additional staff capacity to enable existing resources to be freed up for redeployment to 
the new project based way of working established by the Change Programme. The 
investment plan also includes funding to bolster our Nature Recovery work and to 
enable the Invasive Non-Native species work to continue.  Additional provision is also 
provided for further IT investment and to support initial work aligned to digital 
transformation opportunities. 

1.4 Risk

1.4.1 At this stage the Draft Corporate Plan is not without risk. Uncertainties around Covid-
19 remain and confirmation of the National Park Grant for 2021-22 is  not likely to be 
communicated until mid to late December at the earliest.  As drafted, the Plan is based 
on a standstill budget for next year. It is also possible that the Welsh Government 
Elections next May could result in a shift in policy emphasis for National Parks as ‘Valued 
and Resilient’ (the Priorities Statement for Wales’ Designated Landscapes) was 
conceived to run to the end of the current term and Welsh Government officials have 
already signaled their intention to review it.

1.5 Conclusion

1.5.1 The Draft Corporate Plan presented here represents a significant departure from 
previous editions and officers have sought to respond to the comments and feedback 
made in relation to Member’s aspirations for the Corporate Plan and future plans.  
Officers would welcome Members views on how the Plan can be refined and improved 
further before the final version is brought back to Members for approval in February.

RECOMMENDATION:

Members are asked to:

a) Note progress with the Draft Corporate Plan and to suggest any 
improvements to the format and content,

b) Comment on any obvious omissions or gaps in the draft plan

Page 121



This page is intentionally left blank



Corporate 
Plan
2021/2022

April 2021

#BeTheChangeBreconBeacons

Brecon Beacons
NATIONAL PARK

#BodYNewidBannauBrechieniog

Page 123



This is the annual Corporate 
Plan for the Brecon Beacons 
National Park Authority. 
 
It sets out our route map as an 
organisation in delivering our 
purposes and duty for the 
coming 12 months, set in the 
context of developing our new 
National Park Management Plan 
for 2021-2026 
 
As well as defining the work and 
projects we intend to undertake 
this is also a plan which seeks to 
improve our effectiveness as an 
organisation. 

Page 124



Foreword 

Welcome to our corporate plan for the coming year.  
 
2020 was a year of significant challenges for the Authority. We started the 
year embarking on a challenging programme of reorganisation only to 
quickly find our working worlds transformed over night.  Not only did our 
staff have to deal with the personal difficulties of life in lockdown, but we 
were also forced overnight into operating our business from our collective 
kitchen tables. Not only was this hard enough but we also faced the heart-
breaking task of closing our wonderful park to visitors.  When we were able 
to embrace visitors  in July, people flocked to our National Park. Our 
Wardens and seasonal staff had one of the busiest summers in living 
memory. 
 
We are determined to apply the lessons from last year’s challenges and to 
energise our staff to meet the challenges of 2021 and beyond.  We aim to 
do this by refocusing our efforts on the collective development of our new 
Management Plan, to ensure it meets the challenges that are to come.  
 
The Corporate Plan starts to take some of that thinking forward.

Cllr Gareth 
Ratcliffe 
Chair of the 
National 
Park 
Authority 

Julian Atkins
Chief 
Executive 
Officer

Liz Davis 
Deputy 

Chair of the 
Authority  

Page 125



Few national purposes are more vital or 
more rich in promise of health and 
happiness than the provision of large, 
open and beautiful tracts of country in 
which holidays can be freely and 
inexpensively enjoyed. 
 
National Parks are not for any privileged 
or otherwise restricted section of the 
population, but for all who care to refresh 
their minds and spirits and to exercise 
their bodies in a peaceful setting of 
natural beauty.  

Brecon Beacons National Park 
A Landscape for Everyone

The Brecon Beacons National Park is one of a 
family of fifteen National Parks in the UK. Our 
collective task is to manage these special 
landscapes for public benefit and for future 
generations.
 
 National Parks are in a true and full 
sense national. This does not mean 
that local interests are to be disregarded; the 
well-being of those who live and work within 
the National Park is always a first 
consideration.  The architect of their creation in 
the UK, John Dower, said this in 1945 about their 
value for all of us: -
 
 
 

The National Park Authority is the body which is 
charged by law to look after the National Park. In 
doing so we are given two special purposes:-
 

This founding ethos remains central to the work of 
the Authority and frames the objectives 
established within this plan.
 
The Brecon Beacons received formal designation 
as a National Park in 1957.
 
Our boundary covers some 520 square miles of 
beautiful countryside. Our border extends from the 
rural heartland of Mid Wales in the north to the 
post-industrial ex-mining communities of the 
South Wales Valleys while also spanning from the 
Marches in the east to the fringes of West Wales. 
We are currently home to about 33,000 people.
 

To conserve and enhance the natural beauty, 
wildlife and cultural heritage of the National Park; 
and
 
To promote opportunities for the public 
understanding and enjoyment of the special 
qualities of the National Park 

The law also states that in carrying out our 
purposes we must also 

Seek to foster the economic and social 
wellbeing of local communities within the 
National Park.

We must carry out our duty without incurring 
significant cost and in partnership with key bodies.
 
The Authority is made up of 105 employees. 
Decisions are made by the Park Board which is 
comprised of 18 members, 12 of whom are local 
Authority councillors, and 6 of whom are 
appointed by the Welsh Government

Page 126



Photo credit: Getty Images

 
 

Future challenges 
2020 was a year like no other. It become the 
year in which the political, social and economic 
context underwent seismic shifts. As the world 
went into a series of lockdowns, we saw a clear 
articulation of renewed priorities. People started 
calling for a different kind of future, one which 
addressed the existential issues of climate 
change, biodiversity loss and fundamental rights 
of equality. 
 
2020 was also the year that we published our 
latest State of the Park Report and this in places 
made for difficult reading.
 
It found that over half of the Park’s Special Areas 
of Conservation are in unfavourable condition 
(56%); that only 10% of SSSIs are under 
appropriate management; that there had been 
a 20-30% decline in farmland birds during the 
monitoring period; only 50% of the Park’s rivers 
were in good ecological status when the target is 
100% and that there was a 50% decline in the 
numbers of red list species from 1995-2018.
 
2020 was also the year of storm Dennis - a 
weather event of such devastation, we are still 
dealing with the consequences over 12 months 
later. Climate scientists tell us that such events 
will only become more frequent and more 
intense if we do not take decisive action now on 
climate change.  We have a legal obligation to 
reach net zero by 2050 but action needs to 
happen now.
 
And finally 2020 was also the year where the Park 
produced its newest Strategic Equality Plan for 
the Authority, which identified significant issues 
of equity facing the Authority and the Park, 
including a lack of diversity within our workforce, 
the lack of diversity within our visitors, the impact 
of nature deficit disorder on those without 
physical access to green space, and the 
intergenerational challenges facing the area as 
a result of Brexit and Climate change. 
 
This corporate plan has been drafted from a 
position firmly rooted in our origins but also 
alive to these current challenges, and with a 
sense of urgency to act decisively now for the 
sake of the future.
 
 

Page 127



Page 128



Implementing our vision 

This corporate plan defines the key areas of 
work for our three strategic priorities and for 
our organisation for the coming year. 
Our focus here is deliberately strategic, 
defining only those key work programmes 
and elements of core work which will form 
the frame around which we can build the 
detail of our day to day work.
 
Ordinarily we would take our lead for such 
strategic priorities from our Management 
Plan. However the Park’s current 
Management Plan is over 10 years old, and 
the new Management Plan (NPMP21) is in 
production. Our Corporate Plan this year 
therefore focuses on mediating that 
transition between the two phases of 
Management Plans. As a result our 
aspirations are firmly focused in laying the 
ground work for implementing the new plan 
over the coming five year cycle of NPMP21. 
For the above reasons we view this 
Corporate Plan as the strategic direction for 
year zero in that cycle.
 
As well as being a period of transition in 
terms of policy, this plan also seeks to 
transition our organisation to a new way of 
working guided by a new management 
structure. We acknowledge that our staff 
body have found the past twelve months 
challenging and this year is the opportunity 
to focus on building back strength and trust 
within our organisation.
 

Our business planning and reporting framework

YEAR ZERO 
The corporate Plan is not a stand alone 
document.  Each focal area is supported 
by a detailed action plan which sets out 
detailed work programmes for the coming 
year.  Our Monitoring framework (including 
our integrated risk assurance framework) 
defines our targets and indicators of 
success for each work stream. Each year 
we report on our performance against our 
corporate plan in our Annual Report.  The 
findings of which in turn influence our next 
year's Corporate Plan..

Photo Credit:  Peter Fry ARPS

Page 129



Strategic Priorities
Landscape and Nature Recovery

To re-establish  a connected 
network of species rich and 
resilient landscape across the 
Brecon Beacons 

Key
priorities We will

Nature 
Recovery

Deliver nature recovery by protecting and enhancing 
species diversity in all the work of the Authority.

Restoring 
Uplands and 
woodlands

We will work through our partnerships to increase 
woodland cover and improve the ecological quality of 
our uplands thereby enhancing habitats on a 
landscape scale

Enhancing 
lowland and 
freshwater 
environments

Work with partners to co-ordinate action to improve 
water quality in the Wye and Usk catchments 

Projects We will

INNS Build our Invasive Non Native Species project into a long 
term programme.

Woodlands Work with the Woodlands Trust, Coed Cymru, NRW and 
others to develop a woodland delivery for the Park

Networks Continue our work on ecological networks mapping.

BMLUP Support the Black Mountains Land Use Partnership in 
developing a sustainable future for the Partnership

Uplands

Work with NRW and others in contributing to the 
Peatlands Action Programme for Wales and develop an 
Upland Ecosystems Pilot proposal 
 
Participate in the Welsh Peatlands Research Network if 
funding is secured

Lowlands and 
Freshwater

Support the Beacons Water Group to develop project 
ideas 
 
Work with NRW,  Herefordshire and Powys County 
Councils, the Wye and Usk Foundation, and others to 
develop solutions to water quality issues in our principal 
catchments

Monitoring Invest in the Vital Signs project and seek further funding 
for it

Core Work We will

LNP Continue to develop, support and be active partners in 
the Local Nature Partnership

NRAP Implement the NRAP work programme

Habitat and 
species 
monitoring

Continue to monitor key indicator species and habitats 
within the Park to inform future policy making.

Our aspirations for this year 
 

We will have defined a 
strategy to increase 
woodland cover  and 
have an informed policy 
target for NPMP21.

 
We will have a prioritised 
action plan for working 
with partners to improve 
key features within the 
Park’s SACs  and have an 
informed policy target for 
NPMP21

 
We will have a prioritised 
action plan to restore the 
Park's peatland and have 
an informed policy target 
for NPMP21.

 

Page 130



Spatial focus and budget 
proportion 

River Wye 
Nutrient 
Management 
Plan 

INNS project 
focusing on Usk 
Valley 

Black 
Mountain 
Land Use 
Partnership

Proportion of total budget dedicated to landscape and nature recovery

Landscape and naturerecovery

To be determined following 

budget settlement

Page 131



Strategic Priorities
Community and rural enterprise

We will have developed 
updated Place Plan 
Guidance  for use with 
NPMP21 and  LDP2.

 
We will have developed 
a carbon reduction 
strategy and have an 
informed target for 
NPMP21 Policy.

 
We will have developed 
a 'Supporting Farming 
in Transition' Position 
Statement to inform 
NPMP21 policy and 
action.

 
 

To help people living and 
working in the Brecon Beacons 
benefit from sustainable 
livelihoods  and green 
infrastructure 

Key
Priorities  We will  

Decarbonisation 
Establish a decarbonisation programme to reduce  the 
carbon footprint of the Authority and support 
community decarbonisation initiatives.

Sustainable 
Farming 

Supporting the development of local food production 
and the transition towards net zero farming.

Place Planning  Continue to work with communities to develop Place 
Planning.

Skills and 
Training

Support National and local training opportunities as part 
of Wales Green Recovery Programme

Sustainable 
Economy 

Deliver a programme of actions to support Sustainable 
Tourism in line with our Sustainable Economy policy 
and working with the Destination Partnership  

Projects  We will 

Carbon Literacy  
Design and deliver  an Authority led Carbon  Literacy 
programme to communities, schools and organisations 
across the  National Park 

Kickstart 
Scheme

Develop a work placement programme with the 
Authority for 6 young people (18-24) supporting the 
Kickstart scheme 

The Brecon 
Beacons Food 
Project

Engage with the food, farming and tourism sectors to 
deliver a local food project if funding is approved 

Brecon Beacons 
Mega 
Catchment 

Supporting the implementation of the Taf Fechan 
Landscape & Community Project 

Core Work  We will 

SDF 
Help communities to develop and implement carbon 
reducing projects, including financial support secured 
with green growth funding from the Welsh Government

LDP Policy  Develop enabling policy related to decarbonisation, 
community resilience and farm diversification

Community 
Development 

Enabling communities to improve their environment  
through Place Plans, covering nature recovery, health 
and well-being, affordable housing and sustainable 
transport initiatives.

Our Aspirations for this year

Page 132



Spatial focus and budget 
proportion 

Taf Fechan 
Landscape and 
Community 
Project

Proportion of total budget dedicated to Community and Rural
Enterprise

Community and Rural Enterprise

To be determined following 

budget settlement

Page 133



Strategic Priorities
Inspiring People and Places

To help diverse groups of 
people access, enjoy and 
understand the heritage, 
places and special qualities of 
the National Park 

Key
Priorities  We will 

Accessing the 
Park for health 
and well-being 

Work with organisations to enable people to benefit 
from the natual environment and make positive 
contributions to nature recovery

Quality visitor 
experiences 

Work with Visit Wales to build on  their Year of Outdoors 
campaign and the Wales Way to enhance visitor 
experiences through the provision of high quality 
interpretation and information

Enhanced 
Historic 
Environment 

Work with key partners to ensure that the condition 
and understanding of our Historic Environment is 
enhanced.

Awareness of 
Welsh 
Language and 
Culture 

Develop the Ambassador programme to promote 
Welsh language and culture and complete the 
Atlantic Culturescape project

Projects  We will 

Waterfall 
Country

Address the multiple pressures within this visitor 
hotspot to improve outcomes for the visitor experience, 
nature and community wellbeing

Canals, 
Communities 
and Well-
Being

Deliver access improvements, biodiversity 
enhancements and community engagement  on the 
Brecon and Monmouthshire Canal  for the partnership  
ENRaW project  with Powys County Council  and Canal 
and Rivers Trust

A470 corridor  Complete the first phase of feasibility work into a Park 
and Ride service for the A470 corridor 

HEAP 
Develop a partnership approach to the management 
of the Historic Environment culminating in an agreed 
action plan for the National Park

Core Work  We will 

Covid-19 

Secure additional resources to manage and absorb 
visitor pressures at our visitor hotspots. 
Deliver environmental, carbon and visitor 
management messages through social media, 
website, print and PR

Visitor 
Experiences 

Enhance visitor experiences through the deployment of 
tools produced through the Atlantic Geoparks,   
Culturescape and Wales Way projects

SDF
Use our SDF fund to deliver the Heritage in Places grant 
together with other social inclusion and health & well-
being projects

Our aspirations for this year 
We will understand the 
feasibility of developing a Park 
and Ride for the A470 Corridor 
and have a plan in place to take 
recommendations forward.

 
Our Historic Environment 
Partnership (HEP) will be 
established and key priorities for 
the NPMP21 developed.  The 
Historic Environment Action Plan 
(HEAP) will be published for 
consultation.

 
We will have created a steering 
group and framework for the 
Waterfalls Country Plan and 
have an agreed timescale for 
adoption.

 
We will have progressed a 
programme of work to make the 
National Park more accessible 
for more people.

 
 
 
 Page 134



Spatial focus and budget 
proportion 

A470 Visitor 
Pressure Project

Proportion of total budget dedicated to Inspiring People and Places

Inspiring People and Places

Brecon and 
Monmouthshire 
canal 
ENRaW project

Waterfalls 
Country

Geopark and 
Culturescapes

To be determined following 

budget settlement

Page 135



Strategic Priorities
A resilient organisation.

To develop a confident, secure 
and respected organisation 
empowered to embrace new 
challenges

Key
Priorities We will

Organisational 
Effectiveness

Undertake a Member Survey and implement a 
Member/Officer training programme & Implement the 
recommendations of Audit Wales’ Resilience Audit.

Change 
Programme

Undertake a review of staff structures as appropriate 
following completion of the first phase of the Change 
Programme AND Complete the review of Planning 
Services

Stakeholder 
Engagement

Be building stronger relationships with stakeholders to 
achieve our ambitions

Projects We will
Board 
Effectiveness

Complete and implement key findings of the review of 
Board Effectiveness

Project Boards Implement the new Project Board structures and 
review how they are working after 6 months

Core Work We will
LDP Deliver a sound replacement LDP by December 2022

NPMP Collaborate with partners on a replacement 
Management Plan for the period 2021-2026

Planning
Deliver a professional planning service, which 
delivers our policy objectives in a timely and efficent 
manner

Volunteer Service Increase our capacity to support volunteering 
opportunities and co-ordinate the work they do

Tracking 
performance

Introduce a new and simpler Performance Reporting 
framework

Communications  We will review and align all of our brand and 
communications work

Education We will deliver a service that supports the work of 
the Authority's main programmes of work/plans: 

Diversity and 
Inclusion

work with partners and organisations to ensure 
equalilty of access to the National Park.

Our Aspirations for this year
 

We will have made 
clear progress in 
delivering the 
objectives of the 
Change Programme.

 
Project Boards 
structures for our key 
projects will be 
established and 
operational

 
We will have 
conducted a staff and 
member survey and 
developed an action 
plan to address any 
identified issues.

 
We will have developed 
our new reporting 
system to track 
performance.

 
NPMP21 will have been 
adopted and LDP2 will 
have been submitted 
to Welsh Government 
for examination.

To be determined following 

budget settlement

Page 136



 
 

Future Investment
Implementation of this Corporate Plan requires the Authority to invest more resources to 
enable it to move to the new way of working envisioned by the Change Programme.
 
 

Photo credit: Peter Fry ARPS

The Plan set out below assumes a standstill budget 
for 2021-22 and is based on funding from the 
following sources:
 

£444k additional funding from Welsh 
Government to support work through to the 
end of 2021-22 
£300k from the Authority’s General Reserve

 
 
 
 
 

The Plan provides additional resources to 
support the Authority’s Nature Recovery 
work and Invasive Non Native Species 
project to continue.  It provides additional 
resources to enable the Authority to 
welcome visitors back to the Park in similar 
numbers to 2020. And it enables the 
Authority to increase its support for our 
volunteers.  
 
 
 2021-22 2022-23 2023-24

Landscape & Nature Recovery £/K £/K £/K
Increased project staff capacity 108 45 45

Project funding 75 25 25

Monitoring 20 20 20

    

Community and Rural Enterprise    

Increased project staff capacity 30 30 30

    

Inspiring People and Places    

Increased project staff capacity 30 30 30

Post-Covid pressures 75   

Access for All 50   

    

Resilient Organisation    

Information Technology & Digital Transformation 30   

Communications 26   

TOTALS 444 150 150

To be determined following budget settlement

Page 137



Risk to implementation of Corporate Plan 21/22

Reduction in staff resources as a 
result of further budget pressures

 
Lack of buy in from partners

 
Impact of Climate Change events on 

planned work programmes 
 

Lack of clarity over our budget 
for 2021-22

 
Policy change as a result of 

Welsh Government Elections in 
May 2021

 
Loss of Strategic Planning 
function if Corporate Joint 

Committees are formed under 
new legislation.

 
 

COVID resurgence 
and continued 

uncertainty
 
 

Significant risk

Manageable 
risk 

Page 138



Ode to The Peaks  
 

At home I learnt religion,  
Nature’s landscape of is my faith.  

 
The rocks, holy relics,  

From the wood the root of our prayer.  
 

The birds sing God’s verse,  
A gentle hymn, balm to my ears.  

 
The red kite is the statue above,  

The cross above my church.  
 

My baptism is like velvet,  
In the lakes or in the streams.  

 
Annual flowers, their miracles,  

Discernible resurrection.  
 

I will praise and adore,  
The saints of the hills around me.  

 
Father and Son and Holy Spirit,  

Cribyn, Corn Du, Pen y Fan.  
 
 
 

 Rhys Jones 
Translated from the original Cynghanedd

 
 
 
 

Page 139



This page is intentionally left blank



Integrated Sustainability Appraisal of the Brecon Beacons 
National Park Management Plan and Local Development Plan.

Name of 
Committee

Brecon Beacons National Park Authority

Date 27 November 2020

Report Author Chris O’Brien

Job title Senior Planning Officer (Policy)

Contact Details christopher.obrien@beacons-npa.gov.uk

Purpose of Report To seek authorisation to consult upon proposals.

Why the report is 
before you

The Authority has to be able to demonstrate that its Plans 
and Policies are aligned with the principles of sustainability 
and do not inadvertently impact the environment, economy 
or people in a negative way. We are therefore required to 
undertake an integrated sustainability appraisal of the NPMP 
and LDP.

Single Integrated 
Assessment

Not applicable.

List of Enclosures Enclosure 1 - Single page summary

Enclosure 2 - Replacement Baseline Scoping Report 2020

Public Interest Test Not applicable.

Recommendation(s) Either:

a) To approve consultation on the report detailed at 
Enclosure 2; 

OR,

b) That the Authority delegates the Chief Executive in 
consultation with the Chair of the Authority and the 
Chair of Policy Forum to approve a revised Replacement 
Baseline Scoping Report 2020 for consultation following 
further work.

Page 141

Agenda Item 9



1.1 Introduction or Background

1.1.1 The Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes (Wales) Regulations 2004 (as 
amended) (“the regulations”) set out a statutory process for the preparation of a broad 
range of plans and programmes which are likely to have significant effects on the 
environment. 

1.1.2 Following NPA decision 155/18, consultation was undertaken on a Sustainability 
Appraisal Scoping Report for the Sustainability Appraisal (SA) incorporating SEA of the 
Brecon Beacons National Park Management Plan (NPMP) & Local Development Plan 
(LDP) (“the 2018 Scoping Report”). 

1.1.3 When preparing the preferred strategy for the LDP in 2019, it became apparent that it 
was both difficult in practice and resources intensive to report an assessment based on 
the methodology of the 2018 Scoping Report. 

1.2 Proposals

1.2.1 Although the requirement at this stage is to consult Natural Resources Wales and Cadw 
only, it is proposed that the report detailed at Enclosure 2, the Replacement Baseline 
Scoping Report 2020 (“the 2020 Scoping Report”), will also be made available on the 
Authority’s website for a 5-week public consultation. 

1.3 Implications

1.3.1 In response to opinions received, a decision will be needed on whether to amend the 
2020 Scoping Report.

1.4 Risk

1.4.1 The 2020 Scoping Report is to be issued for consultation purposes. It seeks to minimise 
the risk of delay to the preparation of the Brecon Beacons National Park Management 
Plan and Local Development Plan. 

1.5 Conclusion

1.5.1 It is a procedural requirement to consult Natural Resources Wales and Cadw on the 
scope and level of detail of the environmental report. This presents an opportunity to 
undertake a broader public consultation for which a decision of the Authority is needed.

RECOMMENDATION:

Either:

Page 142



a) To approve consultation on the report detailed at Enclosure 2; 

OR,

b) That the Authority delegates the Chief Executive in consultation with the 
Chair of the Authority and the Chair of Policy Forum to approve a revised 
Replacement Baseline Scoping Report 2020 for consultation following 
further work.

Page 143



This page is intentionally left blank



Environmental Assessment of 
Plans and Programmes (Wales) 
Regulations 2004

(k)cultural heritage, including architectural 
and archaeological heritage

(j)material assets

(i)climatic factors

(h)air

(c)human health; 

(d)fauna

e)flora

(f)soil

(g)water

(a)biodiversity

Environmental 
Report - Likely 

significant 
effects

Environmental report for 
the National Park 
Management Plan and  
Local Development Plan.

(b)population 

(l)landscape 

Issues Report - State of the Park Report - Monitoring projects -
Research Prospectus - Position Statements - Assessment
Methodologies - Review of Plans and Programmes

P
age 145



T
his page is intentionally left blank



The scope and level of detail of the information to be included in the 
‘Environmental Report’ of:

 The Brecon Beacons National Park Management Plan 2020 – 2025.

 The Brecon Beacons National Park Local Development Plan 2018 – 2033.

November 2020.

Page 147



2

1. Introduction and overview

1.1 Applying the Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes (Wales) Regulations 2004 (“the 
regulations”), the Brecon Beacons National Park Authority (“the NPA”) as the responsible authority 
has determined that an ‘Environmental Report’ is required for the following Plans:
 The Brecon Beacons National Park Management Plan 2020 – 2025 (“NPMP”)
 The Brecon Beacons Local Development Plan 2018 – 2033 (“LDP”)

1.2 Regulation 12 (5) of the regulations requires the NPA to consult with Natural Resources Wales 
(“NRW”) and Cadw when deciding on the scope and level of detail of the information to be included 
in an ‘Environmental Report’.

1.3 A detailed consultation with NRW and Cadw on the scope and level of detail of the information to be 
included in the ‘Environmental Report’ was undertaken in 2018. 

1.4 There is a wide range of practice guidance and literature on the process of undertaking Strategic 
Environmental Assessment and preparing Environmental Reports. During plan making, scope is provided 
for iterative (repetitive) improvements to be made to the assessment process.

1.5 Given significant changes since the initial consultation was undertaken and having found the 
methodology set in 2019 unable to keep pace with these changes, the NPA is consulting on a 
replacement scoping report.

1.6 Whilst seeking greater flexibility for undertaking assessments so that they may keep pace with ever 
improving knowledge and methods of assessment; this report provides greater definition of the plans 
to be assessed and thereby the parameters of the assessment.

1.7 The aim of these changes is to facilitate an improved environmental assessment and plan making process.

2. Geographical extent

2.1 The Brecon Beacons National Park (as defined by designation order 1957 (as amended)) will be the 
geographical extent of the report. On the geography, natural resources, historic environment and 
people of the National Park, a wealth of books, reports and scientific papers have been written. On the 
environment, the Brecon Beacons, Collins New Naturalist Library Book 126, and for historic 
environment, Pevsner Architectural Guides and publications of the Royal Commission on the Ancient 
and Historical Monuments in Wales provide a fantastic introduction to the landscape of the National 
Park. Although now dated, the Brecon Beacons National Park published by Her Majesty’s Stationary 
Office still provides the authoritative guide to the National Park.

Page 148



3

3. Defining the plans for which an Environmental Report will be prepared

 Place in the hierarchy and the extent to which certain matters are more appropriately 
assessed at different levels in that process in order to avoid duplication of the assessment;

 Status of the plan or programme in the decision-making process;

 Objectives for the plans;

 Scope for reasonable alternatives;

 Contents and level of detail of plans.

The Brecon Beacons National Park Management Plan 2020 – 2025

3.1 Having previously published a National Park Management Plan (“NPMP”), the NPA has discharged its 
duty under S66(1) of the Environment Act 1995. Under this Act, the NPA is required to review its 
NPMP at intervals of not more than five years and follow specified preparation requirements when 
doing so.

3.2 Notwithstanding these requirements, the NPA has broad powers to do anything which, in the opinion 
of the authority, is calculated to facilitate, or is conducive or incidental to the accomplishment of the 
national park purposes; or the carrying out of any functions conferred on it by virtue of any other 
enactment.

3.3 Under these powers, the NPA has determined it appropriate to prepare, and publish afresh, a NPMP.

3.4 The NPMP is the appropriate level at which to assess the objectives and policies for the National Park.

“…the National Park Management Plan is of national importance. National Park 
Management Plan objectives and policies therefore prevail over regional and local 
policy as it is delivered in the National Parks.”1 

“The central role of the Management Plan is to guide the delivery of the National Park 
purposes and Section 62(1) duty, assisted by the NPAs statutory planning function.”2

3.5 The NPMP is also important in guiding other relevant authorities which have a duty to “have regard to” 
the purposes of the National Parks and the ‘Sandford Principle’ when carrying out their work. 

3.6 The new NPMP will be prepared within the context of Valued and Resilient: The Welsh Government’s 
Priorities for Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty and National Parks3 and the NPA’s change 
programme.

3.7 As the central role of the NPA is to take the action needed to put into practice the purposes of the 
National Park, the NPA’s Wellbeing Objectives will also be used in its framing. These are expressed in 
the Corporate Plan 2020/21: 

The National Park is recognised as an important place for the recovery of nature and the 
wellbeing of people. To that end:

o People will benefit from the Park’s resilient landscapes, full of flourishing 
wildlife and valued heritage

o People will be able to access, understand and enjoy what makes the Park 
special

1 Page 26, National Park Management Plans Guidance 2007 https://www.pembrokeshirecoast.wales/wp-
content/uploads/2019/05/National-Parks-Management-Plans-Guideance-English-2007.pdf 
2 Page 4, National Park Management Plans Guidance 2007 https://www.pembrokeshirecoast.wales/wp-
content/uploads/2019/05/National-Parks-Management-Plans-Guideance-English-2007.pdf
3 Available at: https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-04/areas-outstanding-natural-beauty-
national-parks-2018-report%20.pdf 

Page 149

https://www.pembrokeshirecoast.wales/wp-content/uploads/2019/05/National-Parks-Management-Plans-Guideance-English-2007.pdf
https://www.pembrokeshirecoast.wales/wp-content/uploads/2019/05/National-Parks-Management-Plans-Guideance-English-2007.pdf
https://www.pembrokeshirecoast.wales/wp-content/uploads/2019/05/National-Parks-Management-Plans-Guideance-English-2007.pdf
https://www.pembrokeshirecoast.wales/wp-content/uploads/2019/05/National-Parks-Management-Plans-Guideance-English-2007.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-04/areas-outstanding-natural-beauty-national-parks-2018-report%20.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-04/areas-outstanding-natural-beauty-national-parks-2018-report%20.pdf


4

o People living and working in the Park will benefit from strong communities, 
sustainable livelihoods, healthy lifestyles and widespread decarbonisation.

3.8 Although a member of more than one Public Service Board, the NPA has elected not to discharge its 
sustainable development duty, namely the setting and publishing of well-being objectives, through Local 
Well-being Plans.

3.9 Welsh National Parks are also recognised as Category V protected areas on the World Database of 
Protected Areas and are party to a Statement of Compliance submitted International Union for 
Conservation of Nature (IUCN). Accordingly, the IUCN can expect those National Parks who are a 
party to this Statement of Compliance to make sure that all future management plans give a high priority 
to the conservation of nature and that this priority will be explicit in the aims and objectives of the new 
plans.

3.10 The plans, policies and programmes review are included as Appendix A of this report.

3.11 Having determined to prepare, and publish the NPMP afresh, reasonable alternatives for plan 
preparation are broader than had the existing NPMP been reviewed. The contents and level of detail 
will depend on the approach taken. 

3.12 As a minimum, the plan must formulate the NPA’s policy for the management of the Park and 
for the carrying out of its functions in relation to that Park. As previously mentioned, the NPA 
has broad powers and these offer scope to extend the content of the management plan should the NPA 
deem it appropriate.

The Brecon Beacons Local Development Plan 2018 – 2033 (“LDP”)

3.14 Under s62 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, the NPA must prepare a LDP. The LDP 
forms part of the ‘development plan’, of central importance to determining applications for planning 
permission under the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended). 

3.15 The LDP must deliver on the National Park purposes, as defined by the nationally important NPMP. 
The NPMP prevails over regional and local policy as it is delivered in the National Park. 

3.16 The LDP must also be in general conformity with the National Development Framework for Wales and 
the strategic development plan for any strategic planning area that includes all or part of the area of the 
National Park. It must have regard to current national policies, the most important of which for the 
LDP is Planning Policy Wales. 

3.17 Apart from Planning Policy Wales, an Environmental Report is required of each of the ‘higher-tier’ plans. 
An Environmental Statement, an Appropriate Assessment, and other detailed information may need to 
be supplied in support of certain applications for planning permission to be determined in accordance 
with the development plan.  

3.18 As a minimum, the LDP must set out the NPA’s objectives in relation to the development and use of 
land in the National Park and general policies for the implementation of those objectives. The plan 
may also set out specific policies in relation to any part of the area of the authority.

3.19 S41 of The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 clarify that policies relating to the 
development and use of land are to be taken to include policies encouraging the management of features 
of the landscape which, by virtue of their linear and continuous structure (such as rivers with their 
banks or the traditional systems of marking field boundaries) or their function as “stepping stones” 
(such as ponds or small woods), are essential for the migration, dispersal and genetic exchange of wild 
species.

3.20 S1 of the Planning and Energy Act 2008 clarifies the NPA may, where consistent with relevant national 
policies, include policies in the LDP imposing reasonable requirements for a proportion of energy used 
in development in their area to be energy from renewable sources in the locality of the development; 
a proportion of energy used in development in their area to be low carbon energy from sources in the 

Page 150



5

locality of the development; and development in their area to comply with energy efficiency standards 
that exceed the energy requirements of building regulations.

3.21 Notwithstanding these requirements, the NPA has broad powers to do anything which, in the opinion 
of the authority, is calculated to facilitate, or is conducive or incidental to the accomplishment of the 
national park purposes; or the carrying out of any functions conferred on it by virtue of any other 
enactment.

3.22 Planning Policy Wales identified Key Planning Principles and National Sustainable Placemaking Outcomes 
for the planning system in Wales. Detailed objectives in relation to the development and use of land in 
the National Park are yet to be set. 

3.23 A stepwise approach to the preparation of LDPs is required. A ‘Preferred Strategy’ is derived from 
considering options based on the type, amount, location and timing of development to 2033 before a 
full draft ‘deposit’ plan is prepared and informed by a more detailed assessment of alternative policy 
design and approaches to delivery within the parameters of the strategy.

3.24 The plans policies and programmes review are included as Appendix B of this report.

4. Current knowledge and methods of assessment

4.1 Spatially, 15 Landscape Character Areas (LCA) are defined in the National Park in the Landscape 
Character Assessment 2012. Whilst these remain the working landscape geography, the NPA has 
engaged ‘Landscape Matters’ to report on:

1. Revise Level 1 Land Description Unit (LDU) mapping (i.e. LCA)
2. Produce Level 2 LDU mapping
3. Analysis and mapping of character and condition
4. Management guidelines to assist with the Nature Recovery Action Plan

4.2 This work provides a finer grain of detail and provides a repeatable methodology for defining the 
strength of character and condition of each level 2 LDU. The methodology, where possible, draws upon 
the exiting SOPR evidence base.

4.3 Recognising there is no single set of spatial areas that align with statistical reporting, political, or 
ecosystem geographies (or any others), the LCA/LCU provide the base spatial areas in the National 
Park for assessment purposes. This is set to be supplemented with ecological network mapping 
currently being undertaken by SEWBREC and WWBIC.

4.4 Most recently agreed in 2020, the State of the Park Report’ (“SOPR”) draws together and succinctly 
presents headline information on key indicators pertinent the Brecon Beacons National Park. More 
importantly, its preparation provides the vehicle for co-ordinating the NPA’s evidence base which 
includes qualitative and quantitative research and information form a wide range of sources. Its 
preparation is informed by the NPA’s evidence protocol. 

4.5 A great deal of relevant monitoring activity is undertaken by a wide range of organisations. Bringing this 
wealth of information, especially where trends may be derived, to benefit decision making in the 
National Park is a key objective of the SOPR project. 

4.6 For example, some of the projects of direct relevance are in development or are underway include: 
 Environment & Rural Affairs Monitoring and Modelling Programme (ERAMMP)4/Glastir 

Monitoring and Evaluation Programme (GMEP);
 Brecon Beacons National Park Vital Signs;
 Brecon Beacons National Park Low Power Wide Area Network (LoRaWan);
 JNCC fire risk mapping project;
 ADAS peatland condition and peat/carbon density surveys of several sites in the Park for 

NRW;

4 https://erammp.wales/en

Page 151



6

 Welsh Peatlands Project has submitted a NERC capital bid for long term field station 
equipment, which we would see set up at one or more upland/watershed locations in the Park;

 PhD students surveying the peat and water chemistry of upland peatlands; and surveying the 
water chemistry of a suite of upland streams; 

 INNS data; and,
 Biodiversity Information Service data.

4.7 Ensuring the SOPR benefits all with an interest in the National Park and influences the decisions of 
others acting in the National Park, in particular of other public bodies, will help demonstrate the NPA’s 
implementation of the ‘5 ways of working’ under the Well-being of Future Generations Act. Issues 
identification is also aided by the SOPR project and new issues report is due to be released imminently.

4.8 The broader evidence base has informed the following NPA position statements:
 Climate Change and Nature Recovery;
 Peatland, river and wetland restoration;
 Woodland Restoration and Expansion; and,
 Sustainable economic development.

4.9 Over time, incorporating a spatial dimension into the SOPR based upon the LCA/LCU will enable 
reporting and recommendations to be made more locally than at the broad National Park level. 

4.10 The information and evidence base underpinning the SOPR is not only important for the NPA’s 
preparation of the Environmental Report, but also for it to be able to report, at a National Park level, 
on matters including:

 Well-being
 Biodiversity
 Ecosystems services
 Special qualities
 Natura 2000 sites
 Sustainability
 Sustainable Development
 Welsh Language
 Health
 Socio-economic duty
 Dark Skies
 Sustainable Management of Natural Resources
 Sustainable Management of the Historic Environment

4.11 Each of these assessments will, by necessity, have different methodologies. However, by drawing form 
a co-ordinated and quality assured evidence base, the quality of assessment and reporting will improve, 
generating better information on which to take decisions. For the LDP, assessing the emerging 
plans against the NPA’s well-being objectives will form the basis of the Sustainability 
Appraisal.

4.12 Where significant information is unavailable and primary research is required to obtain it, a prioritised 
list of evidence needs has been prepared for funding5. The NPA has a research partnership with the 
Sustainable Places Research Institute6 and with the University of South Wales (UoSW)7, is an associate 
of the Environment Platform Wales and works closely with the University of Swansea and Reading 
University amongst others. In follow up to the major three Parks workshop that UoSW hosted in 
September 2017, a research local workshop was hosted in 2017 has moved the NPA closer to co-
developed research portfolio.

5 Brecon Beacons National Park Research Prospectus 2013
6 https://www.cardiff.ac.uk/sustainable-places/research/places/brecon-beacons-national-park
7 https://www.southwales.ac.uk/news/news-2017/university-south-wales-joins-forces-brecon-beacons-national-
park/

Page 152

https://www.cardiff.ac.uk/sustainable-places/research/places/brecon-beacons-national-park
https://www.southwales.ac.uk/news/news-2017/university-south-wales-joins-forces-brecon-beacons-national-park/
https://www.southwales.ac.uk/news/news-2017/university-south-wales-joins-forces-brecon-beacons-national-park/


7

4.13 To enable the environmental report to be prepared, and assessments undertaken, current SOPR 
indicators provide the relevant baseline for each of the areas for assessment required of the 
Environmental Report. These are shown in table 1 below.

Table 1. SOPR indicators providing relevant baseline for each of the areas for assessment required of the 
Environmental Report. The colours indicate the trend, green positive, red negative and grey no clear trend.

Assessment topic for the 
Environmental Report

Brecon Beacons State of the Park Report Indicator 
(2020)

Trend

(a)biodiversity; Indicator 1 - Condition of Geological SSSIs 
Indicator 2 - Condition of Biological SSSIs
Indicator 3 - Natura 2000

POSITIVE
NEGATIVE
NEGATIVE

(b)population; Indicator 20 - Population NEGATIVE

(c)human health; Indicator 23 - Welsh Index of Multiple Deprivation NEGATIVE

(d)fauna; Indicator 12 - Invasive Non-Native Species
Indicator 10 - Breeding/Nesting Birds
Indicator 11 - Bats

UNCLEAR
NEGATIVE
UNCLEAR

(e)flora; Indicator 9 - Woodland and Ancient Semi-Natural Woodland 
Indicator 12 - Invasive Non-Native Species

UNCLEAR
UNCLEAR

(f)soil; Indicator 8 - Condition of Soils/Peat UNCLEAR

(g)water; Indicator 4 - Water Quality
Indicator 6 - River Discharge

NEGATIVE
UNCLEAR

(h)air; Indicator 7 - Air Quality POSITIVE

(i)climatic factors; Indicator 5 - Flood Risk UNCLEAR

(j)material assets; Indicator 13 - Rights of Way
Indicator 21 - Housing
Indicator 22 – Town Centre Vacancy Rates

POSITIVE
NEGATIVE
NEGATIVE

(k)cultural heritage, 
including architectural and 
archaeological heritage;

Indicator 15 - Welsh Language
Indicator 16 - Cultural Events
Indicator 17 - Scheduled Ancient Monuments
Indicator 18 - Listed Buildings

NEGATIVE
POSITIVE
NEGATIVE
POSITIVE

(l)landscape; and Strength of character and condition of each level 2 LDU*. Information 
not available 
in SOPR

(m)the inter-relationship between the issues referred to in sub-paragraphs (a) to (l).

4.14 Within context of the National Park’s purposes and contribution to national well-being through the 
provision of cultural ecosystem services, the key environmental protection aims for each of the 
assessment topics are proposed in table 2 below. Aims relating to the socio-economic duty and the 
welsh language standard have also been included as they are relevant to the preparation of the NPMP 
and LDP. Where sufficient information is not available to model in detail, the impact of a plan / project, 
these may also be used as fallback ‘sustainability objectives.

Table 2. Key aims for each of the assessment topics of the Environmental Report

Assessment topic Key environmental protection aims.
*Indicates the aims related to the socio-economic duty and the welsh language standard

(a)biodiversity; Natura 2000 network. For the maintenance or restoration, at a favourable conservation 
status, of a natural habitat type in Annex I or a species in Annex II and for the coherence 
of Natura 2000, and in the light of the threats of degradation or destruction to which 
those sites are exposed.

(b)population; Maximise opportunities for all people in Wales to access the health and well-being 
benefits of the natural environment and landscape features of National Parks.
*To deliver better outcomes for those who experience socio-economic disadvantage.

(c)human health; Maximise opportunities for all people in Wales to access the health and well-being 
benefits of the natural environment and landscape features of National Parks.

Page 153



8

(d)fauna; To safeguard the long-term future of the park’s s7 species and the habitats on which they 
depend for survival.

(e)flora; To safeguard the long-term future of the park’s s7 species and the habitats on which they 
depend for survival.

(f)soil; Preventing further soil degradation and preserving its functions and restoring degraded 
soils to a level of functionality which will enhance ecosystem resilience.

(g)water; To ensure that all inland waters reach at least “good status” (or good ecological potential 
for artificial or heavily modified water bodies) unless less stringent objectives have been 
set for certain water bodies.

(h)air; To keep levels of pollution as low as reasonably practicable.

(i)climatic factors; To contribute to a 95% reduction in greenhouse gas emissions by 2050, with an ambition 
to reach net-zero.
To increase resilience to the adverse impacts of climate change in the National Park, 
through both near- and long-term adaptation measures in affected sectors, areas and 
communities; leading to a reduction of expected socio-economic losses associated with 
climate change and variability.

(j)material assets; To safeguard and improve assets essential to the National Park:
 Study centres and other facilities for learning about the history, natural features, 

flora and fauna of the National Park and the objects of architectural, 
archaeological or historical interest therein;

 Public sanitary conveniences in proper and convenient situations;
 Receptacles for refuse or litter;
 Facilities of any description for use by the public for sailing, boating, bathing and 

fishing and other forms of recreation;
 Camping sites for holiday and recreational purposes, to be used primarily as 

places for setting up tents, with space for parking vehicles and a means of access 
to and from a road;

 Picnic sites for motorists and others using the roads, with space for parking 
vehicles and a means of access to and from a road;

 Parking places and means of access thereto and egress therefrom;
 Accommodation;
 Public Rights of Ways, open access land and access infrastructure.

(k)cultural 
heritage, including 
architectural and 
archaeological 
heritage;

Identify and protect those individual historic sites or landscapes that matter to us and 
fully integrate their value in future plans for revitalising our communities.

*To contribute to the number of Welsh speakers reaching 1 million by 2050. 

(l)landscape; and To protect and sustain important landscapes and the associated nature conservation and 
other values created by interactions with humans through traditional management 
practices.

(m)the inter-
relationship 
between the issues 
referred to in sub-
paragraphs (a) to 
(l).

For the National Park to be recognised as an important place for the recovery of nature 
and the wellbeing of people. To that end:

 People will benefit from the Park’s resilient landscapes, full of flourishing wildlife 
and valued heritage

 People will be able to access, understand and enjoy what makes the Park special
 People living and working in the Park will benefit from strong communities, 

sustainable livelihoods, healthy lifestyles and widespread decarbonisation

4.15 The assessments proposed to be undertaken to inform the Environmental Report of the NPMP and 
LDP are highlighted in table 3 below. Where at all possible these move away from objective based 
assessments against ‘sustainability objectives’, to baseline-led / modelled assessments as this will help to 
identify the characteristics of any significant effects (positive or negative) and of the area likely to be 
affected, and enable reporting on:

(a)probability, duration, frequency and reversibility of the effects;
(b)cumulative nature of the effects;

Page 154



9

(c)transboundary nature of the effects;
(d)risks to human health or the environment;
(e)magnitude and spatial extent of the effects (geographical area and size of the population 

likely to be affected);
(f)value and vulnerability of the area likely to be affected due to —

(i)special natural characteristics or cultural heritage;
(ii)exceeded environmental quality standards or limit values; or
(iii)intensive land-use; and,

(g)effects on areas or landscapes which have a recognised national, Community or international 
protection status.

4.16 Supplemental assessments may be required at a project level including in some instances by means of 
an Environmental Statement under one of the various Regulations for Environmental Impact 
Assessment.

Page 155



10

Table 3. Potential assessment methodologies and framing questions for the identification of likely significant effects in the Environmental Report.

Assessment topic Means of assessment for the 
NPMP / LDP.

To help frame the reporting of significant effects of the plan for each assessment 
topic (see para 4.15 above), consider what is the plan component’s….

(a)biodiversity; Habitats Regulations Assessment Contribution to meeting SAC conservation objectives?

(b)population; Demographic modelling
Service and development land 
capacity assessments – e.g. School 
places, housing market

Contribution to improving the experience of people facing socio-economic disadvantage?
Contribution to the local community?
Contribution to national well-being?

(c)human health; Health Impact Assessment Contribution to improving human health?

(d)fauna; Habitats Regulations Assessment
Species surveys

Contribution to meeting SAC conservation objectives for fauna? 
Contribution to improving conditions for all birds and s7 fauna?

(e)flora; Habitats Regulations Assessment
DECCA assessment against Resilient 
Ecological Network Mapping and 
designations 
Species surveys
Arboriculture report

Contribution to meeting SAC conservation objectives for flora?
Contribution to enhancing the resilient ecological network and improving conditions for all s7 
flora?

(f)soil; Assessment of impact on agricultural 
land classification
Modelled impact on soil moisture 
release and function

Contribution to preserving soil function, preventing further soil degradation and restoring 
degraded soils to a level of functionality which will enhance ecosystem resilience?

(g)water; Habitats Regulations Assessment
Modelling by NRW / Dwr Cymru / 
SAB. 

Contribution to meeting phosphate target levels in rivers and lakes?
Contribution to water conservation and reducing the rate of runoff?

(h)air; Air pollution / noise modelling if 
needed.

Contribution to reducing air pollution and noise?

(i)climatic factors; Modelled impact on GHG emissions
Modelled impact of Climate Change 
(weather) e.g. areas of flood risk 
(SFCA)

Contribution to decarbonisation?
Contribution to minimising the impact of Climate Change on communities and visitors?

P
age 156



11

(j)material assets; Modelling of significant impacts on 
material assets

Contribution to material assets of value to the local community?
Contribution to material assets of value to the National Park?

(k)cultural heritage, 
including architectural and 
archaeological heritage;

ASIDOHL
Heritage Impact Assessment (HIA)
Archaeological scheme of 
investigation
Welsh Language Impact Assessment

Contribution to maintaining and enhancing the historic environment?
Contribution to the everyday use of the Welsh language?

(l)landscape; and Assessment of likely impact on the 
strength of character and condition 
of each level 2 LDU (Landscape and 
visual appraisal)
Dark Skies Impact Assessment
Tranquil Areas Impact Assessment 

Contribution to the strength of character and condition of the landscape character area / unit?
Contribution to dark skies?
Contribution to tranquillity?

(m)the inter-relationship 
between the issues referred 
to in sub-paragraphs (a) to 
(l).

Report of impact on Special Qualities Contribution to maintaining and enhancing the special qualities of the National Park?

P
age 157



1

Appendix A: Review of relevant plans, policies and programmes – Brecon Beacons National Park 
Management Plan 2020.

Purpose: To identify the environmental protection objectives, established at international, Community or Member State level, which are relevant to the plan or 
programme.

Environmental protection objectives Where established Implications for Brecon Beacons National 
Park Management Plan

Primary objective

To protect and sustain important landscapes/seascapes 
and the associated nature conservation and other values 
created by interactions with humans through traditional 
management practices.

Other objectives

 To maintain a balanced interaction of nature and 
culture through the protection of landscape 
and/or seascape and associated traditional 
management approaches, societies, cultures and 
spiritual values;

 To contribute to broad-scale conservation by 
maintaining species associated with cultural 
landscapes and/or by providing conservation 
opportunities in heavily used landscapes;

 To provide opportunities for enjoyment, well-
being and socio-economic activity through 
recreation and tourism;

 To provide natural products and environmental 
services;

 To provide a framework to underpin active 
involvement by the community in the 

International Union for Conservation of 
Nature – Category V protected area.

IUCN Protected Area Management Categories 
Statement of Compliance for the UK National Park 
Authorities on why they should continue to be 
recognised as IUCN Protected Areas Cat V.

Statement of conformity - summary of the 
ambition and vision for nature conservation in 
the areas:

While the legislative and policy framework for 
National Parks allows for a high priority to be given to 
natural beauty, there are a number of external factors 
that could undermine conservation efforts, including 
climate change, development pressure and competing 
land uses. In order to address this, the National Parks 
have identified and signed up to major ambitions for 
the future of nature conservation in their areas and 
are becoming increasingly recognised as places where 
biodiversity conservation should be focused. 

The National Park Authorities recognise that while 
much progress has been delivered, there is much 
more that can be achieved in terms of conserving and 
enhancing biodiversity. 

P
age 158



2

management of valued landscapes or seascapes 
and the natural and cultural heritage that they 
contain;

 To encourage the conservation of 
agrobiodiversity and aquatic biodiversity;

 To act as models of sustainability so that lessons 
can be learnt for wider application.

IUCN can expect those National Parks who are a 
party to this Statement of Compliance to make sure 
that all future management plans give a high priority to 
the conservation of nature. This priority will be 
explicit in the aims and objectives of the new plans.

The aims of this Convention are to promote landscape 
protection, management and planning, and to organise 
European co-operation on landscape issues.

The European Landscape Convention

UK Signature: 21/02/2006

UK Ratification: 21/11/2006

UK Entry into force: 01/03/2007

The States Parties to the Convention recognise that 
the landscape has an important public interest role in 
the cultural, ecological, environmental and social fields, 
and constitutes a resource favourable to economic 
activity. The landscape is a key element of individual 
and social well-being. Its protection, management and 
planning entail rights and responsibilities for everyone.

National Park purposes:

(a) For the purpose of conserving and enhancing the 
natural beauty, wildlife and cultural heritage, and;

(b) For the purpose of promoting opportunities for the 
understanding and enjoyment of the special qualities by 
the public.

Section 61 of the Environment Act 1995, which 
amended Section 5 of the National Parks and 
Access to the Countryside Act1949.

The statutory definition of natural beauty (above) 
includes geomorphology and landform, concepts that 
are embraced by IUCN in its definition of “nature”. 

This is, therefore, a wider definition than those 
normally subsumed under the term “wildlife”. 

The two purposes are equal in law, except where 
there appears to be a conflict between them, in which 
case priority shall be given to the first purpose. This is 
the long-established Government policy often 
referred to as the “Sandford Principle” and since 1995 
enshrined in law. It requires that the conservation of 
natural beauty and cultural heritage be given greater 
weight if there is a conflict with recreational or 
educational activity. 

P
age 159

https://www.coe.int/en/web/conventions/full-list/-/conventions/treaty/176


3

The Environment Act 1995 is definitive and 
unambiguous that the first purpose “shall” be given 
greater weight in such circumstances. This means it is 
a requirement rather than optional. 

In practice, there are very few instances where 
recreational or educational activity would be in 
conflict with conservation of natural beauty or cultural 
heritage, not least because the National Park 
Authorities adopt an integrated approach to the 
management of the Park’s ‟special qualities”. 

In pursing the statutory purposes, the National Park 
Authorities have a duty to seek to foster the social 
and economic well-being of their local communities. 

The legislation makes clear that this duty is subsidiary 
to the purposes and its fulfilment should not 
undermine the priority that is given to nature 
conservation.

Furthermore, National Parks are a national 
designation, established in legislation, and defined by 
the National Park purposes. Section 62(2) of the 
Environment Act 1995 requires all relevant authorities 
to have regard to the National Park purposes in all 
their work in the Parks. Indeed, the imperatives of the 
National Park purposes should be reflected in these 
other Plans.

P
age 160



4

Sustainable Development in Welsh National 
Parks:

Valued Places

1. Landscapes for everyone

Resilient Environments

2. Exemplars of the sustainable management of 
natural resources

3. Halting the loss of biodiversity

4. Green energy and decarbonisation

Resilient Communities

5. Realising the economic potential of landscape

6. Growing tourism and outdoor recreation

7. Thriving Welsh language

Resilient Ways of Working

8. All landscapes matter

9. Delivering through collaboration

10. Innovation in resourcing

Valued and Resilient: The Welsh Government’s 
priorities for Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty 
and National Parks (2018).

Senedd Cymru / Welsh Parliament has legislative 
competence in relation to countryside and open 
spaces (including the designation and regulation of 
national parks and areas of outstanding natural beauty 
(AONBs)). This is subject to any reservations in 
Schedule 7A to the Government of Wales Act 2006.

It is reasonable to assume the Welsh Government’s 
priorities for Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty 
and National Parks (2018) acts to guide the delivery of 
the National Park purposes through the National Park 
Management Plan, having regard to:

 IUCN objectives for Category V protected 
areas;

 Aims of the European Landscape Convention;
 National Park purposes;
 All other relevant Welsh Legislation 

and Policy.

P
age 161



5

Sustainable Management of Natural Resources:

The objective is to maintain and enhance the resilience of 
ecosystems and the benefits they provide and, in so 
doing—

(a)meet the needs of present generations of 
people without compromising the ability of 
future generations to meet their needs, and

(b)contribute to the achievement of the well-
being goals in section 4 of the Well-being of 
Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 (anaw 2).

In this Part, “sustainable management of natural 
resources” means—

(a)using natural resources in a way and at a rate 
that promotes achievement of the SMNR 
objective;

(b)taking other action that promotes 
achievement of that objective; and,

(c)not taking action that hinders achievement of 
that objective.

Valued and Resilient: The Welsh Government’s 
priorities for Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty 
and National Parks (2018) notes that, at the 
earliest legislative opportunity, the NPA will be 
placed under a General Purpose to pursue 
sustainable management of natural resources and 
apply the principles of sustainable management of 
natural resources, in the exercise of its functions, 
so far as consistent with their proper exercise.

The purpose is consistent with an ecosystem-based 
approach to delivering the National Park purposes and 
the IUCN statement of compliance. 

Importantly, the NPA would be under a duty not to 
take action that hinders, as a first order consideration, 
the resilience of ecosystems. 

Public bodies (other than NRW) are not subject to 
the same duty.

The new duty will likely have most bite in the NPA’s 
role as LPA, experience from NRW Marine Licensing 
team may be worth seeking.

P
age 162

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/anaw/2015/2
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/anaw/2015/2


6

The Welsh Government Environment & Rural 
Affairs Monitoring and Modelling Programme

The overall aim of ERAMMP is to deliver a programme of 
monitoring and modelling which collects data across the 
Welsh landscape and links any changes to their impacts 
on a wide range of benefits including their economic 
consequences. 

Welsh Government Environment & Rural Affairs 
Monitoring and Modelling Programme: 
https://erammp.wales/en

The programme will be a key source of data for future 
editions of the State of Natural Resources Report 
(SoNaRR). The programme will also undertake 
modelling for the EU exit process and the design and 
evaluation of programmes delivering to the Natural 
Resources Policy.

LANDMAP - the Welsh landscape baseline:

An all-Wales landscape resource where landscape 
characteristics, qualities and influences on the landscape 
are recorded and evaluated in a nationally consistent data 
set.

LANDMAP - the Welsh landscape baseline:

https://naturalresources.wales/guidance-and-
advice/business-sectors/planning-and-
development/evidence-to-inform-development-
planning/landmap-the-welsh-landscape-
baseline/?lang=en

LANDMAP is used to inform planning, policy, 
strategies, evidence and advice, including National 
Park management plans, special qualities and ‘State of’ 
reports.

State of natural resources report (SoNaRR)

Natural Resources Wales must prepare and publish 
reports containing its assessment of the state of natural 
resources in relation to Wales. Each report must, among 
other things, set out—

(a)NRW's assessment of the extent to which 
sustainable management of natural resources is 
being achieved;

(b)NRW's assessment of biodiversity (including 
the living organisms and types of habitat included 
in any list published under section 7);

The Environment Act 1995 (s66, (7A) (a)):

A National Park authority for a park in Wales 
which is proposing to publish, adopt or review any 
plan under this section must have regard to the 
state of natural resources report published under 
section 8 of the Environment (Wales) Act 2016.

SoNaRR is used to inform planning, policy, strategies, 
evidence and advice, including National Park 
management plans, special qualities and ‘State of’ 
reports.

See separate paper on SoNaRR (to be prepared).

P
age 163

https://erammp.wales/en
https://naturalresources.wales/guidance-and-advice/business-sectors/planning-and-development/evidence-to-inform-development-planning/landmap-the-welsh-landscape-baseline/?lang=en
https://naturalresources.wales/guidance-and-advice/business-sectors/planning-and-development/evidence-to-inform-development-planning/landmap-the-welsh-landscape-baseline/?lang=en
https://naturalresources.wales/guidance-and-advice/business-sectors/planning-and-development/evidence-to-inform-development-planning/landmap-the-welsh-landscape-baseline/?lang=en
https://naturalresources.wales/guidance-and-advice/business-sectors/planning-and-development/evidence-to-inform-development-planning/landmap-the-welsh-landscape-baseline/?lang=en
https://naturalresources.wales/guidance-and-advice/business-sectors/planning-and-development/evidence-to-inform-development-planning/landmap-the-welsh-landscape-baseline/?lang=en


7

(c)what NRW considers to be the main trends 
and factors that are affecting, and are likely to 
affect, the state of natural resources;

(d)any aspects of the state of natural resources 
about which NRW considers that it does not 
have sufficient information to make an 
assessment.

Area Statements:

For the purpose of facilitating the implementation of the 
national natural resources policy, Natural Resources 
Wales has prepared and published ‘area statements’ 
covering the whole of Wales.

Each area statement must explain why a statement has 
been prepared for the area, by reference to

(i)the natural resources in the area;

(ii)the benefits which the natural resources 
provide; and

(iii)the priorities, risks and opportunities 
for the sustainable management of 
natural resources which need to be 
addressed.

The Environment Act 1995 (s66, (7A) (b)):

A National Park authority for a park in Wales 
which is proposing to publish, adopt or review any 
plan under this section must have regard to any 
area statement published under section 11 of that 
Act for an area that includes all or part of the park.

It is unclear how NRW has fulfilled its Section 
62(2) duty (Environment Act 1995) to have regard 
to the National Park purposes in preparing and 
publishing Area Statements.

7 Area Statements were published on 1st April 2020; 4 
are partly within the National Park.

NRW determined an area statement should not be 
incorporated within the Brecon Beacons National 
Park Management Plan.

See Appendix C on Area Statements.

P
age 164



1

Appendix B: Review of relevant plans, policies and programmes – Brecon Beacons National Park Local 
Development Plan 2020.

Purpose 1. To identify the environmental protection objectives, established at international, Community or Member State level, which are relevant to the plan or 
programme.

Environmental protection objectives Where established Implications for Brecon Beacons 
National Park Local Development 
Plan

Primary objective

To protect and sustain important landscapes/seascapes and the associated 
nature conservation and other values created by interactions with humans 
through traditional management practices.

Other objectives

 To maintain a balanced interaction of nature and culture through 
the protection of landscape and/or seascape and associated 
traditional management approaches, societies, cultures and spiritual 
values;

 To contribute to broad-scale conservation by maintaining species 
associated with cultural landscapes and/or by providing 
conservation opportunities in heavily used landscapes;

 To provide opportunities for enjoyment, well-being and socio-
economic activity through recreation and tourism;

 To provide natural products and environmental services;
 To provide a framework to underpin active involvement by the 

community in the management of valued landscapes or seascapes 
and the natural and cultural heritage that they contain;

 To encourage the conservation of agrobiodiversity and aquatic 
biodiversity;

International Union for 
Conservation of Nature – Category 
V protected area.

IUCN Protected Area Management 
Categories Statement of Compliance for 
the UK National Park Authorities on why 
they should continue to be recognised as 
IUCN Protected Areas Cat V.

Statement of conformity - summary of 
the ambition and vision for nature 
conservation in the areas:

While the legislative and policy framework 
for National Parks allows for a high priority 
to be given to natural beauty, there are a 
number of external factors that could 
undermine conservation efforts, including 
climate change, development pressure and 
competing land uses. In order to address 
this, the National Parks have identified and 
signed up to major ambitions for the future 
of nature conservation in their areas and are 
becoming increasingly recognised as places 
where biodiversity conservation should be 
focused. 

The National Park Authorities recognise that 
while much progress has been delivered, 
there is much more that can be achieved in 

P
age 165



2

 To act as models of sustainability so that lessons can be learnt for 
wider application.

terms of conserving and enhancing 
biodiversity. 

IUCN can expect those National Parks who 
are a party to this Statement of Compliance 
to make sure that all future management 
plans give a high priority to the conservation 
of nature. This priority will be explicit in the 
aims and objectives of the new plans.

National Park purposes:

(a) For the purpose of conserving and enhancing the natural beauty, wildlife 
and cultural heritage, and;

(b) For the purpose of promoting opportunities for the understanding and 
enjoyment of the special qualities by the public.

Section 61 of the Environment Act 1995, 
which amended Section 5 of the National 
Parks and Access to the Countryside 
Act1949.

The statutory definition of natural beauty 
(above) includes geomorphology and 
landform, concepts that are embraced by 
IUCN in its definition of “nature”. 

This is, therefore, a wider definition than 
those normally subsumed under the term 
“wildlife”. 

The two purposes are equal in law, except 
where there appears to be a conflict 
between them, in which case priority shall be 
given to the first purpose. This is the long-
established Government policy often 
referred to as the “Sandford Principle” and 
since 1995 enshrined in law. It requires that 
the conservation of natural beauty and 
cultural heritage be given greater weight if 
there is a conflict with recreational or 
educational activity. 

P
age 166



3

The Environment Act 1995 is definitive and 
unambiguous that the first purpose “shall” be 
given greater weight in such circumstances. 
This means it is a requirement rather than 
optional. 

In practice, there are very few instances 
where recreational or educational activity 
would be in conflict with conservation of 
natural beauty or cultural heritage, not least 
because the National Park Authorities adopt 
an integrated approach to the management 
of the Park’s ‟special qualities”. 

In pursing the statutory purposes, the 
National Park Authorities have a duty to 
seek to foster the social and economic well-
being of their local communities. 

The legislation makes clear that this duty is 
subsidiary to the purposes and its fulfilment 
should not undermine the priority that is 
given to nature conservation.

Furthermore, National Parks are a national 
designation, established in legislation, and 
defined by the National Park purposes. 
Section 62(2) of the Environment Act 1995 
requires all relevant authorities to have 
regard to the National Park purposes in all 
their work in the Parks. Indeed, the 

P
age 167



4

imperatives of the National Park purposes 
should be reflected in these other Plans.

Sustainable Development in Welsh National Parks:

Valued Places

1. Landscapes for everyone

Resilient Environments

2. Exemplars of the sustainable management of natural resources

3. Halting the loss of biodiversity

4. Green energy and decarbonisation

Resilient Communities

5. Realising the economic potential of landscape

6. Growing tourism and outdoor recreation

7. Thriving Welsh language

Resilient Ways of Working

8. All landscapes matter

9. Delivering through collaboration

10. Innovation in resourcing

Valued and Resilient: The Welsh 
Government’s priorities for Areas of 
Outstanding Natural Beauty and National 
Parks (2018).

Senedd Cymru / Welsh Parliament has 
legislative competence in relation to 
countryside and open spaces (including the 
designation and regulation of national parks 
and areas of outstanding natural beauty 
(AONBs)). This is subject to any 
reservations in Schedule 7A to the 
Government of Wales Act 2006.

It is reasonable to assume the Welsh 
Government’s priorities for Areas of 
Outstanding Natural Beauty and National 
Parks (2018) acts to guide the delivery of the 
National Park purposes through the National 
Park Management Plan, having had regard to:

 IUCN objectives for Category V 
protected areas;

 Aims of the European Landscape 
Convention;

 National Park purposes;
 All other relevant Welsh 

Legislation and Policy.

P
age 168



5

Sustainable Management of Natural Resources:

The objective is to maintain and enhance the resilience of ecosystems and 
the benefits they provide and, in so doing—

(a)meet the needs of present generations of people without 
compromising the ability of future generations to meet their needs, 
and

(b)contribute to the achievement of the well-being goals in section 
4 of the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 (anaw 
2).

In this Part, “sustainable management of natural resources” means—

(a)using natural resources in a way and at a rate that promotes 
achievement of the SMNR objective;

(b)taking other action that promotes achievement of that 
objective; and,

(c)not taking action that hinders achievement of that objective.

Valued and Resilient: The Welsh 
Government’s priorities for Areas of 
Outstanding Natural Beauty and National 
Parks (2018) notes that, at the earliest 
legislative opportunity, the NPA will be 
placed under a General Purpose to 
pursue sustainable management of natural 
resources and apply the principles of 
sustainable management of natural 
resources, in the exercise of its functions, 
so far as consistent with their proper 
exercise.

The purpose is consistent with an 
ecosystem-based approach to delivering the 
National Park purposes and the IUCN 
statement of compliance. 

Importantly, the NPA would be under a duty 
not to take action that hinders, as a first 
order consideration, the resilience of 
ecosystems. 

Public bodies (other than NRW) are not 
subject to the same duty.

The new duty will likely have most bite in 
the NPA’s role as LPA, experience from 
NRW Marine Licensing team may be worth 
seeking.

Sustainable development

Key planning principles - Achieving the Right Development in the Right 
Place:

 Growing our economy in a sustainable manner
 Making best use of resources
 Facilitating accessible and healthy environments
 Creating & sustaining communities

Planning Policy Wales Planning Policy Wales sets out the Welsh 
Government’s expectations and policy for 
the planning system in Wales.

PPW’s interpretation of the Major 
Development test doe does not accord with 
our own or that of legal opinion sought by 
South Downs NPA. 

P
age 169

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/anaw/2015/2
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/anaw/2015/2


6

 Maximising environmental protection and limiting environmental 
impact

National sustainable placemaking outcomes - 

Growing our economy in a sustainable manner

 Fosters economic activity
 Enables easy communication
 Generates its own renewable energy
 Vibrant and dynamic
 Adaptive to change
 Embraces smart and innovative technology

Making best use of resources

 Makes best use of natural resources
 Prevents waste
 Prioritises the use of previously developed land and existing 

buildings
 Unlocks potential and regenerates
 High quality and built to last
 Facilitating accessible and healthy environments

Facilitating accessible and healthy environments

 Accessible and high-quality green space 
 Accessible by means of active travel and public transport 
 Not car dependent 
 Minimises the need to travel 
 Provides equality of access 
 Feels safe and inclusive 
 Supports a diverse population 
 Good connections 
 Convenient access to goods and services

Delivery of PPW through the LDP must be 
considered first and foremost through the 
lens of the National Park purposes.

P
age 170



7

 Promotes physical and mental health and well-being

Creating & sustaining communities

 Enables the Welsh language to thrive Appropriate development 
densities 

 Homes and jobs to meet society’s needs 
 A mix of uses 
 Offers cultural experiences 
 Community based facilities and services

Maximising environmental protection and limiting environmental 
impact

 Resilient biodiversity and ecosystems
 Distinctive and special landscapes
 Integrated green infrastructure
 Appropriate soundscapes
 Reduces environmental risks
 Manages water resources naturally
 Clean air
 Reduces overall pollution
 Resilient to climate change
 Distinctive and special historic environments

Plans

Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (s62) (5): 

 In preparing a local development plan the authority must have regard to—
 current national policies;
 the National Development Framework for Wales;

P
age 171



8

 the strategic development plan for any strategic planning area that—
o (i)includes all or part of the area of the authority, or
o (ii)adjoins that area;

 any area statement published under section 11 of the Environment (Wales) Act 2016 for an area that includes all or part of the area of the authority;
 any relevant local well-being plan.

Future Wales – the National Plan 2040 Future Wales – the National Plan 
2040

Planning Wale Act 2015 (Section 7)

Local development plans must be in 
general conformity with the strategic 
development plan for any strategic 
planning area that includes all or part of the 
area of the authority.”

Identifies the BBNP within three Strategic 
Planning Areas for which SDP will need to be 
prepared (likely commencing after May 22 
elections):

 South East Wales
 South West Wales
 Mid Wales

Identified Brecon as a Regional Growth 
Zone

Excludes major Wind, Solar and Minerals 
developments from within the National Park

Wales National Marine Plan

In particular objectives which may be impacted by the National Park.

9 Support the achievement and maintenance of Good Environmental Status 
(GES) and Good Ecological Status (GeS). 

10 Protect, conserve, restore and enhance marine biodiversity to halt and 
reverse its decline including supporting the development and functioning of a 
well-managed and ecologically coherent network of Marine Protected Areas 

The Town and Country Planning 
(Local Development Plan) (Wales) 
(Amendment) Regulations 2015 
require the NPA to have regard to these 
strategies when preparing the LDP.

Consider any in-combination impacts of 
development within in the Marine 
Environment on related designated SAC 
features.

P
age 172



9

(MPAs) and resilient populations of representative, rare and vulnerable 
species. 

11 Maintain and enhance the resilience of marine ecosystems and the benefits 
they provide in order to meet the needs of present and future generations.

The Waste Strategy for Wales:

https://gov.wales/towards-zero-waste-our-waste-strategy

The Town and Country Planning 
(Local Development Plan) (Wales) 
Regulations 2005 (as amended) 
require the NPA to have regard to this 
strategy when preparing the LDP 
(Regional waste plans now obsolete).

Introduces the key principles including:

 Protection of human health and the 
environment

 Application of the Waste Hierarchy
 Polluter pays
 Extended producer responsibility
 Proximity principle
 Precautionary principle
 Equality of opportunity.

Brecon Beacons National Park Management Plan Brecon Beacons National Park 
Management Plan

National Parks are a national designation, 
established in legislation, and defined by 
the National Park purposes. Section 62(2) 
of the Environment Act 1995 requires all 
relevant authorities to have regard to the 
National Park purposes in all their work in 
the Parks. Indeed, the imperatives of the 
National Park purposes should be 
reflected in these other Plans, including the 
Local Development Plan.

Most significant contextual document for the 
Development Plan in National Parks.

The National Park Management Plan 
formulates the National Park Authority’s 
policy for the management of the Brecon 
Beacons National Park and for the carrying 
out of its functions in relation to that Park.

P
age 173



10

(Countryside Council for Wales, 2007, p. 
26).

Strategic Development Plans

 Mid Wales
 South East Wales
 South West Wales 

Planning Wale Act 2015 (Section 7)

Local development plans must be in 
general conformity with the strategic 
development plan for any strategic 
planning area that includes all or part of the 
area of the authority.

Likely commencing after May 22 elections:

Significant in that the levels of growth, and 
settlement hierarchies, including the Brecon 
Regional Growth Zone, will be set via SDP. 

Area Statements:

For the purpose of facilitating the implementation of the national natural 
resources policy, Natural Resources Wales has prepared and published 
‘area statements’ covering the whole of Wales.

Each area statement must explain why a statement has been prepared for 
the area, by reference to

(i)the natural resources in the area;

(ii)the benefits which the natural resources provide; and

(iii)the priorities, risks and opportunities for the 
sustainable management of natural resources which need 
to be addressed.

Area Statements:

The Environment Act 1995 (s66, (7A) 
(b)):

A National Park authority for a park in 
Wales which is proposing to publish, 
adopt or review any plan under this 
section must have regard to any area 
statement published under section 11 of 
that Act for an area that includes all or 
part of the park.

It is unclear how NRW has fulfilled its 
Section 62(2) duty (Environment Act 
1995) to have regard to the National Park 
purposes in preparing and publishing Area 
Statements.

7 Area Statements were published on 1st 
April 2020; 4 are partly within the National 
Park.

NRW determined an area statement should 
not be incorporated within the Brecon 
Beacons National Park Management Plan.

See Appendix C on Area Statements.

P
age 174



11

Relevant local well-being plans prepared by Public Service Boards

 Powys
 Monmouthshire
 Carmarthenshire
 Cwm Taf
 Neath Port Talbot
 Blaenau Gwent
 Caerphilly
 Torfaen

Local Well-being Plans

Planning and compulsory purchase Act 
2004 (as amended)

In preparing a local development plan the 
authority must have regard to any 
relevant local well-being plan.

Although a member of Powys and 
Carmarthenshire PSBs, the National Park has 
determined not to discharge its sustainable 
duty via PSB Local Well-being Plans given the 
national status of the National Park 
Management Plan.

These plans should each have regard to the 
National Park purposes.

Local Well-being objectives are set within 
the Corporate Plan 20 – 21 (August 2020).

 People will benefit from the Park’s 
resilient landscapes, full of 
flourishing wildlife and valued 
heritage;

 People will be able to access, 
understand and enjoy what makes 
the Park special;

 People living and working in the 
Park will benefit from strong 
communities, sustainable 
livelihoods, healthy lifestyles and 
widespread decarbonisation.

Local transport plans / policies for the implementation of the Wales 
Transport Strategy and for the promotion and encouragement of safe, 
integrated, efficient and economic transport to, from and within their area 
the transport required to meet the needs of persons living or working in 

The Town and Country Planning 
(Local Development Plan) (Wales) 
Regulations 2005 require the NPA to 

These plans should each have regard to the 
National Park purposes.

P
age 175

https://en.powys.gov.uk/media/7082/Towards_2040_Eng_2018/pdf/Towards_2040_Eng_2018.pdf?m=1540807992750
http://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/app/uploads/2018/05/Monmouthshire-PSB-Well-being-plan.pdf
http://www.thecarmarthenshirewewant.wales/media/8331/carmarthenshire-well-being-plan-final-may-2018.pdf
http://www.ourcwmtaf.wales/SharedFiles/Download.aspx?pageid=286&mid=613&fileid=210#:~:text=The%20Wellbeing%20Plan%20is%20the,is%20the%20overarching%20partnership%20board.&text=Another%20new%20law%2C%20the%20Social,and%20carers%20who%20need%20support.
https://www.npt.gov.uk/media/9092/well-being-plan-approved.docx?v=20180503200903
https://www.blaenau-gwent.gov.uk/fileadmin/documents/Council/Partnerships/Well-beingPlan_Layout_-D8__xsmall_.pdf
https://your.caerphilly.gov.uk/publicservicesboard/content/well-being-plan-0
http://www.torfaenpublicservicesboard.co.uk/en/Documents/Well-being-Plan-for-Torfaen-2018-2023.pdf


12

the authority’s area, or visiting or travelling through that area, and the 
transport required for the transportation of freight and including facilities 
and services for pedestrians.

Mid Wales: http://www.tracc.gov.uk/index.php?id=125&L=0%27

Mons,: https://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/local-transport-plan/

SW Wales: https://www.swansea.gov.uk/localtransportplan

SE Wales Valleys: https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/1490/south-east-
wales-valleys-local-transport-plan.pdf

have regard to Local transport plans and 
strategies when preparing the LDP. 

Objectives of preventing major accidents and limiting the consequences of 
such accidents.

The Town and Country Planning 
(Local Development Plan) (Wales) 
Regulations 2005 require the NPA to 
have regard to these objectives when 
preparing the LDP. 

By having regard to notifiable installations 
and their exclusion zones and the proximity 
of operations supported via development to 
sensitive sites e.g. the Natura 2000 network. 

The need—

(i)in the long term, to maintain appropriate distances between 
establishments and residential areas, buildings and areas of public 
use, major transport routes as far as possible, recreational areas and 
areas of particular natural sensitivity or interest, and;

(ii)in the case of existing establishments, for additional technical 
measures in accordance with Article 5 of Council Directive 
96/82/EC on the control of major accident hazards involving 
dangerous substances(2) so as not to increase the risks to people;

The Town and Country Planning 
(Local Development Plan) (Wales) 
Regulations 2005 require the NPA to 
have regard to these considerations when 
preparing the LDP.

Major development test.

P
age 176

http://www.tracc.gov.uk/index.php?id=125&L=0%27
https://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/local-transport-plan/
https://www.swansea.gov.uk/localtransportplan
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/1490/south-east-wales-valleys-local-transport-plan.pdf
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/1490/south-east-wales-valleys-local-transport-plan.pdf
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/european/directive/1996/0082
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2005/2839/regulation/13/made#f00017


13

Any local housing strategy, the policies of which affect any part of the LPA’s 
area. (Informed by local housing market & gypsy and traveller accommodation 
assessments)

 Powys
 Monmouthshire
 Carmarthenshire
 Merthyr Tydfil
 Rhondda Cynon Taf
 Neath Port Talbot
 Blaenau Gwent
 Caerphilly
 Torfaen

The Town and Country Planning 
(Local Development Plan) (Wales) 
Regulations 2005 require the NPA to 
have regard to these strategies when 
preparing the LDP.

To understand the LHA approach to meeting 
housing need across the National Park.

Others:

 Local health board plans
 Local nature recovery plans
 Active travel plans
 Local education plans

N/A:

Although integration via sustainable 
development principle of the Well-being 
of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015.

These plans should each have regard to the 
National Park purposes.

P
age 177

https://en.powys.gov.uk/media/7082/Towards_2040_Eng_2018/pdf/Towards_2040_Eng_2018.pdf?m=1540807992750
http://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/app/uploads/2018/05/Monmouthshire-PSB-Well-being-plan.pdf
http://www.thecarmarthenshirewewant.wales/media/8331/carmarthenshire-well-being-plan-final-may-2018.pdf
http://www.ourcwmtaf.wales/SharedFiles/Download.aspx?pageid=286&mid=613&fileid=210#:~:text=The%20Wellbeing%20Plan%20is%20the,is%20the%20overarching%20partnership%20board.&text=Another%20new%20law%2C%20the%20Social,and%20carers%20who%20need%20support.
https://www.npt.gov.uk/media/9092/well-being-plan-approved.docx?v=20180503200903
https://www.blaenau-gwent.gov.uk/fileadmin/documents/Council/Partnerships/Well-beingPlan_Layout_-D8__xsmall_.pdf
https://your.caerphilly.gov.uk/publicservicesboard/content/well-being-plan-0
http://www.torfaenpublicservicesboard.co.uk/en/Documents/Well-being-Plan-for-Torfaen-2018-2023.pdf


1

Appendix C: Notes on Area Statements

1. Introduction

1.1 On 1st April 2020, Natural Resources Wales published Area Statements, a requirement of the Environment 
(Wales) Act 2016 (hereafter “the Act”) “for the purpose of facilitating the implementation of the national 
natural resources policy.”

1.2 The Natural Resources Policy (2017) identifies three national priorities for the management of our natural 
resources, namely: 
• Delivering nature-based solutions; 
• Increasing renewable energy and resource efficiency; and, 
• Taking a place-based approach.

1.3 Four of the seven Area Statements published are of direct relevance to the Brecon Beacons National Park:
• Mid Wales 
• South East Wales
• South Central Wales
• South West Wales

1.4 The National Park Authority must have regard to these four Area Statements when:
• Proposing to publish, adopt or review any (Management) plan; and,
• Preparing a Local Development Plan.

1.5 Public Service Boards must have regard to relevant Area Statements when preparing Local Well-being 
Assessments (the National Park Authority is a Member of Powys Public Service Board).

1.6 The is no equivalent of the Area Statements in England. Nature, however, knows no boundaries and we 
must be mindful of the interrelationship of the National Park with Herefordshire.

2. Requirements of Area Statements

2.1 s11 of the Act outlines the required contents Area Statements. These may be summarised as follows:

A. To assert why a statement has been prepared for the area, by reference to the natural resources 
in the area. 

B. To assert why a statement has been prepared for the area, by reference to the benefits which the 
natural resources provide

C. To assert why a statement has been prepared for the area, by reference to the priorities, risks and 
opportunities for the sustainable management of natural resources which need to be addressed

D. To describe how the principles of sustainable management of natural resources have been applied 
in preparing the statement; 

E. To state how Natural Resources Wales proposes to address the priorities, risks and opportunities, 
and how it proposes to apply the principles of sustainable management of natural resources in 
doing so; 

F. To specify the public bodies which Natural Resources Wales considers may assist in addressing the 
priorities, risks and opportunities. 

2.2 Before publishing the Area Statements, s11 (7) of the Act also requires Natural Resources Wales to consider 
whether another plan, strategy or similar document should be incorporated into the area statement or 
conversely whether the area statement should be incorporated into another plan, strategy or similar 
document.

2.3 Natural Resources Wales are of the opinion that the Strategic Environmental Assessment and Habitats 
Regulations apply to Area Statements. 

3. Initial reflections

Page 178



2

3.1 The contents of the Area Statements do not appear to meet those required by s11 of the Act. For example 
in Mid Wales, increasing renewable energy and resource efficiency, one of three national priorities for the 
management of our natural resources, is not addressed; neither are the benefits of National Parks as outlined 
in ‘Valued and Resilient: The Welsh Government’s Priorities for Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty and 
National Parks’.

3.2 The area statements as published outline the following themes (are these the priorities intended by the 
Act?). They also outline opportunities and success outcomes.

Mid Wales
1 Improving biodiversity - responding to the nature emergency
2 Sustainable land, water and air - working towards sustainable farming and land management
3 Reconnecting people and places - improving health, wellbeing and the economy
4 Forest resources - managing timber resources effectively
5 Climate emergency – adaptation and mitigation across four themes

South East Wales
1 Linking our Landscapes
2 Climate ready Gwent
3 Healthy active connected
4 Ways of working

South Central Wales
1 Building resilient ecosystems
2 Connecting people with nature
3 Working with water
4 Improving our health
5 Improving our air quality

South West Wales
1 Reducing health inequalities
2 Ensuring sustainable land management
3 Reversing the decline of, and enhancing, biodiversity
4 Cross-cutting theme: Mitigating and adapting to a changing climate

Page 179



This page is intentionally left blank



Llanspyddid Village Plan:  Draft Supplementary Planning Guidance

Name of 
Committee

 National Park Authority 

Date 27th November 2020

Report Author Helen Lucocq

Job title Principal Planning Officer (Policy)

Contact Details Helen.lucocq@brecon-beacons.npa.gov.uk
01874 620429

Purpose of Report To seek agreement to publish the draft Village Plan for 
consultation for a minimum of 8 weeks (with consideration 
for the Christmas period)

Single Integrated 
Assessment

The LDP has been subject to SIA.  The village plan provides 
detail regarding the implementation of the LDP within 
Llanspyddid

List of  Enclosures Enclosure 1: Llanspyddid Village Plan: Draft Supplementary 
Planning Guidance

Public Interest Test n/a

Recommendation(s) a) Approve the Llanspyddid Village Plan: Draft 
Supplementary Planning Guidance for at least1 an 8 
week period of public consultation.

1.1 Introduction or Background
This is the draft Village Plan for Llanspyddid.  It is the product of extensive community and 
stakeholder consultation looking at the future needs of the village.  This Plan has been produced 
by the community.  Officers of the Authority have had minimal input, advising on process and 
alignment with LDP. 

1 Period is extended to take account of the Christmas Holiday Period.

Page 181

Agenda Item 10

mailto:Helen.lucocq@brecon-beacons.npa.gov.uk


T.his document sets out the future aspirations for the well-being of the community of 
Llanspyddid for the next 5 years and beyond.  

This document forms part of the Place Plan initiative.   A project and way of working that 
commenced in 2014 following the adoption of the Local Development Plan.  The pilot is a joint 
project between the Planning and Sustainable Communities teams within the National Park.  

As members’ are aware, a Place Plan is a community derived action plan intended to guide the 
future development of a place over a five year period.  Although firmly rooted within planning 
policy, it is the intention of a place plan to consider all social, economic and environmental 
factors which go to make up vital and viable community.  The goals of the place plan project are 
as follows:

 Improve the resilience of National Park communities through development of 
community led plans for sustainable development and improved wellbeing

 Provide a clear evidence base for future iterations of the Local Development Plan
 Engage and empower more communities to take control of their future development
 Ensure better planning decisions are made, with community involvement through the 

adoption of such plans as Supplementary Planning Guidance.

The Local Development Plan commits to the development of place plans (communities can 
determine what they call their plan, be it Village, Town or Community Plan) across the National 
Park area, and crucially, for these documents to be adopted as Supplementary Planning 
Guidance to the Local Development Plan.  The reasoning behind this intention is to ensure that 
future planning decisions about a place are made within the context of community need and 
aspirations for development.  This furthers the LDP Environmental Capacity Approach to 
Sustainable Development.  This approach posits the importance of the National Park 
Authority’s statutory purposes and duty in the formation of planning policy and land allocations 
on a strategic level.  A place plan can provide detail of what that means at the local level for 
individual communities and places within the National Park.

The benefits of the development of place plans obviously extend beyond the land use planning 
system.  Such community derived action plans will assist communities in accessing funding 
opportunities, such as RDP monies (or its forthcoming equivalents), through demonstration of 
community need for future plans and projects.

1.2 Proposals

The proposed draft Llanspyddid Village Plan is attached as Enclosure 1 to this report.  Officers 
are seeking member approval to publish the document for a final period of public consultation 
prior to seeking approval for the adoption of the plan as Supplementary Planning Guidance to 
the Local Development Plan

The plan sets out policy and actions to address identified issues to aid the implementation of 
Local Development Plan policy S LP2 as relates to Llanspyddid.

Page 182



This plan is the culmination of two years of work within the community by the Village Plan 
Steering group to understand the future needs of the Village which included community 
consultation events and individual household questionnaires. 

The next stages in the process are anticipated as follows

1. 8 week public consultation including village consultation events
2. Review of findings of Consultation with Officers of the Authority and Llanspyddid Village 

Plan Steering Group.
3. Adoption of the Llanspyddid Village Plan as Supplementary Planning Guidance by the 

National Park Authority
4. Yearly monitoring
5. 5 yearly review 

1.3 Implications

The proposed consultation on the draft Village Plan is one of the final stages in the development 
of the Plan and has a two-fold purpose
- To provide all those involved in the production of the plan, especially residents of 

Llanspyddid the opportunity to provide comments on the finalised action plan.
- To provide stakeholders who have not been directly involved with plan development 

opportunity to review the plan contents prior to finalisation as SPG.

Following the eight week period of consultation, a comprehensive report of consultation will be 
produced by Officers and the Llanspyddid Village Plan group with recommendations for the 
finalised document.  Both the report of consultation and the final document will be presented 
to the National Park Authority for final approval of the document.

1.4 Risk

There are no significant risks to the Authority in relation to the proposed draft Supplementary 
Planning Guidance, however failure to consult on this stage of plan production would 
compromise the soundness of utilising the proposed document as supplementary planning 
guidance to the Local Development Plan.

1.5 Conclusion

The Llanspyddid Village Plan group have undertaken extensive work with their community to 
develop a comprehensive action plan for their future wellbeing.  This document will ensure that 
future planning applications within Llanspyddid are determined in accordance with community 
aspirations.

RECOMMENDATION(S):

Page 183



a) Approve the Llanspyddid Village Plan: Draft Supplementary Planning 
Guidance for at least an 8 week period of public consultation.

Page 184



1
Page 185



2

Foreword to this consultation draft

This Village Plan has been produced by the residents of Llanspyddid.

It forms one of a range of guidance notes produced by communities within the 
National Park collectively known as Place Plans.  Place Plans form part of the 
planning policy framework, acting as supplementary planning guidance on matters 
relating to planning and influencing future iterations of the Local Development Plan.

This document is being produced for wider consultation with the aim of eventual 
adoption as Supplementary Planning Guidance.

The consultation will run from XXX to XXXX and you can provide any comments 
you may have by emailing mailto:placeplans@becaons-npa.gov.uk

Details of the relationship between this plan and the LDP is provided at appendix 
one to this document.  This is the only section of the plan that has been prepared by 
the NPA.  

The aspirations herein are entirely those of the community developed through 
extensive consultation and engagement.

Page 186

mailto:placeplans@becaons-npa.gov.uk


3

Background

This plan is written by Robert Griffiths and Chris Hyde who are both residents of 
the village of Llanspyddid. This plan is owned by the community. The village plan is 
currently not adopted as a supplementary planning guide (SPG), but it is our intent 
to have it adopted as SPG by the Brecon Beacons National Park Authority. The plan 
is as a result of consultation and is for every person living in the village. It is designed 
to promote a sense of community well-being for existing residents and future 
generations.

It will help in obtaining assistance, influence the future development of the village and 
any future needs of any expansion of the village. Any funding as a result of the plan 
would be put towards the community realising this plan. 

  

Page 187



4

Existing Context

Llanspyddid is a small rural village just west of Brecon within the Brecon Beacons 
National Park. It lies within the valley of the River Usk in the community of Glyn 
Tarell in the county of Powys. Llanspyddid sits on the A40 trunk road between 
Brecon and Llandovery, 2 miles from Brecon. 

The village and its surrounding households include a population of 270 people, 
spanning all age groups with the highest concentration of people in the 30-44 and 45-
59 age groups according to the 2011 census.  51% of the population is female.  The 
village is made up of two main streets of Heol Sant Catwg and Meadowside and 
other scattered farms and dwellings on the outskirts of the village.  There are 
approximately 116 households in and around the village. 82 of them are owned 
outright or through mortgage.  97 of the households contain three or fewer 
residents.  Over half of the homes are semi-detached.  

The residents are made up of an eclectic mix of retired and working families; 19% 
are retired and 34% are employed full-time.  A larger than average number of 
residents are self-employed—18%. 13% consider themselves Welsh speakers, which 
is similar to the national average.  Only a very small number of the residents of 
Llanspyddid have been identify as being of mixed ethnicity  Most people hold a 

Page 188

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Brecon
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Brecon_Beacons_National_Park
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Brecon_Beacons_National_Park
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/River_Usk
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/River_Usk
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Community_(Wales)
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Glyn_Tarell
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Glyn_Tarell
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Powys
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/A40_road_(Great_Britain)
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Llandovery


5

British passport, several do not have a passport and a small number hold a European 
or North American passport.  The village has a playground serviced by the local 
authority, Powys County Council, and a 14th Century church with graveyard that has 
recently been closed for worship by the Church in Wales.  191 residents class 
themselves as Christian while 77 people say they have no religious affiliation or did 
not state it.  The nearest primary school is Llanfaes Primary School, though there are 
a total of six primary schools within three miles of Llanspyddid.  Brecon High School 
is the nearest secondary school and Christ College offers a private, fee-paying 
option.  Neath Port Talbot College in Brecon offers further education (vocational) 
opportunities.  

Village transport is provided by private car, taxi service and a 14 times a day bus 
service (T6) between Brecon and Swansea. The bus service runs approximately 
every hour between 6.40 am and 8.15 pm Monday through Saturday.  There is a 
limited bus service on Sunday approximately every two hours between 9.30am and 
5.30 pm.  The nearest train service is 18 miles away in Llandovery, though there are 
also services in Merthyr (20 miles) and Abergavenny (24 miles). 

Llanspyddid has a vibrant community with regular community events taking place 
from bingo nights to summer fetes. It has a residents’ organisation who meet 
regularly to organise events and is known as the Friends of Llanspyddid.  The Friends 
of Llanspydid are regularly supported financially by the community council. 

Llanspyddid  has its own village website and Facebook presence. The village currently 
has no shop, public house or village hall. The community has raised funds to 
purchase a marquee and currently hold events in either the church or in the 
marquee erected on the church field. This community space—both the church and 
church field--are currently under threat.  Alternatives such as the playground area 
are less desirable because of the topography of the land and any building would be to 
the detriment to the play space in the playground.

Page 189



6

Consultation

In order to devise a plan for Llanspyddid it was important to form a community 
group. To our advantage this already existed in the form of a constituted group 
called Friends of Llansyddid. The next step was to consult with the village residents 
to get ideas on what people required. To ensure that we got a broad spectrum of 
ideas from the residents, individual consultation days were held in the church 
whereby residents attended at their convenience and gave over their opinions. 

To ensure we reached out to as many residents as possible consultations were also 
bolted onto village events when most residents would be in attendance.  Dates of 
consultation events and numbers attending are listed in Table 1 below.  This was to 
ensure maximum coverage for residents to give their opinions. There is a web site 
promoting the village and aids in communicating with residents.  Information and 
results have been published in village newsletters and on the website throughout the 
consultation process.  

Page 190



7

Table 1:  Village Plan consultation events and numbers attending.
Event Type Date # 

Attending
Hours 
held

Location

Church 
feasibility 
study meeting 4/11/18 5 1.5 Church
Village history 
presentation—
open to 
general public

30/03/19
60 2

Church

Village Plan 
discussion 3/4/19 17 1

Church

Village Plan 
and church 
consultation 11/5/19 25 7.5

Church

Village Plan 
and church 
consultation—
Brecknock 
Society and 
Museum 
Friends and 
residents 18/5/19 20 1.5

Church

Village Plan 
and church 
consultation 11/5/19 25 7.5

Church

Summer Fete 
and Sports 
Day 29/6/19 57 5

Field

church 
consultation 20/11/2019 5 2

Church

church 
consultation 23/11/2019 9 6

Church

Christmas tree 
celebration 30/11/2019 58 2

Church

Church update 
and discussion

15/02/20
22 1.5

Church

Page 191



8

                      

Page 192



9

The Vision

As a result of consultation it became apparent that the community wanted 3 key 
things in the village:

1. A Community multi-use space/building.

2. Allotments

3. Footpath/cycle track into Brecon.

The consultation identified these key themes as being important to the future health 
and well-being, sense of community and quality of life for Llanspyddid residents.

A community space would provide a meeting place for residents, which could have a 
multitude of uses such as sports and recreation, coffee mornings, birthday parties 
and village events such as Christmas celebrations. 

The provision of allotments would contribute to village sustainability through locally 
grown fruit and vegetables, contributing to the health, the environment and lowering 
the carbon footprint of the village. 

A fully tarmac multi use footpath/cycle path into Brecon would reduce the use of 
cars. It would make the journey into Brecon by foot or cycle safer and more 
comfortable. The impact of this facility would have a reduction in vehicle use by 
residents, reduce pollution and increase the heath of the users. 

                                                                          

Page 193



10

Future Development

While on the whole residents are not opposed to future development in and around 
Llanspyddid, they do expect that development 1) contributes proportionally to 
improving the environmental, social and economic well-being of the village and 2) it 
is completed to the highest standard of sustainability whilst addressing the issues 
outlined below.

Junction with the A40
 There will be an impact on the safety of the junction with the A40 with 

additional traffic because this is the main way in or out of Llanspyddid.  The 
only other way from Llanspyddid is a narrow lane which joins Warren Road.

 There is no lighting at the A40 junction.
 It is opposite the bus stop where children and other residents have to cross 

the A40 to catch the bus to Brecon.  
 During the consultations for the Outline Planning Permission, Welsh 

government Transport Department indicated that this junction already 
exceeded the 500 AADT threshold for a junction of this standard.  

Emergency Vehicle Access and Safety
 There is only one route in and out of Heol Sant Cattwg.  Emergency vehicles 

require a minimum of 3.7m carriageway width.  (‘Access and Facilities for the 
Fire Service’. Section 17, ‘Vehicle Access’).  The existing street is less than 
this width.

 Additional traffic raises concerns for children playing and cycling in the village.

Parking Provision 
 Heol Sant Cattwg was designed and built in 1960s/70s so there was little or 

no provision for parking cars on property.  Consequently cars are parked on 
the carriageway reducing the width and sometimes blocking it.

 Problem areas are alongside Church Field and St Cattwg’s Church (1-6 HSC) 
and between 10-18 HSC.  Also, the turning between 18 HSC and 33HSC can 
be restricted.

 There is a knock-on concerns of additional parking in the existing village from 
future developments, causing more restrictions.

 Currently 17HSC uses the spur of Heol Sant Cattwg for parking including a 
garage rented from Powys County Council.  The front garden of 17 HSC is 
too small for parking any vehicle due to the difference in ground height at the 
house level and the spur level.

Drainage
 Heol Sant Cattwg has a history of drainage issues.  While investment has 

resolved issues 34 – 47, 1-6 Heol Sant Cattwg and Meadowside.  No 
resolution has been provided for the remaining section of Heol Sant Cattwg, 

Page 194



11

from St Cattwg’s Church up the hill to 25-27 Heol Sant Cattwg or the 
proposed development land.  

 Water collects in the ditches on the proposed development land but 
currently pours into the lane between St Cattwg’s Church.  The culvert is 
overwhelmed and water encroaches on to the carriageway of A40.  It has 
also forced up the manhole cover up at Old Rectory on the other side of 
A40.

 There is also evidence of sewage getting mixed up with surface run off as 
observed by Simon Crowther, Powys County Council 29th February 2016 
during a site visit.  Also this had been reported by owners of Old Rectory.

Services capacity
 Sewerage treatment works for village is sufficient for current use under 

normal conditions. However, the land drainage is linked to sewage outflow 
(intended or not) and often overwhelms the treatment works.  Unpredictable 
weather and high rainfall are likely to increase in the future.  Combined with 
an increase in use with additional housing demands this could stress the 
current system beyond capacity and pollute the River Usk SSSI.

 Overhead electricity wires and transformers may not be fit for purpose.  
One transformer exploded in the village in 2019.  Is the current system able 
to provide extra capacity? How will properties in any future development be 
supplied by electricity?

Delivery Framework

Responsibility to deliver the first two visions would fall to the community. The 
constituted group the Friends of Llanspyddid already exists and meets on a regular 
basis to organise events in the community. The group have already had success in 
petitioning the Welsh Assembly Government to reduce the speed limit in the village 
and improve the signage. They have raised funding to improve and install play 
equipment in the village playground. 

To have the vision of a community space, options have to be identified to achieve 
this. As a village we have been lucky in the past to have the use of St Catwg’s church 
and the church field which are situated in the heart of the village. The Church in 
Wales has closed the church for worship. This building and adjacent church field are 
the obvious starting points for creating a village space. It is still currently being used 
by the community but for how much longer the church will allow this is unknown. 
The danger is that the Church in Wales decides to sell the church and field for 
private development. The Church in Wales is currently willing to work with 
residents of the village to create a village space. The Friends of Llanspyddid have 
currently funded a feasibly study into the options that would be provided by these 
existing facilities, and options exist as to how this could be achieved.  

The provision of allotments for the village is a more difficult task for the community 
as the village has limited resources to purchase land to provide this facility. 
Allotments are on average 250m2. Identifying suitable land that should be in walking 

Page 195



12

distance of the village that could be used as an allotment is another issue. Another 
option to implement this vision is to include this plan in any future development of 
the village to incorporate allotments where land is identified as part of the 
development.  

The need for a path/cycle way into Brecon is a more achievable option. There is an 
existing path into Brecon albeit not an official footpath or right of way. Iit is currently 
not fit for purpose. It is narrow, dangerous in places and is uncomfortable to 
ride/walk on under foot due to its construction. It is currently made from used road 
scalping. Responsibility for this lies with local authorities/Welsh Government, though 
residents can influence this option as part of current climate initiatives. This should 
be considered in any future planning and policies associated with reducing pollution, 
and other environmental protection. This would mean the village lobbying the 
government and requesting that developers take this need into consideration.

   

Ensuring Success 

There are pit falls to the village plan and these could be that the church and church 
field are sold off to a private developer and the church is converted to a private 
dwelling and the field is incorporated as part of this or sold off for housing 
development. This would be to the detriment of the community as it would be 
unlikely events in the village could continue. 

Allotments are the most difficult challenge within this plan. The village has limited 
financial resources to purchase land and identifying land that is suitable that is close 
enough to the village is a problem. Any future development should take into account 
this plan in any land that is earmarked for housing. 

The footpath is the easier of the three to implement but is not without its problems. 
The authorities could refuse the request, there is a lack of money or desire by the 
authorities to implement this as part of the plan. They could also pass the buck to a 
future developer to fund the path as part of any permission. It may also be that 
physical construction of the path is not possible because of various engineering 
difficulties. 

The success of this plan is easily measured by the successful construction of a 
community space that becomes self-funding and is regularly used within the 

Page 196



13

community for a variety of events. It would make the community more sustainable 
and thriving. This would attract people to remain in the village and entice new 
residents to want to live in the community instilling a sense of community. 

Having allotments within the community would give a sense of well-being especially 
with the elderly residents who traditionally have been the stalwarts of growing. The 
village would have an active allotment association. It would mean local people 
growing local food for local consumption. The impact on the carbon footprint and 
food miles of the village would be reduced. 

A safe smooth tarmac surface footpath into Brecon is constructed and is actively 
used by pedestrians and cyclists daily. The impacts on having this facility are obvious. 
It would reduce vehicle use, pollution, health benefits through exercise and cost 
savings to residents by walking and cycling into town. 

Taking into consideration this plan would ensure the future of Llanspyddid for 
generations. It would reduce the village’s carbon footprint, make it more sustainable, 
and give residents a sense of health and wellbeing. It would preserve the historic 
heart of the community and make the village a decent place to live, making it alive 
and vibrant. 

Page 197



14

Appendix !

Relationship of this plan to the Local Development Plan.

Llanspyddid lies within the Brecon Beacons National Park Local Planning Authority 
area.  This means that all planning decisions are made by the National Park 
Authority.  The National Park Authority has an adopted Local Development Plan, 
which sets out planning policy and defines areas of land to meet housing and 
employment needs up until 2022.  Llanspyddid is identified as a Settlement within this 
Local Development Plan.  This Village Plan has been prepared, in part, to provide 
further context to that definition for the National Park Authority, to ensure that all 
future planning applications within Llanspyddid, where relevant, are compliant with 
the community defined actions of the Village Plan.   
 
To deliver this, it is proposed that Llanspyddid Village Plan will be endorsed as 
Supplementary Planning Guidance to the Local Development Plan.  This is proposed 
in accordance with the Welsh Government’s provisions for Place Plans (Positive 
Planning Implementation Plan, Welsh Government, December 2015) 
 
What is Supplementary Planning Guidance? 
 
Supplementary Planning Guidance is prepared in order to provide greater detail on 
policy than can be contained within the Local Development Plan.  This additional 
detail provides clarity on the issues that will be considered by the NPA in the 
determination of a planning application. Supplementary Planning Guidance can be 
place or policy specific, for example it could provide further detail regarding the 
implementation of a specific planning policy, or provide a development brief for 
future development sites 
 
In this instance the Village  Plan provides supplementary planning guidance to Local 
Development Plan policy S  LP2.  It is intended that any planning application 
submitted within Llanspyddid, will be considered against the relevant areas of the 
Village Plan.  Only proposals that are compliant with the relevant areas of 
the Llanspyddid Village Plan will be granted planning permission.  Further detail 
regarding the policy this document supplements is set out below. 
 
Local Development Plan Context for Llanspyddid 
 
 
As set out above Llanspyddid is listed as a Settlement within the Local Development 
Plan.  These are villages that have the environmental capacity to accommodate 
approrpriately scaled development.  Within these Settlements the focuse will be on 
enabling residential development, small scale employment opportunities, or 
community facilities which would contribute to the vitality of the settlement.  
 
The LDP sets out a vision for settlements thus 

Page 198



15

Our Settlements will be more than just a collection of houses, they will be places that offer 
residents a good quality of life with strong sense of community, where day to day needs can 
be met within the locality and the reliance on the private car can be reduced.

This vision is implemented by policy S LP2

This Village Plan provides a picture of the actions needed to realise this vision for 
Llanspyddid.

S LP2Settlements Appropriate Development 
Proposals for development within Settlements will be required to 
contribute positively to their setting and enhance the quality of the 
landscape without adverse impact on the wildlife, natural beauty, cultural 
heritage, environmental assets or biodiversity of the area. 
All proposals for development within Settlements must demonstrate how 
they respond to Settlement Issues and Objectives38 and how the scheme 
will contribute to achieving the Settlement 15 Year Vision.39  
Within defined Settlements all proposals for development or change of 
use of land or buildings must be located within Settlement Boundaries as 
shown on the Proposal Map (with the exception of those developments 
covered by Policies which enable development outside of limits). Within 
Settlement Boundaries the following forms of development will be 
considered acceptable:- 
1.Proposals that strengthen and enhance the mix of dwelling types and 

tenure options within the Settlement, including provision of a 
proportion of Affordable Housing in accordance with the identified 
need within the community; 

2.Proposals that strengthen and enhance the provision of community 
facilities and services serving the area and its locality. Proposals that 
are likely to result in the loss of community services/facilities will be 
resisted. 

3.Proposals for new or an extension to existing employment facilities, 
where the proposal is appropriate in scale and type to the amenity of 
the area and is in keeping with the environmental capacity of the 
Settlement. 

4.Proposals that will capitalise on improving existing building stock 
including 

      i)   proposals for the appropriate extension of existing residential 
dwellings ; 

      ii)  proposals to re-instate redundant buildings to beneficial use;  
      iii) proposals for the appropriate demolition and replacement of 

building(s), where this action would result in a replacement 
building with a lower environmental impact and no loss of 
community services and / or commercial activity within the 
Settlement; 

5.Proposals that strengthen and enhance the provision for tourism, 
including provision of appropriate guest accommodation in 
accordance with the National Park Authority Sustainable Tourism 
Strategy.  

6.Proposals for appropriately scaled and located retail provision.

Page 199



16

This consultation draft Supplementary Planning Guidance is intended to aid in the 
delivery of the 15 year vision and the above policy.

In addition it supplements the following Policies in relation to Llanspyddid

Policy 50 Retention of Existing Community Facilities 
Policy 51 Development of New or Extended Community Facilities 
Policy 53 Planning Obligations 
Policy 6 Biodiversity and Development 
Policy 8 Trees and Development 
Policy 12 Light Pollution 
Policy 15 Listed Buildings 
Policy 16 Demolition of Listed Buildings 
Policy 17 The Setting of Listed Buildings 
Policy 59 Impacts of Traffic  
Policy 60 Provision for Cycling and Walking 
SP5 Housing
Policy 28 Affordable Housing Contributions 
Policy 29 Enabling Affordable Housing Exception Sites 

Page 200


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	NPA Minutes - 30-10-20
	ASC Minutes - 24 July 2020

	7 Approval of the Authority's Statement of Accounts 2019/20
	Enclosure 1 - Audited Statement of Accounts 201920
	Enclosure 2 - Report of the Auditor General for Wales (ISA260 Report)
	Enclosure 3 - Letter of Representation from S151 Officer and Chair of the Authority

	8 Corporate Plan 2021/22
	Corporate Plan 2021-22

	9 Revised Scoping Report Integrated Sustainability Appraisal LDP/NPMP for Consultation
	Enclosure 1 - Single page summary
	Enclosure 2- Replacement Baseline Scoping Report 2020

	10 Llanspyddid Village Plan
	Llanspyddid Village  Plan_Draft_200925_final


